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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical
facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including statements regarding future events or our future results of operations, financial condition, business, strategies,
financial needs, and the plans and objectives of management, are forward-looking statements. In some cases you can identify forward-looking statements because they
contain words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “likely,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,”
“should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” or similar expressions and the negatives of those terms. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements
concerning the following:
•
•

our expectations regarding our revenue, expenses, and other operating results;
our ability to acquire new customers and successfully retain existing customers;

•
•

our ability to develop new products and services and bring them to market in a timely manner;
our ability to achieve or sustain our profitability;

•
•

our ability to maintain and expand our strategic relationships with third parties;
our business plan and our ability to effectively manage our growth;

•
•

our market opportunity, including our total addressable market;
anticipated trends, growth rates, and challenges in our business and in the markets in which we operate;

•
•

the COVID-19 pandemic, and its impact on our employees, customers, strategic partners, vendors, results of operations, liquidity, and financial condition;
uncertainties regarding the impact of general economic and market conditions, including as a result of regional and global conflicts or related government
sanctions;

•
•

our ability to attract and retain qualified employees;
our ability to maintain the security and availability of our solutions;

•
•

our ability to maintain and expand internationally;
our expectations regarding anticipated technology needs and developments and our ability to address those needs and developments with our solutions:

You should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements and you should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The results,
events, and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur, and actual results, events, or circumstances could differ materially from
those described in the forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the date of this report. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this report to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect new
information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. If we update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that
we will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements.
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PART I
Item 1. Business
Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Remitly Global,” “Remitly,” “the Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refer to Remitly
Global, Inc. and our consolidated subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
Overview
Remitly was founded in 2011 to transform the lives of immigrants and their families by providing the most trusted financial services on the planet.
The inspiration behind Remitly came when Matt, our co-founder and Chief Executive Officer, was living and working in Kenya. There, Matt realized how challenging it
was for families to send and receive money to and from their loved ones while overseas – the process was painful, opaque, and expensive. This first-hand look at crossborder remittances was an eye-opener, and Matt became convinced there was a better way. In 2011, Josh and Shivaas, our two other co-founders, joined Matt to start
Remitly and began working on the problem. Their goal was to make a difference for immigrant communities by using technology to disrupt traditional cross-border
remittances.
Today, Remitly is a leading digital financial services provider for immigrants and their families in over 150 countries around the world. We remain committed to our vision
of transforming the lives of immigrants and their families by providing the most trusted financial services on the planet. The long-term, trusted relationships we foster with
our customers have enabled us to expand our core cross-border remittance product to over 2,100 corridors worldwide and we are now working to extend our offering to a
broader suite of financial services.
Our customers are at the heart of everything we do. They are primarily immigrants from developing countries who have moved away from their families to seek new
opportunities and build a better life for themselves and their loved ones. While our customers may be physically distant, they remain closely connected with and deeply
committed to their family and friends back home – often sending money home multiple times per month. Through their individual experiences, they help us define how we
design and build best-in-class services. Our relentless focus on our customers underpins our commitment to do everything in our power to ensure their hard-earned money
reaches their families back home.
Our Culture
Our culture and values act as a blueprint for how we get things done. As noted above, the one constant, and single most important of these values is customer centricity,
which serves as our north star in all that we do. To us, customer centricity means “we are here to listen to, learn from, and serve our customers. Period.”
Our other core values fall broadly into three categories:
•
•
•

Our purpose: Aim for the stars, be an owner, hire and develop exceptional people, don’t be afraid to fail and be joyful;
Building relationships: Lead authentically, act with integrity, be constructively direct, and be an empathetic partner; and
Taking action: Have a bias for action, be data-driven, sweat the details, deliver on promises, and continuously improve.

These values influence our actions every day. Living up to our values builds customer trust, inspires employee engagement, and makes “Promises Delivered” our
fundamental ethos.
2021 Key Performance Metrics
The vast majority of our revenue today is generated through our remittance business, where we earn revenue from transaction fees charged to customers and foreign
exchange spreads applied to the customer’s principal. In addition to our financial results, we regularly review key business metrics to evaluate our performance. These key
business metrics include active customers, send volume, and average revenue per active customer.
Our 2021 key performance metrics included the following results:
•

Active customers for the fourth quarter of 2021 increased to 2.8 million, from 1.9 million, up 50% year over year.

•

Send volume for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased to over $20.4 billion, from $12.1 billion, up 70% year over year.

•

Average revenue per active customer for the fourth quarter of 2021 increased 13% year over year to $47.69.

We regularly review these key business metrics to evaluate our performance, identify trends affecting our business, prepare financial projections, and make strategic
decisions. We believe that these key business metrics provide meaningful supplemental information for management and investors in
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assessing our historical and future operating performance. The calculation of these key business metrics discussed below may differ from other similarly titled metrics used
by other companies, analysts, or investors.
The key business metrics that we use to measure the performance of our business are defined as follows:
•

“Active customers” is defined as the number of distinct customers that have successfully completed at least one transaction using Remitly during a given calendar
quarter. We identify customers through unique account numbers.

•

“Send volume” is defined as the sum of all customer’s principal, measured in U.S. dollars, related to transactions completed during a given period. The customer’s
principal is net of cancellations, does not include transaction fees from customers, and does not include any credits, offers, or bonuses applied to the transaction by
us.

•

“Average revenue per active customer” is calculated by taking revenue for the quarter, divided by quarterly active customers.

As active customers are measured on a quarterly basis, the data for the full-year periods for active customers and average revenue per active customer is not meaningful, and
therefore both metrics are only presented on a quarterly basis herein.
Our Services
Our journey began in digital cross-border remittances, and we continue to evolve and develop a portfolio of broader financial services. We designed and built a mobilecentric suite of products to address our customers’ discrete financial services needs, many of which are not met by legacy institutions.
Digital Cross-Border Remittances
We provide a digital cross-border remittance product that is accessible via our mobile app or the web. Our customers are able to set up an account and start sending money to
international recipients on our platform without visiting physical agents, generally within minutes. Recipients can receive funds in multiple ways using our diversified and
global disbursement network. Our customers and their families can also track the status of their transactions in real time. Today, over 90% of our customers engage with us
via our mobile app, shifting what traditionally required waiting in line to speak with an agent to the palm of their hands. Providing our customers with a convenient, easy,
and safe mobile experience underpins our approach to product development, marketing, and customer success.
Historically and at the present time, substantially all of our revenue is generated from digital cross-border remittances.
Remitly for Developers
We serve business customers through Remitly for Developers, our remittance-as-a-service offering that strategically leverages our custom-built global network and
compliance and regulatory infrastructure. With Remitly for Developers, businesses and their developers can integrate this network and infrastructure into their existing
applications and websites through our APIs, in exchange for fees and foreign exchange markups paid to us by our business customers to utilize our network. This enables
them to offer digital cross-border payments to their customers in emerging markets.
Digital Banking Services
In partnership with Sunrise Banks N.A (“Sunrise”), we launched Passbook, a digital banking service available through a mobile app and uniquely designed for immigrants.
Passbook promotes financial access by giving our customers a new way to store, spend and send money in a manner that is secure and compliant. With Passbook, our
customers have access to banking services that don’t require them to pay account or international transaction fees, and they can personalize their Visa debit cards. With
tailored Know Your Customer (“KYC”) and identity verification processes using our existing technology platform, they can sign up for a Passbook account in under ten
minutes. We generate revenue through interchange fees from the bank partners to whom we market these financial services.
Technology
Our Technology Platform
Our technology platform is purpose-built to power our mobile-centric suite of products, connect our global network, localize our marketing, products and experiences, and
drive our data-driven approach.
Given the scale of our business and the complexity of digital cross-border payments, our technology platform has broad and complex capabilities and, together with our
data, gives us a unique advantage in understanding our customers. Our technology platform is comprised of the following:
•

Core transaction engine that underpins the entire transaction lifecycle from pricing and foreign currency, to funding, processing, and, ultimately, to disbursement;

•
•

Customer experience engine with corridor-specific user journeys and multilingual self-service or real-time support;
Disbursement system for partner integrations that supports a diverse set of delivery methods for recipients in over 135 countries;
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•

Marketing technology stack that enables our marketing team to efficiently operate and improve the quality of our customer experiences by supporting our
localization strategies and efficiently capturing and analyzing data to ensure maximum long-term return on our marketing investments; and

•

Our electronic KYC, machine learning-based fraud scoring and payment authentication processes that all take place in real-time to give our customers immediate
feedback and are in compliance with highly complex and continuously evolving global and local regulations.

Customer Experience
We strive to optimize customer experience and to make each interaction on our mobile app intuitive and as friction-free as possible. New customers who have their
information at hand can initiate a transaction in just minutes after setting up their account and adding their recipient’s information. Below are the key steps of a transaction
from account log-in to transaction confirmation.

•

Account set-up and log-in. Customers can quickly set up an account on our app by entering their relevant personal information and documentation in a way that
is designed to be secure. They then link their choice of payment methods including their bank account, credit card or debit card, and certain alternative payment
methods. We also employ biometric login to reduce ongoing password friction. Our customers enjoy increased security and a faster way to access their
transactions.

•

Choose the recipient. Our customers can send to an unlimited number of recipients, and adding new ones is easy. To add a new recipient, the customer simply
fills in the key information necessary for them to receive funds. The recipient's details only need to be entered one time, making repeat transactions quick and easy.

•

Speed of delivery. In the vast majority of our customers’ transactions, after selecting their recipient, our customers have the flexibility to select the delivery speed
within the product. Our express option optimizes for speed by leveraging our customer’s debit or credit card payment methods while our economy option delivers
within a few days and allows customers to optimize for price.

•

Delivery method. Our global network of partners allows us to offer a rich selection of digital delivery methods, including bank deposits and mobile wallets as
well as traditional delivery methods such as cash pickup, where a recipient can conveniently collect the money sent at a nearby location using a picture ID and a
transaction reference number. We also offer the convenience of home delivery in certain markets to further extend the accessibility of our customers’ recipients.

•

Transaction confirmation. We provide peace of mind with our Perfect Delivery Promise, which includes a projection of the exact date and time for delivery of
funds. In addition, we believe we are the only scaled provider in the remittance market to provide a money back guarantee on timely delivery, a feature we are
incredibly proud to stand behind. Both our customer and the recipient receive notifications at key stages of the transaction process, including initiation and
completion. Our customers also receive a transparent breakdown of their transaction costs.

We invest substantial time, energy, and resources to ensure we have a deep understanding of our customers’ needs, and we continually innovate to deliver value-added
products and services through our platform. We therefore have significant resources dedicated to technology and development across multiple teams including product,
engineering, design, analytics, compliance, marketing, and customer service. These teams are responsible
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for the design, development, and testing of our platform and services. We focus the majority of our investment on developing new functionality and further enhancing the
usability, reliability, and performance of our platform and services.
Our Network
Our global network of funding and disbursement partners is at the core of our business. Over the last decade, we have strategically expanded our network in existing
corridors to provide our customers with increasing disbursement options and in new corridors as part of our expansion strategy. Our partners, including those that are among
the most trusted and recognized brands around the world, create a broad and effective payment acceptance (pay-in) and payment delivery (pay-out) ecosystem for our
customers:
•

Payment acceptance. We have relationships with top tier banks including Barclays, Chase, HSBC, and Wells Fargo, and leading global payment processors
including a direct relationship with Visa. These relationships provide our customers an array of payment (or pay-in) options to fund remittances with a bank
account, card-based payment, or alternative payment method.
We can accept and settle transfers from hundreds of millions of consumer bank accounts as well as Visa and MasterCard credit and debit cards in the 17 send
countries we operate in today. As a digital service, we do not have sending agents who accept cash. We, in turn, do not incur costs or commissions associated with
physical agent-based sending and funding.

•

Payment delivery. We have access to over 3,600 global disbursement partners including major banks, cash pick-up and mobile wallet partners. These
relationships provide our customers with choice of delivery and enable us to send funds within minutes, or even seconds, to more than 3.7 billion bank accounts,
over 670 million mobile wallets and alternative payment methods, and approximately 390,000 cash pickup locations (including retail outlets and banks).
We select our disbursement partners based on our recipients’ preferences, quality of service, brand recognition, and co-branding opportunities. Our disbursement
partners make us a trusted source of remittances because our customers are typically already familiar with their chosen disbursement partner and recipients feel
comfortable receiving money where they regularly bank or shop. In addition, we only select disbursement partners that meet or exceed: (1) our geographic
coverage goals in the markets in which they operate, (2) our robust compliance and regulatory requirements, and (3) our specific operating metrics such as credit
worthiness and error rates.
Certain of our funding and disbursement partnerships are multi-faceted. For example, a bank can be a payment processor who helps Remitly facilitate payment
acceptance, a settlement bank where Remitly deposits customer funds for payment delivery, or a corporate bank providing certain services such as treasury and
cash management. In addition, we have redundancies built into our global network for our various partnerships.

Today, our customers primarily send money from the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, other countries in Europe, Singapore and Australia. Our customers’
recipients are located in over 135 countries around the world; our largest receive countries include Mexico, the Philippines, and India.
What Sets Us Apart
Our Core Pillars
Our brand promise is to bring “peace of mind” into everything we do. We focus on bringing trust, reliability, and a fair and transparent price to cross-border remittances and
broader financial services.
To deliver on our brand promise, we have a differentiated approach that aligns with the specific needs and interests of our customers and solves the problems immigrant
communities often face in making remittances. There are four core elements to our differentiated approach:
•

Providing a Simple and Reliable Way of Sending Money with Our Mobile-Centric Suite of Products. Today, over 90% of our customers engage with Remitly
on their mobile phones, shifting what traditionally required an in-person interaction, including waiting in line to speak with an agent, to the palm of their hands.
Our mobile app currently has a 4.9 iOS App Store rating with more than 650,000 reviewers and a 4.8 Android Google Play rating with more than 325,000
reviewers. We have achieved this level of engagement and these high ratings by designing mobile-centric products that make the customer experience simple and
convenient and give our customers complete peace of mind.
Our mobile app for cross-border remittances provides an easy-to-use, end-to-end process. In just a few minutes, customers are able to set up and send money for
the first time with Remitly, and repeat transactions become easier with just five taps. Our customers and their families can also track the status of their transactions
in real time. This mobile-centric experience enables us to engage beyond the initial transaction, generating strong repeat usage and high customer loyalty.

•

Conveniently Putting Money Safely in the Hands of Our Customers’ Families, Wherever They Are, by Relying on Our Global Network. Our global
network of funding and disbursement partnerships enables us to complete money transfers in over 2,100 corridors without the need to deploy local operations in
each country. We are able to do this while complying with global and local licensing and regulatory requirements. A corridor represents the pairing of a send
country, from which a customer can send a remittance, with a specific receive country to which such remittance can be sent.
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We have partner relationships with global banks and leading payment providers to give our customers an array of payment (or pay-in) options, including with a
bank account, card-based payments and alternative payment methods. Our disbursement network provides our customers with various digital and traditional
delivery methods and enables us to send (or payout) funds within minutes to more than 3.7 billion bank accounts, over 670 million mobile wallets, and
approximately 390,000 cash pickup locations. These partner relationships help drive a better customer experience, including faster transfers, higher acceptance
rates, and enhanced reliability.
•

Creating Trusted and Personalized Experiences with Our Localization Expertise at Scale. We believe our expertise in localizing our marketing, products, and
customer support at scale is a key differentiator and enables us to provide customers with a personalized experience that drives peace of mind. Localization can
mean many things. To us, it means speaking with our customers in their preferred language, reaching them through the media channels they frequent, and being
culturally relevant through their journey. While our business is global, we recognize the importance of a culturally relevant experience being delivered to our
customers and their families in the many countries we serve. We strive to deliver marketing, product, and support experiences that connect with them in
meaningful ways. For example, we tailor our customer experience with 14 native languages, and we provide peace of mind with our global customer support team.
Additionally, for disbursement of funds, we partner with local brands that are among the most trusted and recognized by our customers and their families.

•

Using Our Data-Driven Approach to Better Serve Our Customers and Provide More Value. We have a data-driven approach to how we grow our business,
prioritize our investments, and manage our operations. Because our customers initiate transfers digitally, we capture and leverage a body of transaction-related
data that provides insight into customer behavior and customer experience. This data and the analytics we perform inform our marketing investments and product
development prioritization. In addition, we leverage our data platform and proprietary models to improve our compliance systems and manage pricing, treasury,
fraud risk, and customer support.

Strategy
We operate in a large and fragmented market. Based on estimates from the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund, the market for global money transfers was
estimated to be approximately $1.6 trillion in total migrant remittance volume in 2021 (including both formal and informal person-to-person channels), and has been
growing at over a 5% compound annual growth rate over the past decade, with digital volumes significantly outpacing the rest of the market. In our core serviceable
available market, remittance flows to developing countries were expected to reach $589 billion in 2021, according to the World Bank in November 2021. To contextualize
the size and importance of this market, according to the United Nations, global remittances are over two times larger than the amount of official development assistance.
As of December 31, 2021, we captured approximately 1% of the total migrant remittance inflow volume. We believe that we can capture a larger share of this market. We
also believe that we have a tremendous opportunity to significantly expand our total addressable market by leveraging our trusted brand to offer a broader set of financial
services to the 280 million global immigrants and their families.
Our approach to achieving these goals has been rooted from Day 1 in customer centricity, which means deeply understanding our customers’ unique and local needs to
provide them with a differentiated experience in remittances and broader financial services. Strategically managing the business from this perspective has been key to our
success since the very beginning and forms the frame for the remainder of our strategy, which includes the following focus areas:
•

Gain share in existing corridors.
◦

Grow our customer base. We plan on expanding our marketing efforts across existing corridors to increase brand awareness with customers and highlight the
value of our products and services. We believe this will attract new customers to try Remitly. As we grow our customer base, we expect to benefit from
increased operating leverage in the business and more data and insight to enhance our models.

◦

Increase customer engagement and drive repeat use. The majority of our customers use our products and services multiple times per month. To further
strengthen our customer relationships and brand loyalty, we will continue to enhance our products and services and develop new features to tailor and
personalize our customers’ experiences, as we continue to learn what our customers need, in order to optimize our pricing and delivery options. We will also
continue to establish new disbursement partnerships and add new payment methods to enhance our cross-border payment remittance experience for current
and potential customers in our existing corridors. We expect these initiatives will attract new customers and retain existing customers while leading to larger
and more frequent transactions across our growing customer base.

•

Expand to new corridors and partner networks. While our global network spans across more than 2,100 corridors around the world, we have plans to increase
our reach to thousands of additional corridors. We see an opportunity to generate value by expanding our remittance services more broadly in this way. We expect
to leverage our data-driven approach to optimize our pricing, product features, marketing strategies, and customer economics as we expand and grow in these new
geographies. Additionally, we expect to leverage our localization expertise and our technology platform to grow the number of disbursement, payment and other
partners in our global network and increase the number of direct integrations with such partners.

•

Continue expanding into broader financial services. We believe there are enormous opportunities to create a more inclusive financial system that not only
encompasses, but caters to the needs of immigrants. We are pursuing these opportunities in two ways.
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First, we are using the insights we gain about immigrant customers through our data-driven platform to develop broader financial services and service expansions,
such as Passbook and Remitly For Developers. We will continue to invest in our platform in this way, expanding our product and service offerings and our overall
technological lead to actualize our opportunities in this area. For example, our Passbook app started with deposit services, and we also plan to build new products
and features within the app to provide solutions to a broader array of our customers’ financial services needs.
Second, we will also continue to leverage our global network and infrastructure. We believe that empowering businesses to build on top of our leading distribution
and compliance infrastructure, such as through Remitly For Developers, attracts a new set of potential customers and expands economic opportunities in
developing markets.
•

Pursue strategic partnerships and acquisitions. While our main growth strategy has historically been organic, we may selectively pursue strategic partnerships
and acquisitions to accelerate our growth objectives or to enhance our competitive position within existing and new products and markets. For example, in 2021,
we extended our partnership with Visa by integrating Visa Direct within our global network, providing our customers with real-time cross-border payments
options to more countries around the world. We also acquired a software engineering practice and concluded a second strategic partnership with Coinbase in 2021.

Competition
We operate in a large and highly fragmented market. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience competition from a number of companies, including those
who are well-established and may have greater resources, and those who may become meaningful competitors in the future. Our diverse array of competitors generally falls
into the following categories:
•

Incumbent providers with a scaled legacy footprint. Traditional providers with large networks of brick-and-mortar locations and agents around the world that have
been slow to adopt digital solutions.

•

Traditional banks. Traditional bank networks that offer a wide variety of financial services, including international remittances, but have limited disbursement
options and may have burdensome KYC processes that do not cater to immigrant populations.
Digital-first cross-border payment providers. Digital-first providers of payments, money transfer and remittance products that aim to be convenient, transparent
and affordable, with varying corridor-related focuses, such as developed-to-developing or developed-to-developed markets.

•
•

Emerging players focused on broader financial services. Online-only banks, cryptocurrency players, and other emerging players typically offer a subset of the
financial services offered by traditional banks, and generally place a greater emphasis on convenience and user experience.

•

Informal person-to-person channels. Bringing cash home when immigrants travel, trusting others to deliver cash back home, established networks of “IOUs” based
on documentation or passwords, and other systems of trust-based cash transfers that evade tracking and regulation.

Digital-first companies are increasingly gaining market share from legacy providers and traditional banks. We believe that the principal competitive factors across
experience, product, network and technology include:
•

•

•

Experience:
◦

A trusted relationship with customers and their families

◦
◦

A simple and convenient customer experience
Appealing to customers and their families on a hyper-local level

Product:
◦
Fair and transparent product pricing
◦

Speed and certainty of transactions

◦
◦

Adjacent suite of digital-first financial services
Global and local customer service

Network:
◦
◦

•

Breadth of global network, including a vast array of easy-to-access disbursement options
Ability to accept alternative payment methods

Technology:
◦
Technological differentiation through service availability, performance, scalability, and reliability
◦

Efficient fraud, compliance, and regulatory management

◦

Ability to innovate

By focusing on the unique needs of immigrants and having a relentless customer focus, we believe that we have built a differentiated and compelling value proposition, and
that we compete favorably on the basis of these factors.
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Specifically, we believe that our mobile-centric suite of products, our vast global network, our localization expertise at scale, and our data driven approach create sustainable
differentiation against competitors.
Regulatory Environment
Our business is subject to a wide range of federal, state, and international laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate and conduct our activities, including
(1) the jurisdictions from which our customers initiate transactions, the majority of which include the United States, Canada, European Economic Area (“EEA”), and the
United Kingdom and/or (2) the jurisdictions in which recipients receive disbursements, the majority of which include Mexico, the Philippines, India and other developing
countries. These laws and regulations include strict legal and regulatory requirements intended to help detect and prevent money laundering, terrorist financing, fraud, data
use, theft and misappropriation and other illicit activity. In addition, such requirements include laws and regulations regarding money transmission licensing, financial
services, consumer disclosure and protection, foreign exchange, currency controls, unclaimed property, privacy, and cyber security. The laws and regulations applicable to
our business in any given jurisdiction are extensive, complex, frequently changing, increasing in scope, and may impose overlapping and/or conflicting requirements or
obligations. For more information, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Legal and Compliance Risks.”
The description of a subset of these laws and regulations that follows is designed to be a summary and is not exhaustive. We have developed and implemented a compliance
program, including our anti-money laundering program, comprised of policies and procedures designed to comply with such laws and regulations as they apply to our
business. We also monitor these areas closely to continue to adapt our business practices and strategies to help us comply with current and evolving laws and regulations.
Anti-Money Laundering. In the United States, our business is subject to anti-money laundering laws and regulations, including the Bank Secrecy Act (“BSA”), as amended
by the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001, as well as similar state laws and regulations. The BSA, among other things, requires companies engaged in money transmission to
develop and maintain risk-based anti-money laundering programs, report suspicious activity, and collect and maintain personal information about consumers and all
transaction records. These requirements may also apply to our distribution partners and sub-partners. Furthermore, the U.S. Department of the Treasury has interpreted the
BSA to require money transmission companies to conduct due diligence and risk-based monitoring of their distribution partners.
Similar anti-money laundering (“AML”) laws and regulations apply to our business internationally, including in the countries where we operate and those where we are
licensed (Canada, Ireland, the United Kingdom, Australia, and Singapore). These include laws and regulations to detect and prevent money laundering and terrorist
financing, including obligations to collect and maintain information about our users, recordkeeping, reporting and due diligence, and supervision of agents and subagents
similar to, and in some cases exceeding, those required under the BSA. We are also, to a lesser extent, impacted by laws and regulations in the other countries in which our
disbursement partners operate.
As a money services business, we maintain a stringent AML compliance program that includes internal policies and controls, designation of AML compliance officers for
each of our regulated subsidiaries, ongoing employee training and monitoring programs, and annual independent reviews.
Sanctions. Our business must also comply with economic and trade sanctions programs administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets
Control (“OFAC”) in the United States, the Government of Canada and other sanctions authorities in those jurisdictions in which we operate. These laws and regulations
prohibit or restrict transactions in, to or from certain countries, regions or governments, as well as with certain individuals and entities such as traffickers in illegal goods or
services, terrorists and terrorist organizations. We have implemented policies, procedures and internal controls that are designed to comply with these economic and trade
sanctions programs. These measures include, without limitation, screening certain transactions and customer information against OFAC and other international government
watch-lists, blocking funds of OFAC’s list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons (“SDNs”) and other persons and entities designated as prohibited persons
by international sanctions authorities, including the U.S. Security Council, the European Union, Her Majesty’s Treasury, and other relevant sanctions authorities, and
preparing and submitting blocking and other reports as required by relevant authorities.
Anti-Bribery. We are subject to regulations imposed by the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) in the United States, the Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act in
Canada (“CFPOA”), the U.K. Bribery Act in the United Kingdom and similar laws in the other jurisdictions in which we or our disbursement partners operate, which
generally prohibit companies and those acting on their behalf from making improper payments to foreign government officials for the purpose of influencing official action
or otherwise gaining an unfair business advantage, such as obtaining or retaining business. We maintain a compliance program designed to ensure our compliance with
applicable anti-bribery laws and regulations.
Money Transmission and Stored Value Licensing or Registration. We are subject to licensing and registration requirements in relation to our money transmission and
stored value issuance activities on a state by state and federal basis in the United States and in almost every other jurisdiction from which our customers initiate transactions,
including the United States, Canada, the EEA, the United Kingdom, Australia, and Singapore.
In the United States, we hold licenses to operate as a money transmitter (or its equivalent) in 48 states where such licenses are required, as well as in the District of
Columbia. As a licensed money transmitter, we are subject to, among other requirements, restrictions with respect to the investment of customer funds, reporting
requirements, bonding requirements, minimum net worth requirements, customer disclosure requirements, regulatory approval of directors and senior management of the
licensed entity, anti-money laundering and sanctions compliance, cybersecurity program requirements, and examination by state regulatory agencies. In connection with
certain licenses we hold in the United States, there are also different shareholding thresholds (as low as 10% or more of the total equity in us) that may require a shareholder
to obtain regulatory approval prior to exceeding such thresholds.
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Outside the United States, our money transmission business is subject to regulation in almost all of the countries and territories in which we offer those services. We are
licensed or registered to operate our money transfer services in key jurisdictions including Canada, Ireland (that serves the EEA via the EU passporting process), the United
Kingdom, Australia, and Singapore. This list is not exhaustive, as there are numerous other regulatory agencies that may assert jurisdiction over our international business
activities.
Under these licensing regimes and associated regulations and supervision, we are subject to requirements such as capital and safeguarding rules, certain consumer protection
requirements, IT, and operational security risk management requirements, outsourcing oversight requirements, and periodic regulatory examinations. In certain countries, we
are able to serve our customers through the use of disbursement partners instead of obtaining our own license. These entities are typically locally licensed businesses or
regulated banks whom we believe are compliant with local laws.
Unclaimed Property. We must also comply with unclaimed property laws in the United States and in other countries where we or our disbursement partners operate. These
laws require us to remit to certain government authorities the property of others held by us that has been unclaimed for a specified period of time, such as unpaid money
transfers. We hold property subject to unclaimed property laws and we have an ongoing program designed to help us comply with these laws. We are subject to audits with
regard to our escheatment practices.
Consumer Disclosure and Consumer Protection. We are subject to laws, regulations and disclosure requirements relating to consumer protection in the United States and
other jurisdictions in which we have operations, where such laws and regulations are enforced by numerous government agencies. In the U.S., the Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau (the “CFPB”) implements, examines compliance with, and enforces federal consumer protection laws governing financial products and services,
including the Remittance Transfer Rule. The Remittance Transfer Rule requirements include (1) a disclosure requirement to provide consumers sending funds internationally
from the United States enhanced pre-transaction written disclosures; (2) an obligation to resolve certain errors, including errors that may be outside our control; and (3) an
obligation to cancel transactions that have not been completed at a customer’s request. The CFPB has substantial rule-making and enforcement authority to prevent unfair,
deceptive or abusive acts or practices in connection with any transaction with a consumer for a financial product or service. As a larger participant in the market for
international money transfers, the CFPB has direct supervisory authority over our business. In addition, under the Dodd-Frank Act, it is unlawful for any provider of
consumer financial products or services to engage in unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices.
Indirect Regulatory Requirements. As a marketing agent for Sunrise for Passbook, a debit card-linked demand deposit account service offered and issued by Sunrise, we
are indirectly subject to the oversight of the banking regulators of Sunrise and responsible for implementing certain aspects of Sunrise's AML program with respect to the
Passbook service. We are also subject to U.S. state banking law that prohibits non-banks, including state-licensed money transmitters, from holding themselves out as banks,
providing banking services, or marketing, advertising, or soliciting customers in any manner suggesting that we are a bank or engaged in banking services.
Certain of our Remitly For Developers customers may be subject to various regulations and compliance obligations, including those that relate to cryptocurrency, that do not
apply directly to us but impact the services that we provide to our customers. In addition, based on our relationships with our disbursement partners, we are, or may be,
subject to indirect regulation and examination by our disbursement partners' regulators.
Intellectual Property
Intellectual property and proprietary rights (“IP Rights”) are important to the success of our business. We rely on a combination of copyright, trademark and trade secret
laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as license agreements, confidentiality procedures, non-disclosure agreements, and other contractual protections, to
establish, maintain and protect our IP Rights, including our proprietary technology, software, know-how, and brand. However, these laws, agreements, and procedures
provide only limited protection.
As of December 31, 2021, we owned six U.S. registered trademarks, two pending U.S. trademark applications, 65 foreign registered trademarks and 61 pending foreign
trademark applications covering the mark REMITLY, our collapsed Clasped Hand logo, REMITLY (+ Clasped Hand Logo), PASSBOOK BY REMITLY, and Hui Mei Yi
(Remitly in Chinese characters). We are pursuing additional trademark registrations to the extent we believe it would be beneficial and cost effective. Additionally, we own
common law trademark rights in the above-referenced marks as well as the REMITLY PROMISES DELIVERED (+ Clasped Hand Logo) and PASSBOOK BY REMITLY
(+ Clasped Hand Logo) mark in the United States and certain other jurisdictions where common law rights are recognized. We also own several domain names, including
www.remitly.com.
We monitor our trademarks and service marks through watch services which notify us when applications for potentially conflicting marks have been filed in the United
States and in other jurisdictions. We also enforce our trademarks, service marks, trade names and domain names against infringing third-party trademarks, trade names and
domain names by sending cease and desist letters, filing complaints, and commencing administrative, and other legal proceedings in the United States and various other
jurisdictions. Although we take steps to protect our trademarks, service marks, trade names and domain names, we cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will be
sufficient to prevent others from using or seeking to register our trademarks, service marks, trade names and domain names. Additionally, we cannot be certain that the steps
we have taken will be sufficient or effective to prevent the unauthorized access, use, copying, or the reverse engineering of our technology and other proprietary information,
including by third parties who may use our technology or other proprietary information to develop services that compete with ours. Moreover, others may independently
develop technologies or services that are competitive with ours or that infringe on, misappropriate, or otherwise violate our IP Rights. Policing the unauthorized use of our
IP Rights can be difficult. The enforcement of our intellectual property and proprietary rights also depends on any administrative or legal actions we may bring against any
such parties being successful, but these actions are costly, time-consuming, and may not be successful, even when our rights have been infringed, misappropriated, or
otherwise violated.
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We also rely upon a substantial amount of intellectual property licensed from third parties, including under certain open source licenses. The terms of various open source
licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions
on our services.
Although we rely on IP Rights, as well as contractual protections, in our business, we also seek to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of our IP Rights through
appropriate technological restrictions, such as physical and electronic security measures. It is also our practice to enter into confidentiality and invention assignment
agreements (or similar agreements) with our employees, consultants, and contractors involved in the development of intellectual property on our behalf. We also enter into
confidentiality agreements with other third parties to limit access to, and disclosure and use of, our confidential information and proprietary information. We further control
the use of our proprietary technology and intellectual property through provisions in our terms of service. The contractual provisions that we enter into with employees,
consultants, disbursement partners, vendors, and customers, however, may not prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of our proprietary technology or intellectual property
rights and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our proprietary technology or intellectual property rights. We also cannot
guarantee that we have entered into such agreements with each party that may have or has had access to our trade secrets or proprietary technology or that our invention
assignment agreements will be self-executing.
See Part I, Item 1. Business, in the section titled “Risk Factors—Intellectual Property, Technology, Privacy and Security Risks” for a more comprehensive description of
risks related to our IP Rights.
Privacy and Cybersecurity
We collect, use, receive, store, transmit, disclose, and process a wide variety of data and information (including personal information and sensitive personal information) for
various purposes in our business. This aspect of our business is subject to numerous industry standards, laws, rules and regulations in the United States and globally.
Regulation and proposed regulation in this area has increased significantly in recent years and is expected to continue to do so. Our data handling is also subject to
contractual obligations.
In addition to numerous privacy and data protection laws already in place, U.S. states are increasingly adopting laws imposing comprehensive privacy and data protection
obligations, which may be more stringent, broader in scope, or offer greater individual rights, with respect to sensitive and personal information than foreign, federal, or
other state laws, and such laws may differ from or conflict with each other.
In the U.S., various laws and regulations apply to the collection, processing, disclosure, and security of certain types of data, including the Electronic Communications
Privacy Act, the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, the Gramm Leach Bliley Act (GLBA), and state laws relating to privacy and data security. Additionally, the FTC and
many state attorneys general are interpreting federal and state consumer protection laws as imposing standards for the online collection, use, dissemination, and security of
data. For example, in June 2018, California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA), which became operative on January 1, 2020 and broadly defines personal
information, gives California residents expanded privacy rights and protections, and provides for civil penalties for violations and a private right of action for data breaches.
Additionally, a new privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA), recently was approved by California voters in the November 2020 election. The CPRA will
significantly modify the CCPA, and may create new obligations for us beginning on January 1, 2022, with implementing regulations expected on or before July 1, 2022, and
enforcement commencing July 1, 2023.
Internationally, many countries have established their own data privacy and security legal framework with which we, our customers and/or partners may need to comply. For
example, in Europe, the GDPR took effect on May 25, 2018 and contains numerous requirements and changes from previously existing European law, including more robust
obligations on data controllers and processors and more fulsome documentation requirements for data protection compliance programs by companies. As a result of our
presence in Europe and our service offering in the European Union, we are subject to the GDPR, which imposes stringent data protection and cybersecurity requirements,
and could increase the risk of non-compliance and the costs of providing our services in a compliant manner. A breach of the GDPR could result in regulatory investigations,
reputational damage, fines and sanctions, orders to cease or change our processing of our data, enforcement notices, or assessment notices (for a compulsory audit). Such
penalties are in addition to any civil litigation claims by customers and data subjects. We may also face civil claims including representative actions and other class actiontype litigation (where individuals have suffered harm), potentially amounting to significant compensation or damages liabilities, as well as associated costs, diversion of
internal resources, and reputational harm. The GDPR also imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of the European Union to a “third country,” including the
United States. These obligations may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other requirements or
our practices.
Additionally, since December 31, 2020, we have been required to comply with both the GDPR and the Data Protection Act, with each regime having the ability to fine up to
the greater of €20 million (£17 million) or 4% of global revenues. It is unclear how data transfers between the United Kingdom and the European Union and other
jurisdictions will be treated, and the role of the United Kingdom’s supervisory authority is also unclear.
There are a number of pending legislative proposals in the European Union, the United States, at both the federal and state level, as well as other jurisdictions that could
impose new obligations in areas affecting our business. We expect that our efforts to comply with the GDPR, CCPA, CPRA and other regulatory and legislative
requirements will continue to require substantial investments, including investments in compliance processes and technical infrastructure. In addition, some countries are
considering or have passed legislation implementing cybersecurity requirements, including requiring local storage and processing of data or similar requirements that could
increase the cost and complexity of delivering our services.
Additionally, the GLBA (along with its implementing regulations) restricts certain collection processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal information, requires notice
to individuals of privacy practices and provides individuals with certain rights to prevent the use and disclosure of certain
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nonpublic or otherwise legally protected information. These rules also impose requirements for the safeguarding and proper destruction of personal information through the
issuance of data security standards or guidelines.
Financial technology companies such as us are prone to cyber-attacks by third parties seeking unauthorized access to our data or to disrupt our ability to provide access to
our products and services. In addition, computer malware, viruses, social engineering (predominantly phishing attacks), vendor errors, and general hacking have become
more prevalent in the industry, have occurred on our systems in the past, and will occur on our systems in the future. We regularly encounter attempts to create false or
undesirable accounts or take other actions on our platform for purposes such as spamming, spreading misinformation, or other objectionable ends. Cyber-attacks may cause
interruptions to our platform, degrade the user experience, cause users to lose confidence and trust in our platform, impair our internal systems, or result in financial harm to
us. Our efforts to protect company data or the information that we receive may also be unsuccessful due to software bugs or other technical malfunctions; employee,
contractor, or vendor error or malfeasance; government surveillance; or other threats that evolve.
In addition, third parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees to disclose information in order to gain access to our data. Cyber-attacks continue to evolve in
sophistication and volume, and inherently may be difficult to detect for long periods of time. We are engaged in ongoing privacy and cybersecurity compliance and oversight
efforts, including in connection with the requirements of privacy and cybersecurity laws, and other industry standards, and regulatory and legislative requirements. Many of
these laws and regulations are subject to change and uncertain and inconsistent interpretation and enforcement, and may conflict with one another, other requirements or
obligations, or practices of the features of our services. This could result in claims, changes to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or
declines in user growth or engagement, or otherwise harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
For additional information about our privacy, cybersecurity and associated risks, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Intellectual Property, Technology, Privacy and
Security Risks.”
Human Capital
Our Team. As of December 31, 2021, we had over 1,800 full-time equivalent employees either working out of our headquarters in Seattle, Washington, at one of our seven
other office locations around the world, or remotely. None of our team members are represented by a labor union or are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We
believe the positive relationship between our customers, our team members and our mission-oriented culture differentiates us and is a key driver of our business success.
Attracting, recruiting, developing, and retaining diverse talent enables us to deliver on our brand promise to customers and serve our other stakeholders. We are focused on
supporting our employees from recruitment and onboarding, to ongoing development, and have implemented programs designed to support their development, engagement,
and wellness.
Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion. Diversity, Equity and Inclusion (“DEI”) is deeply rooted in our purpose and mission at Remitly. Our focus every day is to tirelessly deliver
for our customers, many of whom may be underrepresented in the countries they've migrated to and have historically been left out of traditional financial systems.
Effectively serving millions of customers sending money home to their families in over 135 different countries requires teams of committed individuals who demonstrate a
deep level of empathy, genuine curiosity, value varied lived experiences, perspectives and backgrounds and appreciate the different ways we all think, process, present, and
operate. Remitly’s working environment and culture are designed to unlock our employees’ best thinking and inspire impact from our diverse teams. All of this is made clear
by the way we live our cultural values, as we engage with each other, our customers and the immigrant communities we serve all over the world.
To ensure we create an inclusive culture that embraces the diversity of our employees, we have invested in resources and created programs that encourage continuous
learning and constructive dialogue at all levels of our organization, such as executive members co-hosting multiple DEI monthly meetings with our Vice President of
Environment Social Governance; creating working groups of senior leaders, managers, and individual contributors focused on improving policies and practices to improve
employee development, belonging and hiring; supporting 11 employee resource groups; offering inclusive interview training; and investing in tools that deliver weekly DEIrelated learning content to employees.
Employee Engagement and Retention Employee voice and engagement is a cornerstone to how we create a culture of belonging that allows all of us to do our best work to
deliver for our customers every day. This includes administering periodic employee engagement surveys, pulse surveys, feedback sessions, office hours, and 1:1s, and
applying our cultural values as a common language for feedback and candidate assessment. Our cultural values are also used to coach and celebrate our teammates, and are a
central aspect of our onboarding, performance management, and development processes, and help us to attract, inspire, and retain a diverse, world-class team.
Learning and Development. We encourage our employees to aim high and continuously improve not only on the products and services we tirelessly deliver to our
customers, but also invest in themselves. We provide our employees with ongoing professional development, educational resources and leadership opportunities,
reimbursements for continued education and conference attendance, access to online educational content, mentorship programs, lunch and learn programming, reimbursed
travel to our corridor countries, and customer empathy programs and workshops.
Benefits and Compensation. We strive to offer market-competitive compensation and benefits to attract and retain employees for the long-term. Equity ownership is a key
element of our total compensation program, allowing employees to share in our successes and aligning their interests with our long-term goals. We believe that providing
employees with equity ownership in our company is fundamental to employee engagement and to our employees feeling valued and recognized for their contributions to our
company and our mission. We award promotions and performance equity grants based on an employee’s customer and business impact and their demonstration of our
values. To ensure fair and equitable pay, we benchmark our employee compensation with external sources and internally inspect for pay parity twice yearly during
performance cycles.
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We strive to provide comprehensive benefits and services that help meet the unique needs of our employees, including benefits such as medical, dental, and vision insurance,
a health savings account with company contribution, family and medical leave, flexible work schedules, paid holidays and flexible vacation, as well as mental health
services access to coaching and counseling support, and support for infertility. We offer benefits through Maven so all employees on any path to parenthood have 24/7
access to virtual care, ranging from prenatal support and family planning, to delivery, postpartum, and pediatrics that support diverse family structures. Remitly also
participates in the World Professional Association for Transgender Health (WPATH) so our teammates who identify as Transsexual, Transgender, and Gender
Nonconforming People have access to the care they need. We sponsor a 401(k) plan that includes a matching contribution and offer financial coaching through a third-party
provider, and, upon completion of our initial public offering in September 2021, we adopted an employee stock purchase plan to enable eligible employees to purchase
shares of common stock with accumulated payroll deductions at a discount.
Employee Wellness. Employee safety and well-being is paramount to us ever more so in light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. We provide productivity and
collaboration tools and resources for employees working remotely, including training and toolkits to help leaders effectively lead and manage remote teams. In addition to
expanding our mental health benefits to not only our employees, but also up to 3 dependents in every employee’s household, we also created informal routines that include
Wellness Wednesdays and virtual Kitchen Conversations to promote employee connection and wellness through the pandemic. We also provided stipends and a virtual
ergonomic assessment program to help employees set up home workspaces.
COVID-19. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we announced in March 2020 that most of our employees would have the flexibility to work from home. Since then,
some of our employees have returned to working from the office and we expect a portion of employees will continue to work from our offices subject to international and
U.S. federal, state and local guidelines. We will also support others working from home on a permanent basis.
Corporate Philanthropy
When immigrant communities have access to financial tools and resources, they change the future for themselves and their loved ones. They also transform the local
economies where they live and work, as well as the countries where they send money. Through Remitly’s charitable giving programs, we plan to invest in and support the
organizations and coalitions who are committed to improving economic, financial and social inclusion of immigrants and their families. We have also joined Pledge 1%, a
global movement that encourages and empowers companies of all sizes and stages to donate 1% of their staff time, product, profit, and/or equity to social good. Our major
corporate philanthropy programs include the following:
Pledge 1%. Our Pledge 1% commitment publicly acknowledges our intent to give back and increase social impact, in order to sustainably fund a portion of our corporate
social responsibility goals and further our mission to expand financial inclusion for immigrants. As such, in July 2021, our board of directors approved the reservation of up
to 1,819,609 shares of our common stock (which was approximately 1.0% of our fully-diluted capitalization as of June 30, 2021) that we may issue to or for the benefit of a
501(c)(3) nonprofit foundation or a similar charitable organization pursuant to our Pledge 1% commitment in equal installments over ten years. On September 10, 2021, we
executed the stock donation agreement, where we committed to issue 181,961 shares as the first installment of our Pledge 1% commitment to Remitly Philanthropy Fund, a
donor advised fund that is administered on our behalf by Rockefeller Philanthropy Advisors, Inc. On September 28, 2021, the Company donated 181,961 shares of its
common stock to Remitly Philanthropy Fund, pursuant to the stock donation agreement. We also have a multifaceted social good program that aligns with our partnership
with Pledge 1%. This includes:
Corporate and Employee Giving. In 2021, we funded over $110,000 in financial assistance through our Remitly Scholars Program that helps students at the University of
the Philippines pay for school fees, books, food, school supplies and other resources they might need to successfully graduate from college. In addition, in the past year, our
employees have collectively donated nearly $125,000 to support immigrant communities impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic globally and anti-racist movements that
have supported Black, Asian and Latino communities in the United States.
Product Deployment. When natural disasters and other crises hit, especially in the global south where many of our customers' families reside, we support our customers who
need to send money home quickly by providing fee waivers so more of their remittances can be deployed to address immediate needs.
Volunteering. In 2021, we focused on virtual volunteering and engagement and delivered several Employee Action Guides that provide resources for employees to volunteer
virtually or engage safely in-person. Employees volunteered as mentors and career coaches, offering time and experience to students entering into the technology field. The
Action Guides also provide employees with self-paced learning and mental health resources that can be shared with their online and offline networks.
Civic Engagement. In addition to volunteering, we encourage our employees to use their voice through learning about the civic process, register to vote and learn about how
to engage with community leaders to influence change. We hosted workshops to help employees learn about civic engagement and community issues.
Available Information
Copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant
to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), are available, free of charge, on
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our investor relations website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material electronically with or furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC). The SEC also maintains a website that contains our SEC filings. The address of the site is www.sec.gov.
We webcast our earnings calls and certain events we participate in or host with members of the investment community on our investor relations website. Additionally, we
offer notifications of news or announcements regarding our financial performance, including SEC filings, investor events, and press and earnings releases through our
investor relations website. We have used, and intend to continue to use, the Investor Relations section of our website at https://ir.remitly.com as a means of disclosing
material non-public information and for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. Further corporate governance information, including our board
committee composition and charters, code of business conduct and ethics, and corporate governance guidelines, is also available on our investor relations website under the
heading “Governance.” The contents of our websites are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or in any other report or
document we file with the SEC, and any references to our websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.

12

Table of Contents

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other
information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” our consolidated
financial statements and the accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K before making a decision to invest in our common stock. The risks
and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of or that we deem immaterial may also become
important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, operating results, and future prospects could be
materially and adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.
Summary of Risk Factors
Some of the material risks that we face include:
•

If we fail to retain or grow our customer base, number of payment corridors, or scope of send and receive countries, our business and operating results will be
harmed;

•

We partner with third parties to support fulfillment of our service, including risk management, payment processing, customer support, and disbursement, which
exposes us to risks outside our direct control;

•

If we are not able to innovate, improve existing products, and develop new products that achieve market acceptance, our growth, business, operating results,
financial condition and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected;

•

Cyber-attacks or data security breaches could result in serious harm to our business, reputation and financial condition;

•

We are subject to privacy laws across multiple jurisdictions which are highly complex, overlapping, frequently changing, and which create compliance challenges
that may expose us to substantial costs, liabilities, or loss of customer trust. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with these laws could harm our business;

•

A security breach of our system could trigger a breach of our agreements with significant partners that we rely on to deliver our services and expose us to
significant loss;

•

Failure to comply with sanctions laws, anti-terrorist financing laws, anti-money laundering laws, and similar laws associated with our activities outside of the
United States, could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences;

•

Use of our platform for illegal or fraudulent activities could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results;

•

Our platform is susceptible to fraud, and our business, reputation, financial condition and operating results could be harmed as a result;

•

We are exposed to the risk of loss or insolvency if our disbursement partners fail to disburse funds according to our instructions or were to become insolvent
unexpectedly or funds are disbursed before customer funds are guaranteed to be sufficient;

•

If there is any material change of service terms or loss of coverage in our payment processors and disbursement network, our business could be harmed;

•

If our disbursement partners do not provide a positive recipient experience, our business would be harmed;

•

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and may identify additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise
fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, which may result in material misstatements of our consolidated financial statements. If we fail to
remediate any material weaknesses or otherwise fail to establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, our ability to accurately and
timely report our financial results could be adversely affected;

•

If one or more of our counterparties, including financial institutions, aggregators, and local cash pick-up institutions where we have cash on deposit, or our lenders
and potential hedging counterparties, default on their financial or performance obligations to us or fail, we may incur significant losses; and

•

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates could harm our operating results and financial condition.

Business and Strategic Risks
If we fail to retain or grow our customer base, number of payment corridors, or scope of send and receive countries, our business and operating results will be harmed.
We must continually retain and grow our base of customers, number of payment corridors and the scope of our global networks to grow our business. Our ability to do so
depends on the quality and successful execution of our business strategy, as well as factors outside our control, including the macroeconomic context, geopolitical forces,
evolving consumer preferences, and regulatory costs and requirements in key jurisdictions. It also will depend on the quality and speed of competitor innovation and
marketing and the reliability and quality of services provided by the third parties that

13

Table of Contents

we partner with to provide our integrated service. These areas are all complex and evolving regularly and any significant failure to anticipate and successfully manage these
areas in relation to either traditional or emerging developed to developing corridors could significantly impair our ability to retain and grow our base of customers or the
scope of our send and receive markets. If we are unable to retain and grow our base of customers or the scope of our send and receive markets, our business and operating
results may be harmed.
We partner with third parties to support fulfillment of our service, including risk management, payment processing, customer support, and disbursement, which exposes
us to risks outside our direct control.
We partner with a variety of third parties to fulfill our services. For example, we integrate third-party technologies into our proprietary KYC and risk management systems
and information security program and we also partner with an extensive network of third parties to deliver payment processing for customers and disbursement of funds to
recipients. Any failure or disruption to the services provided by these third parties could cause disruption or delay the delivery of our services and negatively impact our
customer experience. For example, any natural disaster that affects the ability of our payment processors to process funds could cause delays to our disbursement process
and thereby negatively impact our customer experience and cause our express or economy delivery guarantees to fail. Additionally, if a payment processor experiences a
service outage or service interruption that results in our being unable to collect funds from customers, our liquidity could be harmed and we may not meet our capital
requirements.
Our third-party partners also support our business operations and processes, including customer support services, from their various locations around the world. If such
third-party partners choose to cease or otherwise become unable to provide the business process support services for which they are contracted by us, we risk having delays
in customer service or other interruptions in our business operations, which can have a detrimental effect on our reputation and ultimately lead to a loss of customers.
In addition, some of these third parties process personally identifiable information and customer payments subject to our security requirements. Any failure of these parties
to implement and operate adequate cybersecurity, data privacy, business continuity, fraud controls or other internal controls, or any failure of ours to identify and require
remediation of weaknesses in these areas, could result in significant liability or financial loss to our customers and us. We could face regulatory or governmental
consequences for any significant failure caused by such partners as well as substantial costs associated with remediation of harm, either due to legal requirements or
customer experience management. In many cases, we may elect to correct such errors even where not legally or contractually required to do so in order to retain customer
loyalty and maintain our brand.
If we are not able to innovate, improve existing products, and develop new products that achieve market acceptance, our growth, business, operating results, financial
condition and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected.
Our solution is a technology-driven platform that relies on innovation to remain competitive. Our process of developing new features and products is complex and relies
upon both internally developed and third-party technologies and services, including artificial intelligence (“AI”) and machine learning, and cloud-based technologies. We
may not be able to make product or technological improvements as quickly as demanded by our customers, or to market them effectively, which could harm our ability to
attract or retain customers. For example, we have recently launched new products such as Passbook and Remitly for Developers, each of which required investments by us,
and may continue to require investments. It is possible that these new products may not return our investment or be profitable, which may have an adverse effect on our
business and financial results. Additionally, the majority of our customers access our products through our mobile website and mobile app, and we must ensure that our
offerings are optimized for mobile devices and that our mobile apps are interoperable with popular third-party mobile operating systems such as Google Android and Apple
iOS. If we are unable to successfully and in a timely fashion innovate and improve our existing products that achieve market acceptance, and continue to deliver a superior
customer experience, our growth, business, operating results, financial condition, and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected.
We operate in a highly competitive and evolving market and may be unable to compete successfully against existing and future competitors which employ a variety of
existing business models and technologies or new innovations.
The market for remittances is global, highly competitive, and fragmented and includes a mix of traditional and digital players, including traditional banks, digital-first crossborder payment providers, online-only banks, and cryptocurrency providers. Some of the competitors are significantly larger than we are, have longer operating histories,
have more scale and name recognition, and more resources to deploy. We also compete against smaller, country-specific companies, banks, and informal person-to-person
money transfer service providers that may have more ability to effectively tailor products and services, marketing and regulatory compliance to local preferences and
requirements.
For example, some of these competitors may introduce new products or services that render us unable to retain our existing customers or attract new customers at prices that
are consistent with our pricing model and operating budget. Our pricing strategy for our cross-border payments may prove to be unappealing to our customers, and our
competitors could choose to bundle certain products and services that are competitive with ours. If this were to occur, it is possible that we would have to change our pricing
strategies or reduce our prices, which could harm our revenue and operating results.
In addition, the broader financial services sector is experiencing rapid evolution in technologies and there has recently been significant advancement in the development of
neobanking and the exchange of digital assets, or cryptocurrency. In particular, the advancement in the development of cryptocurrencies has led to new entrants in the
market for remittances and financial services more generally and could materially impact the remittance and financial services industry in the future. Any failure to timely
anticipate changes in customer behavior related to new payment technologies, including a preference by our customers for cryptocurrency usage, or to successfully integrate
such technologies into our services could result in a loss of customers and corresponding loss of revenue.
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Any failure to obtain or maintain necessary money transmission licenses across our global footprint could adversely affect our operations.
The provision of money transfer services is highly regulated, and the requirements vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. In the U.S., we are registered as a Money Services
Business with the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network of the U.S. Department of the Treasury (“FinCEN”), and are also licensed to operate as a money transmitter in 48
U.S. states and the District of Columbia.
Outside the U.S., we provide services to our customers in a variety of ways. In several key jurisdictions, we have obtained licenses to operate as a money services business
or payment institution, as applicable. In Canada, we are registered with the Financial Transactions and Reports Analysis Centre of Canada as a money services business. In
the United Kingdom, we have obtained a payment institution license from the Financial Conduct Authority and are also registered as a Money Service Business. In Ireland,
we have obtained a payment institution license from the Central Bank of Ireland, and such license is recognized across the EEA. In Singapore, we are licensed by the
Monetary Authority of Singapore as a major payment institution. In Australia, we are registered as a remittance service provider. We plan to apply for money transmitter
licenses or their equivalents in additional jurisdictions. Additionally, in several foreign jurisdictions, we work with disbursement partners to make funds available to
recipients. These may be locally licensed businesses or regulated banks whom we believe to be compliant with local laws. If these disbursement partners fail to comply with
local laws, we could be required to seek an alternate solution, which could impact our service and our business.
As a licensed money transmitter, we are subject to net worth requirements, bonding requirements, liquidity requirements, requirements for regulatory approval of controlling
stockholders, restrictions on our investment of customer funds, reporting requirements, anti-money laundering compliance requirements, cybersecurity requirements, and
monitoring, examination and oversight by state, federal, and international regulatory agencies. If our licenses are not renewed or we are denied licenses in additional states
or jurisdictions where we choose to apply for a license, we could be forced to change our business practices or be required to bear substantial cost to comply with the
requirements of the additional states or jurisdictions. Further, if we were found by these regulators to be in violation of any applicable banking or money services laws or
regulations, we could be subject to fines, penalties, lawsuits, and enforcement actions; additional compliance requirements; increased regulatory scrutiny of our business;
restriction of our operations; or damage to our reputation or brand. Regulatory requirements are constantly evolving, and we cannot predict whether we will be able to meet
changes to existing regulations or the introduction of new regulations without such compliance harming our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Certain jurisdictions have enacted rules that require licensed money transmitters to establish and maintain transaction monitoring and filtering programs, and cybersecurity
programs. Wherever we are subject to these rules, we are required to adopt additional business practices that could also require additional capital expenditures or impact our
operating results. If federal, state, or international regulators were to take actions that interfered with our ability to transfer money reliably including if they attempted to
seize transaction funds, to limit or prohibit us, our payment processors, or our disbursement partners from transferring money in certain countries, whether by imposing
sanctions or otherwise such actions could harm our business. Regulators could also impose other regulatory orders, monetary penalties, or other sanctions on us. Any change
to our business practices that makes our service less attractive to customers or prohibits use of our services by residents of a particular jurisdiction could decrease our
transaction volume and harm our business.
We have grown rapidly in recent years and have limited operating experience at our current scale of operations. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, our
business and operating results may be materially and adversely affected. We also may not be able to sustain our growth rate in the future.
We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods in both our headcount and transaction volume, both of which place substantial demands on our management and
operational resources. We will need to continue to improve our operational, financial, and management controls and our reporting systems and procedures to manage this
growth. For example, in the previous three years, our headcount grew from over 750 employees as of the beginning of 2019, to over 1,800 global employees as of December
31, 2021, and we expect our headcount to continue to grow. Additionally, we may not be able to hire new employees quickly enough to meet our needs or we may fail to
effectively integrate, develop, and motivate our new employees. If we cannot efficiently and quickly hire and manage our growing number of employees, our employee
morale, productivity, and retention could suffer, and our business and operating results could be materially and adversely affected.
Further, as we continue to grow, our business becomes increasingly complex and requires more resources. We have expended and anticipate continuing to expend significant
capital expenditures and other resources on expanding our IT infrastructure, streamlining our business and management processes, and other operational areas. Continued
growth could strain our existing resources and we could experience operating difficulties in managing our business across numerous jurisdictions. Failure to effectively scale
could harm our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit personnel and to effectively focus on our growth strategy.
For example, our controls, policies and procedures, including with respect to accounting, risk management, data privacy, cybersecurity, client on-boarding, transaction
monitoring and reliance on manual controls, among other compliance matters, remain under development and may not be consistently applied or fully effective to identify,
monitor and manage all risks of our business as we continue to scale rapidly. If we do not inform, train and manage our employees properly, we may fail to comply with
applicable laws and regulations, which could lead to adverse regulatory action. Moreover, the process by or speed with which our internal controls and procedures are
implemented or adapted to changing regulatory or commercial requirements may be inadequate to ensure full and immediate compliance, leaving us vulnerable to
inconsistencies and failures that may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. If our controls, policies and procedures are
not fully effective or we are not successful in identifying and mitigating all risks to which we are or may be exposed, we may suffer uninsured liability, harm to our
reputation or be subject to litigation or regulatory actions that could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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If we, our partners, or our industry generally are unable to provide a high-quality and secure customer experience in the various locales in which we operate, our brand
could suffer reputational damage and our business results could be harmed.
Our business is largely driven by and reliant on customer trust in our handling of money remittances. The pricing and reliability of our service, the security of personally
identifiable and other sensitive information of our customers, and a responsive and effective customer support function are each critical elements for the maintenance of this
trust. For example, any significant interruption in either our internal or our partners’ risk management, payment processing or disbursement systems could reduce customer
confidence in our services. In addition, any breach, or reported breach, of our systems, our information security policies, or legal requirements that results in a compromise
of customer data or causes customers to believe their data has been compromised could have a significant negative effect on our business. Legal claims and regulatory
enforcement actions could also arise in response to these events, which would further exacerbate erosion of customer trust and potentially result in operating losses and
liabilities. If we are unable to maintain affordable pricing, deliver services reliably and securely, or address customer support issues in an effective and timely manner, our
reputation and our business and operating results could suffer material harm. In addition, any erosion in confidence in digital financial service providers as a means to
transfer money generally could have a similar negative effect on us.
We transfer large sums of customer funds daily, and are subject to the risk of loss due to errors or fraudulent or illegitimate activities of customers or third parties, any
of which could result in financial losses or damage to our reputation and trust in our brand, which would harm our business and financial results.
Our business is subject to the risk of financial losses as a result of operational errors, fraudulent activity, employee misconduct, or other similar actions or errors on our
platform or our partners’ platform solutions. We have been in the past, and will continue to be, subject to losses due to software errors in our platform, operational errors by
our employees or third-party service providers. For example, incorrect input of payments into a third party processor’s systems has in the past affected the issuance rebates
we received from our card services provider, which in turn negatively impacted revenue. In addition, we also are regularly targeted by parties who seek to commit acts of
financial fraud, using a variety of techniques, including stolen bank accounts, compromised business email accounts, employee fraud, account takeover, false applications,
and check fraud. We are also routinely targeted for illegitimate transactions such as money laundering. These risks are inherently greater for us because our corridors for
remittances are generally from developed to developing economies, which have traditionally been highly targeted by bad actors perpetrating fraud or other unwanted
activity. The methods used to perpetrate these illegal activities are continually evolving, and we expend considerable resources to monitor and prevent them. Our risk
management efforts may not effectively prevent, and we may suffer losses from, these errors and activities and, in some cases, our usual risk allocation agreements and
insurance coverages may not be sufficient to cover these losses. We have experienced transaction losses of $29.7 million, or 0.15%, $17.2 million, or 0.14%, and $7.6
million, or 0.11%, of total send volume in connection with such errors, fraud, and misconduct in the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. We
expect that losses of similar or greater magnitude may occur again in the future. If any of these errors or illegitimate or fraudulent activities are significant, we may be
subject to regulatory enforcement actions, suffer significant losses or reputational harm and our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely
affected.
We have a history of operating losses and there is no assurance that our business will become profitable or that, if we achieve profitability, we will be able to sustain it.
We were incorporated in 2011 and we have experienced net losses since inception. We generated net losses of $38.8 million, $32.6 million, and $51.4 million for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019. While we have experienced significant revenue increases in recent periods, we are not certain whether our customer base will
continue to expand to the point where we may achieve profitability. If the assumptions we use to plan our business are incorrect or change, or if we are unable to maintain
consistent revenue, it may be difficult to achieve and maintain profitability. Our revenue from any prior quarterly or annual periods should not be relied upon as an
indication of our future revenue or revenue growth. We have historically spent, and intend to continue to spend, significant funds to further develop and secure our
technology platform, develop new products and functionalities, invest in marketing programs to drive new customer acquisition, expand strategic partner integrations, and
support international expansion into new payment corridors. These efforts may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in increasing our
revenue sufficiently to offset these higher expenses. We will also face increased compliance and security costs associated with growth, the expansion of our customer base
and corridors, and being a public company. Our history of net losses has also caused us to at times draw on our then-outstanding revolving lines of credit to satisfy our
capital requirements and any inability to maintain or secure financing on satisfactory terms could materially and adversely impact our business. Our financial performance
each quarter is also impacted by circumstances beyond our control, such as our ability to retain our customers, ability to efficiently attract new customers, corridor mix,
revenue mix and seasonality. We may incur significant losses in the future for several reasons, including the other risks described herein, and unforeseen expenses,
difficulties, complications and delays, and other unknown events. If we are unable to achieve and sustain profitability, the value of our business and common stock may be
adversely affected.
Our recent rapid growth, including growth in our volume of payments, may not be indicative of our future growth. Our rapid growth also makes it difficult to evaluate
our future prospects and may increase the risk that we will not be successful.
Our revenue was $458.6 million, $257.0 million and $126.6 million, and our send volume was over $20.4 billion, $12.1 billion and $7.1 billion, for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. Although a large market share for remittance services remains untapped by us, we have recently experienced significant
growth in our revenue and send volume. However, even if our revenue continues to increase, we expect that our growth rate will decline in the future as a result of a variety
of factors, including the increasing scale of our business and the return to work as communities around the world recover from the COVID-19 pandemic. Overall growth of
our revenue depends on a number of factors, including our ability to:
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•
•
•
•

maintain the rates at which customers transact on our platform;
attract new customers;
expand the functionality and scope of the products we offer on our platform;
price our services competitively;

•
•
•

maintain high quality, highly available products;
maintain trust with our customers;
maintain send volume;

•
•
•

provide our customers with high-quality customer support that meets their needs;
introduce our services in new payment corridors and markets, including maintaining existing and obtaining new money transmitter licenses;
localize our services;

•
•

successfully identify and acquire or invest in businesses, products, or technologies that we believe could complement or expand our platform; and
increase awareness of our brand and successfully compete with other companies.

We may not successfully accomplish any of these objectives, which makes it difficult for us to forecast our future operating results. If the assumptions that we use to plan
our business are incorrect or change in reaction to changes in our market, or if we are unable to maintain consistent revenue or revenue growth, our stock price could be
volatile, and it may be difficult to achieve and maintain profitability. Additionally if we fail to address the risks and difficulties that we face, including those associated with
the factors listed above as well as those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section, our growth rate will be adversely affected. You should not rely on our revenue for
any prior quarterly or annual periods as any indication of our future revenue or revenue growth.
We expect our revenue mix to vary over time, which could affect our results of operations.
We expect our revenue mix to vary over time, particularly if our recently introduced products grow to represent a larger portion of our revenue. Shifts in our business mix
from quarter to quarter could produce substantial variation in revenue recognized. Further, our results of operations could be affected by changes in revenue mix and costs,
together with numerous other factors, including, but not limited to, fluctuations in the demand for our services, the pricing of our services and our corridor mix. Any one of
these factors or the cumulative effects of certain of these factors may result in significant fluctuations in our results of operations. This variability and unpredictability could
result in our failure to meet internal expectations or those of securities analysts or investors for a particular period.
Intellectual Property, Technology, Privacy and Security Risks
Cyberattacks or data security breaches could result in serious harm to our business, reputation and financial condition.
As our business continues to rapidly grow, so do the scope and level of risk associated with cyberattacks and data or other information security breaches. Numerous and
evolving cybersecurity threats, including advanced and persisting cyberattacks, ransomware, cyber extortion, phishing and social engineering schemes, the introduction of
computer viruses or other malware, and the physical destruction of all or portions of our IT infrastructure and those of third parties with whom we partner could compromise
the confidentiality, availability, and integrity of the data in our systems. We have experienced from time to time, and may experience in the future, security incidents due to
human error, malfeasance, insider threats, system errors or vulnerabilities, or other irregularities.
In particular, because we rely on third-party technology providers in our business, we rely on the cybersecurity practices and policies adopted by these third parties. Our
ability to monitor our third-party technology providers’ cybersecurity practices is limited. Our third-party technology providers, disbursement partners and other third
parties, including downstream service providers, who have access to our data also may experience these types of events, and we experience additional exposure to these
risks through these partners. If bad actors gain improper access to our systems or databases or those of our disbursement partners and other third parties who have access to
our data, they may be able to steal, publish, delete, copy, unlawfully, or fraudulently use or modify data, including personal information and/or blackmail us to pay a ransom.
A security breach could result in monetary and other losses for us or our customers; identity theft for our customers; the inability to expand our business; additional scrutiny,
restrictions, fines or penalties from regulatory or governmental authorities; loss of customers and customer confidence in our services; on-going regulatory oversight,
assessments and audits; exposure to civil litigation; a breach of our contracts with lenders or other third parties; liquidity risks or a negative impact on our relationships with
our financial services providers; including payment processors; disbursement partners; and other third parties, all which could harm our business, financial condition, and
operating results. Also, our reputation could suffer irreparable harm, causing our current and prospective clients to decline to use our solutions in the future. Further, we
could be forced to expend significant financial and operational resources in response to a security breach, including repairing system damage; increasing security protection
costs; investigating and remediating any information security vulnerabilities; complying with data breach notification obligations and applicable laws; and defending against
and resolving legal and regulatory claims, all of which could divert resources and the attention of our management and key personnel away from our business operations and
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results. While we maintain insurance policies, our coverage may be insufficient to
compensate us for all losses caused by security breaches, and any such security breaches may result in increased costs for such insurance. We also cannot ensure that our
existing cybersecurity insurance coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or that the insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful
assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available
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insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements,
could adversely affect our reputation and our business, financial condition, and operating results.
In addition, the trend towards working from home and using private residential networks to access the internet, which has arisen in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and
other global economic and labor market conditions, may further exacerbate risks associated with cyberattacks and data security breaches, because we cannot guarantee these
private work environments and electronic connections to our work environment have the same robust security measures deployed in our physical offices.
For additional information, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fires, floods, public health crises, pandemics, and other
natural catastrophic events, and to interruption by man-made problems such as cyber-attacks, ransomware internal or third-party system failures, political unrest, market or
currency disruptions, and terrorism, which could result in system and process failures and interruptions which could harm our business.”
We are subject to privacy laws across multiple jurisdictions which are highly complex, overlapping, frequently changing, and which create compliance challenges that
may expose us to substantial costs, liabilities, or loss of customer trust. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with these laws could harm our business.
The legal and regulatory environment relating to “privacy and data protection laws” (as discussed under “Business—Privacy and Cybersecurity”) continues to develop and
evolve in ways we cannot predict, including with respect to technologies such as cloud computing, AI, machine learning, cryptocurrency, and blockchain technology. We
have internal and publicly posted policies regarding our collection, processing, use, disclosure, deletion and security of information. Although we endeavor to comply with
our policies and documentation, we may at times fail to do so or be accused of having failed to do so. The publication of our privacy policies and other documentation that
provide commitments about data privacy and security can subject us to potential actions if they are found to be deceptive, unfair, or otherwise misrepresent our actual
practices, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with our
internal or publicly available privacy or cybersecurity policies or with privacy and data protection laws could result in proceedings or actions against us (including class
actions) by data protection authorities, government entities, customers, or others. Such proceedings or actions could subject us to significant fines, penalties, judgments, or
negative publicity which may require us to change our business practices, divert resources and the attention of our management and key personnel away from our business
operations, increase the costs and complexity of compliance, and materially harm our business. In addition, compliance with inconsistent or new privacy and cybersecurity
laws could impact our business strategies and the availability of previously useful data, increase our potential liability, increase our compliance costs, require changes in
business practices and policies and adversely impact our business. For additional discussion about privacy and the regulatory environment that we operate in, please see Part
I, Item 1, Business, in the section titled “Privacy and Cybersecurity”.
A security breach of our system could trigger a breach of our agreements with partners that we rely on to deliver our services and expose us to significant loss.
Our agreements with third parties, including significant agreements with payment processors, credit card and debit card issuers and bank partners, contain contractual
commitments we are required to adhere to related to information security and data privacy compliance. If we experience an incident that triggers a breach of such contractual
commitments, we could be exposed to significant liability or cancellation of service under these agreements. The damages payable to the counterparty as well as the impact
to our service could be substantial and create significant costs and loss of business. For example, if we experience a security breach with respect to credit card or debit card
information that we store, we could be liable to the issuing banks for their cost of issuing new cards and related expenses. In addition, a significant security breach could
result in our being prohibited from processing transactions for any of the relevant network organizations, such as Visa or MasterCard, which would harm our business.
Any significant interruption or failure of our system availability, including failure to successfully implement upgrades or new technologies to our mobile app or website,
could adversely affect our business, financial, and operating results.
The efficient and uninterrupted operation of technologies that we use to deliver our services is essential for the customer experience. This includes maintaining ready
customer access and acceptable load times for our services at all times. Our systems and operations and those of third-party partners have experienced and may experience in
the future interruptions or degradation of service availability due to a variety of events including distributed denial-of-service and other cyberattacks, insider threats,
ransomware, hardware and software defects or malfunctions, human error, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, and other natural disasters, public health crises (including
pandemics), power losses, disruptions in telecommunications services, fraud, military or political conflicts, terrorist attacks, computer viruses or other malware, or other
events. To the extent we cannot effectively address capacity constraints, upgrade our systems as needed, and continually develop our technology platform to maintain
sufficient system availability, new or existing customers may seek other services and may not return to our services as often in the future, or at all. If our service is
unavailable when customers attempt to access it or it does not load as quickly as they expect, customers may lose trust in our service or determine that our services are
unreliable or too slow to meet their needs. This would harm our ability to attract new customers and could decrease the frequency with which existing customers use our
website and mobile solutions. As a result, our business, financial results and operating results may be harmed.
In addition, our platform is currently vulnerable to downtime should a major physical disaster or other event affect the west coast of the United States, where our cloud
services provider is based, and our physical system architecture resides. While we have backups for these systems, our platform would be unavailable for some time were
our normal systems to go down. Further, some of our systems are not fully redundant, and our disaster recovery program has not been fully tested and may not be sufficient
for all eventualities.
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Public scrutiny of internet privacy and security issues may result in increased regulation and different industry standards, which could deter or prevent us from
providing our current services to our customers, thereby harming our business.
The regulatory framework for privacy and security issues worldwide is currently in flux and is likely to remain so for the foreseeable future. Practices regarding the
collection, processing, use, storage, transmission, disclosure, deletion, and security of personal information by companies operating over the internet have recently come
under increased public scrutiny. Due to the amount of personal information we process and handle as a part of our business, currently applicable laws and the
implementation of new laws or amendments have a substantial impact on our operations both outside and in the United States, either directly as a data controller or
indirectly through our partnerships and service providers. State, federal and foreign lawmakers and regulatory authorities have increased their attention on the collection and
use of consumer data. In addition, many jurisdictions in which we operate have or are developing laws that protect the privacy and security of sensitive and personal
information, including, but not limited to, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (“GLBA”), the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (“CCPA”), the California Privacy Rights
Act of 2020 (“CPRA”), the United Kingdom’s Data Protection Act 2018 (the “Data Protection Act”), and the European General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”).
In addition, we rely on the standard contractual clauses (as promulgated and recently substantially revised by the European Commission), for data transfers from the
European Union to the United States. As supervisory authorities continue to issue further guidance on personal data, we could suffer additional costs, complaints, or
regulatory investigations or fines, and if we are otherwise unable to transfer personal data between and among countries and regions in which we operate, it could affect the
manner in which we provide our services, the geographical location or segregation of our relevant systems and operations, and could adversely affect our financial results.
For additional discussion about the cybersecurity and privacy regulatory environment that we operate in, see Part I, Item 1, Business in the section titled “Privacy and
Cybersecurity”.
The various privacy and cybersecurity laws and regulations with which we must comply are complex and evolving. Compliance with such laws and regulations requires that
we expend significant resources, and we cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully comply with all such privacy and cybersecurity laws and regulations,
especially where they do or may in the future conflict with one another, nor can we predict the extent to which such new and evolving regulatory and legal requirements will
impact our business strategies and the cost or availability of previously useful data, increase our potential liability, increase our compliance costs, require changes in business
practices and policies, or otherwise adversely affect our business. Furthermore, any data breach or a failure by us to comply with the cybersecurity and privacy regulations
and laws which we are subject to could result in penalties and fines, or in civil litigation against us, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, including on
how we process and use personal data, on our financial condition, and our operating results.
We believe our policies and practices materially comply with applicable privacy guidelines and other applicable laws and regulations under which we are regulated.
However, if our belief proves incorrect, if there are changes to the guidelines, laws, or regulations, or their interpretation, or if new regulations are enacted that are
inconsistent with our current business practices, our business could be harmed. We may be required to change our business practices, services, security policies or privacy
policies, reconsider any plans to expand or operate internationally, or obtain additional consents from our customers before collecting or using their information, among
other changes. Changes like these could increase our operating costs and potentially make it more difficult for customers to use our services, resulting in less revenue or
slower growth.
If we are unable to adequately protect or enforce our IP Rights, our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results could be harmed.
The Remitly brand and the trademarks, service marks, trade names, copyrights, domain names, trade dress, patents and trade secrets, and other IP Rights that support that
brand are important to our business. We rely on, and expect to continue to rely on, a combination of intellectual property laws, as well as confidentiality, invention
assignment, and license agreements with our employees, contractors, consultants, and other third parties with whom we work, to establish and protect our brand, proprietary
technology, and other IP Rights. However, effective protection of our IP Rights may not be available in every jurisdiction in which we offer our services and, where such
laws are available, our efforts to protect such rights may not be sufficient or effective and such rights may be found invalid or unenforceable or narrowed in scope. If we are
unable to prevent third parties from using or offering technologies or services that infringe on, misappropriate or otherwise violate our IP Rights, our business results could
be adversely affected.
In addition, effective protection of our IP Rights is expensive to maintain. We have in the past and may in the future bring claims against third parties alleging infringement,
misappropriation, or other violation of our IP Rights. Our efforts to enforce our IP Rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims, and countersuits attacking the
ownership, scope, validity and enforceability of such rights. The outcome in any such lawsuits are unpredictable. Even if resolved in our favor, such lawsuits may cause us
to incur significant expenses, and could distract our technical and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. Moreover, because of the substantial amount of
discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during
this type of litigation. Any of the foregoing or any inability to enforce or otherwise defend our IP Rights could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position,
business, financial condition, and results of operations.
For example, we have registered domain names for our website that we use in our business, such as www.remitly.com. If we lose the ability to use a domain name, whether
due to trademark claims, failure to renew the applicable registration, or any other cause, we may be forced to market our services under a new domain name, which could
diminish our brand or cause us to incur significant expenses to purchase rights to the domain name in question. In addition, our competitors and others could attempt to
capitalize on our brand recognition by using domain names similar to ours. We may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring and using domain names that infringe
on, are similar to, or otherwise decrease the value of our brand or our trademarks or service marks.
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We pursue registration of trademarks and service marks in the United States and in certain, but not all, current or potential jurisdictions outside of the United States, but
doing so may not always be successful or cost-effective. We rely on common law (unregistered) trademark rights in certain jurisdictions where possible, but many countries
do not recognize common law rights. Even if we apply to register our trademarks, our trademark applications may not be granted. Additionally, rights in common law
trademarks are not always entitled to the same protections as registered trademarks, and are generally limited to the geographic region in which the trademark is used. We
have relied on, and may in the future rely on, the well-known status of the REMITLY trademark in opposition or cancellation actions against potentially conflicting marks in
jurisdictions where we do not own registrations, but we may be unable to protect our trademark and service mark rights, and third parties have in the past, and may again in
the future, file or acquire trademarks and/or service marks that are similar to, infringe upon, dilute or diminish the value of our IP Rights. Opposition or cancellation
proceedings may in the future be filed against our trademark and service mark applications and registrations, and our trademarks and service marks may not survive such
proceedings. If third parties register or develop common law rights which adversely affect our brand or IP Rights and we are unable to successfully challenge such thirdparty rights, we may not be able to use our trademarks and service marks to further develop brand recognition.
We also rely on our proprietary technology and trade secrets. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary technology and trade secrets, unauthorized parties may attempt to
misappropriate, reverse engineer, independently develop, or otherwise obtain and use them. The contractual provisions that we enter into with employees, contractors,
consultants, disbursement partners, vendors, and customers may not prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of our proprietary technology or trade secrets and may not
provide an adequate remedy in the event of such unauthorized use or disclosure. We also cannot guarantee that we have entered into such agreements with each party that
may have or has had access to our trade secrets or proprietary technology or that our invention assignment agreements will be effective. Moreover, policing unauthorized use
of our technologies, services, and intellectual property is difficult, expensive, and time consuming, particularly in countries where the laws and enforcement of said laws
may not effectively protect our IP Rights. In addition, we may be unable to determine the extent of any unauthorized use or infringement, misappropriation, or other
violation of our services, technologies, or IP Rights. Any failure to adequately protect or enforce our IP Rights, or significant costs incurred in doing so, could materially
harm our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.
We also license certain third-party intellectual property that is important to our business, including technologies, data, content and software from third parties, and in the
future we may license additional valuable third-party intellectual property or technology. If we fail to comply with any of the obligations under our license agreements, we
may be required to pay damages and the licensor may have the right to terminate the license, which would cause us to lose valuable rights, and could prevent us from selling
our services, or inhibit our ability to commercialize current or future services.
Assertions by third parties of infringement, misappropriation, or other violations by us of their IP Rights could result in significant costs and substantially harm our
business and operating results.
Intellectual property disputes are common in the payments and digital financial services industries. We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our IP Rights,
and we may be subject to claims by third parties that we have infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated their intellectual property. Some companies in the digital
financial services industry, including some of our competitors, own large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks, and trade secrets, which they may use to assert claims
against us. Third parties have asserted and may in the future assert claims of infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of intellectual property rights against us. As
the number of services and competitors in our market increases and overlaps occur, claims of infringement, misappropriation, and other violations of intellectual property
rights may increase. Any claim of infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of intellectual property rights by a third party, even those without merit, could cause us
to incur substantial costs defending against the claim and could distract our management. In addition, an adverse outcome of a dispute may require us to pay substantial
damages; cease making, licensing, or using solutions that are alleged to infringe or misappropriate the intellectual property of others; expend additional development
resources to attempt to redesign our services or otherwise to develop non-infringing technology, which may not be successful; enter into potentially unfavorable royalty or
license agreements to obtain the right to use necessary technologies or intellectual property rights; and indemnify our disbursement partners and other third parties. Royalty
or licensing agreements, if required or desirable, may be unavailable on terms acceptable to us, or at all, and may require significant royalty payments and other
expenditures. Any of these events could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Our use of open source and third-party technology could impose limitations on our ability to offer our services to customers.
We use open source software in our services and expect to continue to use open source software in the future. Some open source software licenses require those who
distribute open source software as part of their own software product to publicly disclose all or part of the source code to such software product or to make available any
derivative works of the open source code on unfavorable terms or at no cost, and we may be subject to such terms. Although we monitor our use of open source software to
avoid subjecting our services to conditions we do not intend, such use could inadvertently occur, or could be claimed to have occurred, in part because open source license
terms are often ambiguous. Additionally, we could face claims from third parties seeking to enforce the terms of the applicable open source license. In such an event, we
could be required to seek licenses from third parties to continue offering our services, to make our proprietary code generally available in source code form, to re-engineer
our services, or to discontinue our services if re-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis, any of which could harm our business, financial condition, and
operating results. The terms of many open source licenses to which we are subject have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts, and there is a risk that these licenses
could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to provide our services. In addition to risks related to license
requirements, use of certain open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide
warranties or controls on the origin of software. There is little legal precedent in this area and any actual or claimed requirement to disclose our proprietary source code or
pay damages for breach of contract could harm our business and could help third parties, including our competitors, develop products and services that are similar to or
better than ours.
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Any of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or manage, and, if not addressed, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
If we do not or cannot maintain the compatibility of our platform with the most popular mobile, desktop, and tablet device and browser platforms, our revenue and
growth prospects may decline.
Our customers access our product offerings increasingly through mobile phones and also through the use of various hardware devices, browser, and software platforms. If
any of the device, browser, or software platforms that our product offerings depend upon change features of their application programming interfaces (“APIs”), discontinue
their support of such APIs, restrict our access to their APIs, or alter the terms governing their use in a manner that is adverse to our business, we will not be able to provide
compatible product offerings, which could significantly diminish the value of our product offerings and harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
The functionality and popularity of our product offerings depends, in part, on our ability to integrate our systems with the systems of our strategic partners. These strategic
partners periodically update and change their systems, and although we have been able to adapt our systems to their evolving needs in the past, there can be no guarantee
that we will be able to do so in the future. While we have multiple API integrations and partner redundancies built into our systems, if we are unable to adapt to the needs of
our strategic partners’ systems, our remittance transaction process may be interrupted or delayed, and our strategic partners may terminate their agreements with us, leading
to a loss of access to large numbers of customers at the same time and consequent negative impact on our growth and customer retention.
We may not be able to enforce our IP Rights throughout the world.
We may be required to protect our proprietary technology in an increasing number of jurisdictions, a process that is expensive and may not be successful, or which we may
not pursue in every location due to costs, complexities or other reasons. Filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending, and enforcing IP Rights on our products, services, and
technologies in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and our IP Rights in some countries outside the United States can be less extensive than
those in the United States. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained intellectual property rights to develop their own products and
services and, further, may export otherwise infringing, misappropriating or violating products and services to territories where we have intellectual property protection but
enforcement is not as strong as that in the U.S. These products and services may compete with our products and services, and our IP Rights may not be effective or sufficient
to prevent them from competing.
In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as U.S. laws, and many companies have encountered significant
challenges in establishing and enforcing their proprietary rights outside of the United States. These challenges can be caused by the absence or inconsistency of the
application of rules and methods for the establishment and enforcement of intellectual property rights outside of the United States. In addition, the legal systems of some
countries, particularly developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of intellectual property protection. This could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement,
misappropriation or other violation of our IP Rights. Accordingly, we may choose not to seek protection in certain countries, and we will not have the benefit of protection in
such countries. Proceedings to enforce our IP Rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our
business. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our IP Rights in such countries may be inadequate. In addition, changes in the law and legal decisions by U.S. courts and
foreign countries may affect our ability to obtain adequate protection for our products, services and other technologies and the enforcement of our IP Rights. Any of the
foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Legal and Compliance Risks
Failure to comply with sanctions laws, anti-terrorist financing laws, anti-money laundering laws, and similar laws associated with our activities outside of the United
States, could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.
We have implemented policies and procedures designed to allow us to comply with anti-money laundering laws and economic sanctions laws and prevent our platform from
being used to facilitate business in countries or with persons or entities designated on lists promulgated by OFAC and equivalent international authorities. We may utilize the
services of vendors, such as screening tools, in implementing such policies and procedures. In the event that we or any of our users engage in any conduct, intentionally or
not, that facilitates money laundering, terrorist financing, or other illicit activity, or that violates anti-money laundering or sanctions laws, or otherwise constitutes activity
that is prohibited by such laws, including through the fault of any vendor, we may be subject to fines, penalties, lawsuits, and enforcement actions; additional compliance
requirements; increased regulatory scrutiny of our business; restriction of our operations; or damage to our reputation or brand.
Law enforcement and regulators continue to scrutinize compliance with these obligations, which may require us to further revise or expand our compliance program,
including the procedures that we use to verify the identity of our customers or monitor our platform for potential illegal activity. In addition, any policies and procedures that
we implement to comply with sanctions laws may not be effective, including in preventing customers from using our services with sanctioned persons or jurisdictions
subject to comprehensive sanctions, including Cuba, North Korea, Syria, Iran, and the Crimea region of Ukraine. Given the technical limitations in developing controls to
prevent, among other things, the ability of customers to publish on our platform false or deliberately misleading information or to develop sanctions-evasion methods, it is
possible that we may inadvertently and without our knowledge provide services to individuals or entities that have been designated by OFAC or are located in a jurisdiction
subject to comprehensive sanctions or an embargo by the United States, and such services may not be in compliance with the economic sanctions regulations administered
by OFAC.
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Consequences for failing to comply with applicable rules and regulations could include fines, criminal and civil lawsuits, forfeiture of significant assets, or other
enforcement actions. We could also be required to make changes to our business practices or compliance programs as a result of regulatory scrutiny. In addition, any
perceived or actual breach of compliance by us, our customers, vendors, or our payment or disbursement partners with respect to applicable laws, rules, and regulations
could have a significant impact on our reputation and could cause us to lose existing customers, prevent us from obtaining new customers, cause other payment or
disbursement partners to terminate or not renew their agreements with us, require us to expend significant funds to remedy problems caused by violations and to avert
further violations, adversely affect our relationship with our partner banks and other commercial counterparties and expose us to legal risk and potential liability, all of which
may adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition and may cause the price of our common stock to decline.
Use of our platform for illegal or fraudulent activities could harm our business, reputation, financial condition, and operating results.
Our platform is susceptible to illegal, improper or fraudulent uses, including money laundering, terrorist financing, sanctions evasion, bank fraud, payments involving child
pornography or human trafficking, and the facilitation of other illegal, improper or fraudulent activity. The digital financial services industry is under increasing scrutiny
from federal, state, and international regulators in connection with the potential for such illegal, improper or fraudulent activities. In addition, our remittance service
facilitates payments to jurisdictions which may in some cases have higher levels of illegal, improper payments. For example, the United States to Colombia and United
States to Nigeria payment corridors have historically been characterized by a high volume of fraudulent payments and are thus particularly high-risk. Our payment system
has been utilized for illegal, improper and fraudulent uses in the past and we cannot guarantee that our policies, procedures and internal controls, or insurance, would
adequately protect our business, maintain our continued ability to operate in the jurisdictions that we serve, or our reputation, especially if such illegal, improper or
fraudulent activities were discovered to have taken place on our platform in the future. Our fraud loss expenses may increase if our fraud systems lose effectiveness or if new
methods or schemes are developed to defraud us. Since the methods and schemes utilized by perpetrators of fraud are constantly evolving or, in some cases, not immediately
detectable, we cannot assure you that our policies, procedures and controls for managing fraud will be effective over time or of our ability to update these measures to
address emerging fraud risks. In addition, if illicit or fraudulent activity levels involving our services were to rise, it could lead to regulatory intervention and reputational
and financial damage to us. This, in turn, could lead to government enforcement actions and investigations, a suspension or termination of our operating licenses, a reduction
in the use and acceptance of our services, or an increase in our compliance costs, any of which may harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
On the other hand, if the measures we have taken to detect illegal, improper or fraudulent activities are too restrictive and/or inadvertently prevent or delay proper
transactions, this could result in suspension of legitimate customer activity on our payment system, deter new and existing customers or otherwise diminish our customer
experience, any of which could harm our business.
Our platform is susceptible to fraud, and our business, reputation, financial condition and operating results could be harmed as a result.
We offer our customers the ability to fund transactions utilizing their credit card or debit card. We also offer bank funding and alternative payment methods. Because these
are card-not-present/online/non face-to-face transactions, they involve a greater risk of fraud. We also release a small percentage of funded transactions for disbursement
prior to our receiving funds from our customers, which exposes us to repayment risk in the event that these customers have insufficient funds in their bank account or are
otherwise invalidated. Additionally, we carry chargeback liability for a large portion of disputed card payment transactions. If we are unable to effectively manage our
payment and fraud risks, we may be placed on fraud monitoring programs put in place by various payment scheme networks, banking partners, and our business and
financial results may be harmed.
Governments and regulators have been and will continue to be pressured to adopt greater protections for consumers which could require us to change our business
model and harm our financial and operating results.
Globally, governmental agencies have been under increasing pressure to implement greater protections for consumers, which could result in enhanced requirements and
obligations for services providers like us. The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) and similar regulatory agencies in other jurisdictions we serve have broad
consumer protection mandates that could result in the promulgation and interpretation of rules and regulations that may affect our business. The CFPB’s Remittance Rule,
for example, establishes threshold requirements for all money remittances involving U.S. participants, including, among other things, disclosure requirements regarding
certain transaction details, receipts, refunds within statutory periods and error resolution. If we were found to be in violation of any of these regulations, our business or
reputation could be harmed and we could face penalties and enforcement action by the CFPB.
In addition, the CFPB administers other regulations and may adopt new regulations governing consumer financial services, including regulations defining unfair, deceptive,
or abusive acts or practices, and new model disclosures. The CFPB’s authority to change regulations adopted in the past by other regulators, or to rescind or alter past
regulatory guidance, could increase our compliance costs and litigation exposure. These regulations, changes to these regulations, and other potential changes under CFPB
regulations could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results and force us to change the way we operate our business. Finally, as a larger participant in the
market for international money transfers, we are subject to the CFPB’s direct supervisory and examination authority. Any weaknesses in our compliance management
system or Remittance Rule program may also subject us to penalties or enforcement action by the CFPB. If the CFPB or other similar regulatory bodies adopt, or customer
advocacy groups are able to generate widespread support for, positions that are detrimental to our business, then our business, financial condition, and operating results
could be harmed.
Our business is subject to a variety of U.S. and international laws and regulations, many of which are unsettled and still developing, and many of which may contradict
one another due to conflicting regulatory goals. Failure to comply with these laws could subject us to regulatory action, claims or otherwise harm our business.
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Our service is subject to a variety of laws and regulations worldwide, primarily from our key send jurisdictions in the United States, Canada, the EEA, the United Kingdom,
Australia, and Singapore. We also work with disbursement partners in various receive jurisdictions, including Nigeria and India, whom we believe are complying with local
laws and regulations. We rely on such disbursement partners to conduct our business and such disbursement partners could fail or be unable to satisfy their obligations to us.
This could lead to our inability to access funds and/or credit losses for us and could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business.
From time to time, additional regulatory agencies may also attempt to assert jurisdiction over our international business activities. These laws are complex, extensive, and
continuously evolving and developing, including laws regarding money laundering, terrorist financing, fraud, data use and retention, theft and misappropriation,
cybersecurity, privacy, anti-spam, consumer disclosure and protection, advertising and marketing, payment processing, money transmission, financial services, currency
controls, and escheatment. These requirements vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and are subject to continued interpretation by regulatory bodies, judicial branches, and
enforcement agencies in each such jurisdiction. These changes can happen quickly and with little notice and, in addition, the scope and interpretation of these laws is often
uncertain and may be conflicting. We or our disbursement partners are subject to reporting, recordkeeping, and anti-money laundering provisions of the laws of each of the
jurisdictions in which we do business. In the United States, for example, the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001 (the “BSA”), and its
implementing regulations, subjects our business to regulatory oversight by the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network and state regulators. We have implemented an antimoney laundering compliance program, including transaction monitoring procedures, to identify and address, among other things, use of our platform by prospective or
existing customers that appears to constitute money laundering or other illegal activity. The BSA, among other laws and regulatory requirements, requires businesses such as
ours to develop and implement a risk-based compliance program designed to prevent and identify money laundering schemes, report large cash transactions and suspicious
activity, and maintain records, such as records about customers who use our services and other transaction records. Regulatory agencies continue to scrutinize compliance
with these obligations, which may require us to revise or expand our compliance program, including the procedures we use to verify the identity of our customers or monitor
international and domestic transactions. In addition, existing laws and regulatory requirements may change and become more stringent, such as requiring us to maintain
records on a larger number of transactions or verify the identity of our customers in a prescriptive way, which could result in greater costs for compliance.
Similarly, in the EEA, we operate through our Irish subsidiary, which is licensed under the local Irish implementation of the EU Payment Services Directive (“PSD”) Under
the PSD, as amended by a revised Payment Services Directive (known as PSD2), and the 4th and 5th Anti-Money Laundering Directive in the EU, our Irish operating
company has increasingly become directly subject to reporting, recordkeeping, and anti-money laundering regulations, agent oversight and monitoring requirements, as well
as broader supervision by EEA member states. Additionally, the financial penalties associated with the failure to comply with anti-money laundering laws have increased in
recent regulation, including the 4th Anti-Money Laundering Directive. Legislation that has been enacted or proposed in other jurisdictions could have similar effects. These
laws and other similar legislation enacted or proposed in the United States and other countries have increased and will continue to increase our costs, and in the event that
we or our agents are unable to comply, could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
We are also required to comply with all economic sanctions imposed by the United States, which are overseen by the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign
Assets Control (“OFAC”), and by those imposed in the international jurisdictions in which we operate, including the European Union and the United Kingdom. Moreover,
we are also subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, (“FCPA”) in the United States and similar laws in other countries that generally prohibit companies and those
acting on their behalf from making improper payments to foreign government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business.
Although we maintain policies and procedures that are designed to comply with these laws, any real or perceived failure to comply with them, and any future laws and
regulations, could result in fines, sanctions, penalties, litigation, enforcement orders, loss of customer confidence, or other harmful consequences, or adversely affect our
relationship with our customers, partner banks and other commercial counterparties, any of which could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results. In
addition, governmental agencies both in the United States and worldwide may impose new or additional rules on money transfers affecting us, our agents, partner banks or
commercial counterparties, including regulations that:
•

prohibit, restrict, and/or impose taxes or fees on remittance transactions in, to, or from certain countries or with certain governments, individuals, and entities;

•
•
•

impose additional customer identification and customer, agent, subagent due diligence, and vendor management requirements;
impose additional reporting or recordkeeping requirements, or require enhanced transaction monitoring;
limit the types of entities capable of providing remittance services, impose additional licensing or registration requirements on us, our agents, or their subagents, or
impose additional requirements on us with regard to selection or oversight of our agents or their subagents;
impose minimum capital or other financial requirements on us or our agents and their subagents;
limit or restrict the revenue which may be generated from money transfers, including transaction fees and revenue derived from foreign exchange;
require additional consumer protection rights to our customers (including) enhanced disclosures);
require the principal amount of money originated in a country to be invested in that country or held in a trust until they are paid;
limit the number or principal amount of remittances, which may be sent to or from a jurisdiction, whether by an individual, through one agent, or in aggregate;

•
•
•
•
•
•

impose more stringent information technology, cybersecurity, data, and operational security requirements on us or our agents and their subagents, including
relating to data transfers and the use of cloud infrastructure;
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•

impose additional risk management and related governance and oversight requirements, including relating to the outsources of services to other group companies
or to third parties; and

•

prohibit or limit exclusive arrangements with our agents and subagents.

For example, the Central Bank of Nigeria previously imposed currency controls that limit repatriation of funds with immediate effect, which required money transmission
businesses, including us, to make substantial adjustments to payments processes that serve Nigerian consumers. While we believe that we are compliant with our regulatory
responsibilities, the legal, political, and business environments in these areas are routinely changing, and subsequent legislation, regulation, litigation, court rulings, or other
events could expose us to increased liability, increased operating and compliance costs to implement new measures to reduce our exposure to this liability, and reputational
damage. The risk of non-compliance is exacerbated when we introduce new products or services that subject us to new laws and regulations. In addition, as we expand and
localize our international activities, we may become increasingly obligated to comply with the laws of the countries or markets in which we operate. In addition, because our
services are accessible worldwide and we facilitate remittances to a growing number of countries, one or more jurisdictions may claim that we are required to comply with
their laws. Local regulators may use their power to slow or halt payments to our customers in those jurisdictions. Such regulatory actions or the need to obtain licenses,
certifications or other regulatory approvals could impose substantial costs and involve considerable delay in the provision or development of our services in a given market,
or could require significant and costly operational changes or prevent us from providing any services in a given market. Additionally, external factors such as economic or
political instability, or natural disasters may make money transfers to, from, within, or between particular countries difficult or impossible. These risks could negatively
impact our ability to offer our services, to make payments to or receive payments from disbursement partners or to recoup funds that have been advanced to disbursement
partners, and as a result could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. In addition, the general state of telecommunications
and infrastructure in some developing countries, including countries where we have a large number of transactions, creates operational risks for us and our disbursement
partners.
Governments may decide to impose restrictions or levy new taxes on money transfers or other digital financial services provided by us, which would harm our financial
results and our business.
Our business could be harmed if a local, state, federal, or international government were to levy taxes on money transfers, as has been proposed in the past. Budget shortfalls
in the United States and many jurisdictions could lead other states and jurisdictions to impose similar fees and taxes, as well as increase unclaimed property obligations.
Such fees or taxes, and any related regulatory initiatives, may be implemented in a manner that conflicts with other laws to which we are bound or in a manner with which
we are unable to comply, and noncompliance could harm our business. It is possible that governments of one or more countries may seek to censor content available on our
website and mobile solutions or may even attempt to completely block access to our website or mobile solutions. Adverse legal or regulatory developments could harm our
business. In particular, in the event that we are restricted, in whole or in part, from operating in one or more countries, our ability to retain or increase our customer base may
be harmed and we may not be able to maintain or grow our revenue as anticipated.
We are subject to anti-corruption laws and regulations, and failure to comply with such laws could harm our business.
We are subject to the FCPA, the U.S. Travel Act, the CFPOA, and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, and may be subject to other anti-bribery laws in countries in which we
conduct activities or have customers. We face significant risks if we cannot comply with the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws that prohibit companies and their agents
and third-party intermediaries from authorizing, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or benefits to foreign government officials, political parties,
or private-sector recipients for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, directing business to any person, or securing any advantage. We have implemented an anticorruption compliance policy, but we cannot ensure that all of our employees, customers, and agents, as well as those contractors to which we outsource certain of our
business operations, will not take actions in violation of our policies or agreements and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible.
Any violation of the FCPA, other applicable anti-corruption laws, and other similar laws could result in investigations and actions by federal or state attorneys general or
foreign regulators, loss of export privileges, severe criminal or civil fines and penalties or other sanctions, forfeiture of significant assets, whistleblower complaints, and
adverse media coverage, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, operating results, and prospects. In addition, responding to any enforcement action
may result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant defense costs and other professional fees.
We are subject to regulations that limit the use of customer funds that we hold at any particular point in time and thus subject to additional regulatory requirements that
could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash flows.
Our regulators expect us to possess sufficient financial soundness and strength to adequately support our business. Licensing requirements generally include minimum net
worth requirements, provision of surety bonds, compliance with limitations on receivables from our affiliates or third parties and the maintenance of reserves in an amount
equivalent to outstanding payment obligations, as defined by our various regulators. Also, our regulators specify the amount and composition of eligible assets that we or
certain of our regulated subsidiaries must hold to satisfy outstanding settlement obligations. These regulators could further restrict the type of instruments that qualify as
permissible investments or require our regulated subsidiaries to maintain higher levels of eligible assets. Any change or increase in these regulatory requirements could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Failure to comply with global and evolving marketing laws could subject us to claims or otherwise harm our business.
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Our marketing practices rely upon a wide range of referral programs, exchange rate and fee-based promotions, e-mail and social media marketing and direct marketing
practices, among other tactics. These marketing practices are subject to a variety of advertising and consumer protection laws and regulatory oversight both in the United
States and in Canada, the EEA, the United Kingdom, Australia, Singapore and the other jurisdictions in which we do business. In the United States, some examples of
applicable legislation includes the CAN-SPAM Act of 2003, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission guidelines with respect to misleading or deceptive advertising or marketing
practices, the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991 (the “TCPA”), state banking laws that prohibit non-banks, including licensed money transmitters, from holding
themselves out as banks or providing banking services, the CCPA, the CPRA, which expands upon the CCPA, the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act (“CDPA”) and
Colorado Privacy Act (“CPA”).
These laws are continuously evolving and developing in light of technological change and regulatory objectives. These laws are overseen by regulators at the national,
provincial and state level and, in some cases, carry private rights of action that may expose us to class-action and private litigation risk. We are, and, from time to time, we
may become, subject to various legal proceedings and regulatory investigation matters and enforcement activities in connection with these laws and regulations. We intend
to cooperate fully with such investigations. We are not presently a party to any legal or regulatory proceedings that in the opinion of our management, if determined
adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition, or cash flows. We believe that our
policies and practices comply with applicable marketing and consumer protection laws and regulations. However, if our belief proves incorrect, if there are changes to the
guidelines, laws, regulations, or their interpretation, or if new regulations are enacted that are inconsistent with our current marketing practices or customer experience, our
business could be harmed or our relationship with our partner banks and other commercial counterparties, could be adversely affected.
Use of social media, endorsers, emails, and text messages may adversely impact our reputation or subject us to fines or other penalties.
We use social media, emails, and text messages as part of our approach to marketing. As social media rules and policies, and laws and regulations rapidly evolve to govern
the use of these channels, the failure by us, our employees or third parties acting at our direction to abide by applicable rules, policies, laws, and regulations in the use of
these channels could adversely affect our reputation or subject us to fines, contractual damages, or other penalties. In addition, our employees or third parties acting at our
direction may knowingly or inadvertently make use of social media in ways that could lead to the loss or infringement, misappropriation, or other violation of IP Rights, as
well as the public disclosure of proprietary, confidential, or sensitive personal information of our business, employees, customers, or others. Any such inappropriate use of
social media, emails, and text messages could also cause reputational damage.
Our customers may engage with us online through our social media platforms, including Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter, by providing feedback and public commentary
about all aspects of our business. Information concerning us, whether accurate or not, may be posted on social media platforms at any time and may have a
disproportionately adverse impact on our brand, reputation, or business. The harm may be immediate without affording us an opportunity for redress or correction and could
have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects.
If our disbursement partners fail to comply with applicable laws, it could harm our business.
Our services are regulated by state, federal, and international governments, regulators, and agencies. Many of our disbursement partners are banks and are heavily regulated
by their home jurisdictions. Our non-bank disbursement partners are also subject to various regulations, including money transfer regulations. We require regulatory
compliance as a condition to our continued relationship with our partners, perform due diligence on them, and monitor them periodically with the goal of meeting regulatory
expectations. However, there are limits to the extent to which we can monitor their regulatory compliance. Any determination that our disbursement partners or the subdisbursement partners of our aggregator disbursement partners have violated laws and regulations could damage our reputation and customer trust in our brand and services,
and may ultimately lead to regulatory action against us by our regulators. It is possible that in some cases we could be liable for the failure of our disbursement partners to
comply with laws or regulations or to operate with sufficient oversight over their disbursement networks, which also could harm our business, financial condition, and
operating results.
In addition, foreign exchange rates could become regulated or foreign exchange purchases could become taxed by the governments in countries in which we do business,
and such governments could implement new laws or regulations that affect our right to set foreign exchange spreads. Such regulations could harm our business.
From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings, disciplinary actions, regulatory disputes, and governmental investigations that could cause us to incur
significant expenses, divert our management’s attention, and materially harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
From time to time, we may be subject to claims, lawsuits (including class actions), government investigations, disciplinary actions, administrative proceedings, arbitrations,
and other proceedings involving competition and antitrust, intellectual property, privacy, cybersecurity, consumer protection, regulatory compliance, securities, tax, labor
and employment, commercial disputes, money transmission, and other matters that could adversely affect our business operations and financial condition. The outcome of
any legal or administrative proceeding, regardless of its merits, is inherently uncertain. Regardless of the merits, pending or future legal or administrative proceedings could
result in a diversion of management’s attention and resources and reputational harm, and we may be required to incur significant expenses defending against these claims or
pursuing claims against third parties to protect our rights. If we do not prevail in litigation, we could incur substantial liabilities. We may also determine in certain instances
that a settlement may be a more cost-effective and efficient resolution for a dispute.
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Where we can make a reasonable estimate of the liability relating to pending litigation and determine that it is probable, we record a related liability. As additional
information becomes available, we assess the potential liability and revise estimates as appropriate. However, because of uncertainties relating to litigation, administrative
and regulatory proceedings, the amount of our estimates could be wrong as determining reserves for pending legal administrative, and regulatory proceedings is a complex,
fact-intensive process that is subject to judgment calls. The results of legal, administrative, and regulatory proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty and determining
reserves for pending litigation and other legal, administrative, and regulatory matters requires significant judgment. There can be no assurance that our expectations will
prove correct, and even if these matters are resolved in our favor or without significant cash settlements, these matters, and the time and resources necessary to litigate or
resolve them, could harm our business. Any adverse determination related to legal, administrative, or regulatory proceedings or a settlement agreement could require us to
change our technology or our business practices in costly ways, prevent us from offering certain products or services, require us to pay monetary damages, fines, or
penalties, or require us to enter into royalty or licensing arrangements, and could adversely affect our operating results and cash flows, harm our reputation, or otherwise
negatively impact our business.
Any future litigation against us could be costly and time-consuming to defend.
In addition to intellectual property litigation, we have in the past and may in the future become subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of
business, such as claims brought by our customers in connection with commercial disputes, employment claims made by our current or former employees, or claims for
reimbursement following theft or misappropriation of customer data. Litigation might result in substantial costs and may divert management’s attention and resources, which
might seriously harm our business, overall financial condition, and operating results. Insurance might not cover such claims, might not provide sufficient payments to cover
all the costs to resolve one or more such claims, and might not continue to be available on terms acceptable to us. In addition, we expect the costs of insurance to increase
generally over time, which may have an impact on our financial results. A claim brought against us that is uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs,
thereby reducing our operating results and leading analysts or potential investors to reduce their expectations of our performance, which could reduce the trading price of our
common stock.
Operational Risks
We are exposed to the risk of loss or insolvency if our disbursement partners fail to disburse funds according to our instructions or were to become insolvent
unexpectedly or funds are disbursed before customer funds are guaranteed to be sufficient.
We are exposed to the risk of loss in the event our disbursement partners fail to disburse funds to recipients according to our instructions. Such reasons could include
mistakes by our disbursement partners in processing payment instructions or failing to correctly classify and process error categories, or negligence, insolvency, or fraud by
our disbursement partners. One or more of our disbursement partners could elect to temporarily withhold money from customers, which would cause delays in any transfers
reaching their ultimate destination. Were such delays to occur, this would cause a loss of trust in the ability of our service to meet the timeline that we set for ourselves and
provide our customers. Were customers to lose trust in our ability to deliver our services in a timely and professional manner, our business and financial results could be
harmed. We are also subject to risk of loss if funds are disbursed before customer funds are guaranteed to be sufficient, which could also harm our business and financial
results.
If there is any material change of service terms or loss of coverage in our payment processors and disbursement network, our business could be harmed.
Our third-party payment processors and disbursement partners are critical components of our business. We partner with payment processors in our send jurisdictions to
provide clearing, processing, and settlement functions for the funding of all of our transactions. We also partner with disbursement partners in our receiving jurisdictions to
disburse funds to recipients via cash pick-up or delivery, bank deposit, or mobile wallet. For payments processing, the terms of service are governed under applicable
payment network rules that are determined by the processor and generally are not subject to negotiation. We may be forced to cease doing business with a payment
processor if its rules and certification requirements governing electronic funds transfers change or are reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to comply. If we
fail to comply with these rules or requirements, we may be subject to fines and higher transaction fees and lose our ability to accept credit card and debit card payments from
customers or facilitate other types of online payments, and our business and operating results would be harmed.
In addition, if we are unable to renew existing agreements or sign new payment processing and disbursement partners under terms consistent with, or better than, those
currently in place, our growth, revenue, and overall business may be harmed. Our payment processors and disbursement partners could choose to terminate or not renew
their agreements with us. Payment processors and disbursement partners could reduce the services provided, cease to do business with us, or cease doing business altogether.
If these events occur and we are unable to secure alternative providers willing to provide services on more preferable terms, this could lead to our inability to clear our
payment instruments or move funds on a global and timely basis as required to settle our obligations. This would negatively impact our revenue as well as our reputation and
brand.
If our disbursement partners do not provide a positive recipient experience, our business would be harmed.
We partner with our disbursement partners to disburse funds to our customers’ recipients. If the experience delivered by our disbursement partners to a recipient is deemed
unsatisfactory for any reason, including because our disbursement partners are not properly trained to disburse money or deliver poor customer service, if wait times at our
disbursement partners’ pick up locations are too long, or if cash pick-up locations are not located in convenient and safe locations and open for business at convenient times,
customers may choose to not use our services in the future and our business would be harmed.
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Increases in various types of fees, such as interchange fees, payment scheme fees and disbursement fees, could increase our costs, affect our profitability, cause us to
lose customers, or otherwise limit our operations.
Our payment processors and disbursement partners charge us fees, which may increase from time to time. Payment processors may pass through payment scheme mandated
costs, such as interchange fees, and changes to these payment scheme fees, or decreases in negotiated rebates could increase our costs. Banks currently determine the fees
charged for bank-originated transactions and may increase the fees with little prior notice. Our card processors have in the past and may in the future increase the fees
charged for each transaction using credit cards and debit cards, which may be passed on to us. Our disbursement partners charge us disbursement fees, which they have in
the past and may in the future increase. U.S. federal, state, or international governments could also mandate a payment processing or remittance tax, require additional taxes
or fees to be imposed upon our customers, or otherwise impact the manner in which we provide our services. If our transaction processing fees increase, it may require us to
change our disbursement options, modify payment methods or take other measures that would impact our costs and profitability or cause us to lose customers or otherwise
limit our operations.
The loss of one or more key members of our management team, or our failure to attract, integrate, and retain other highly qualified personnel in the future, could harm
our business.
We believe our success has depended, and continues to depend, on the efforts and talents of our employees and senior management team, including our co-founders Matthew
Oppenheimer and Joshua Hug. Our future success depends on our continuing ability to attract, develop, motivate, and retain highly qualified and skilled employees who
mirror the diversity and spread of our customers. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we may be unable to find the number of technically talented employees we
need to continue our growth, or we may incur significant costs, costs which we expect to increase generally, to attract and keep such employees. In addition, any future loss
of any of our senior management, key employees, or key technical personnel could harm our ability to execute our business plan, and we may not be able to find adequate
replacements. All of our officers and other U.S. employees are at-will employees, which means they may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, and
their knowledge of our business and industry would be extremely difficult to replace. We cannot ensure that we will be able to retain the services of any of our senior
management or other senior employees. If we do not succeed in attracting well-qualified employees or retaining and motivating existing employees, our business could be
harmed.
Interruptions or delays in the services provided by critical data centers or internet service providers could impair the delivery of our platform and our business could
suffer.
We host our platform using third-party cloud infrastructure services, including two facilities located on the west coast of the United States. All of our services utilize
resources operated by us through third-party providers including Amazon Web Services (“AWS”), a provider of cloud infrastructure services. We do not have control over
the operations of the facilities of AWS and other third-party providers that we use. We therefore depend on our third-party cloud providers’ ability to protect their data
centers against damage or interruption from natural disasters, power or telecommunications failures, criminal acts, and similar events. Our operations depend on protecting
the cloud infrastructure hosted by such providers by maintaining their respective configuration, architecture, and interconnection specifications, as well as the information
stored in these data centers and which third-party internet service providers transmit. We have from time-to-time in the past experienced service disruptions, and we cannot
assure you that we will not experience interruptions or delays in our service in the future. We may also incur significant costs for using alternative equipment or taking other
actions in preparation for, or in reaction to, events that damage the data storage services we use. Although we have disaster recovery plans that utilize multiple data storage
locations, any incident affecting their infrastructure that may be caused by fire, flood, severe storm, earthquake, hurricane, cybersecurity attacks, power loss,
telecommunications failures, unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses and disabling devices, natural disasters, military actions, terrorist attacks, and other similar events
beyond our control could negatively affect our platform, including any disruptions in light of increased usage during the COVID-19 pandemic. In the event that AWS’ or
any other third-party provider’s systems or service abilities are hindered by any of the events discussed above, our ability to operate our platform may be impaired and data
may be compromised. All of the aforementioned risks may be augmented if our or our partners’ business continuity and disaster recovery plans prove to be inadequate. The
facilities also could be subject to break-ins, computer viruses, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism and other misconduct, all of which could lead to data theft or
misappropriation. Any prolonged service disruption affecting our platform for any of the foregoing reasons could damage our reputation with current and potential
customers, expose us to liability, cause us to lose customers, or otherwise harm our business. Also, in the event of damage or interruption, our insurance policies may not
adequately compensate us for any losses that we may incur.
Our platform is accessed by many customers, often at the same time. As we continue to expand the number of our customers and products available to our customers, there
may be interruptions or delays in service. In addition, the failure of data centers, third-party internet service providers, or other third-party service providers to meet our
capacity requirements could result in interruptions or delays in access to our platform or impede our ability to grow our business and scale our operations. If our third-party
infrastructure service agreements are terminated, or there is a lapse of service, or there is interruption of internet service provider connectivity or damage to such facilities,
we could experience interruptions in access to our platform as well as delays and additional expense in arranging new facilities and services.
Moreover, we are heavily reliant on the cloud services provided by AWS. AWS provides us with computing and storage capacity pursuant to an agreement that continues
until terminated by either party. We may not be able to easily switch our AWS operations to another cloud or other data center provider if there are disruptions or
interference with our use of or relationship with AWS, and, even if we do switch our operations, other cloud and data center providers are subject to the same risks. If AWS
unexpectedly terminates our cloud services agreement, we would be forced to incur additional expenses to locate an alternative provider and may experience outages or
disruptions to our service. Any service disruption affecting our platform during such migration or while operating on the AWS cloud infrastructure could damage our
reputation with current and potential customers, expose us to liability, cause us to lose customers, or otherwise harm our business.
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Sustained financial market illiquidity, or illiquidity at our partner financial institutions, could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
We face risks in the event of a sustained deterioration of financial market liquidity, as well as in the event of sustained deterioration in the liquidity or failure of financial
institutions where we deposit money, including financial institutions that hold prefunding accounts for our disbursement partners. In particular:
•

We may be unable to access funds in our investment portfolio, deposit accounts, and clearing accounts on a timely basis to pay transactions and receive settlement
funds. Any resulting need to access other sources of liquidity or short-term borrowing would increase our costs. Any delay or inability to pay transactions could
harm our business, financial condition, and operating results;

•

Our funds are held by us and our disbursement partners, which includes banks, non-bank financial institutions, and aggregators, both in the United States and
abroad. During high volume sending periods, a significant portion of our available cash may be held in an account or accounts outside of the United States. Our
payment processors, the commercial banks that hold our funds, our disbursement partners, and the financial institutions that hold prefunding accounts for our
disbursement partners or our disbursement collateral could fail or experience sustained deterioration in liquidity. This could lead to our inability to move funds on
a global and timely basis as required to pay transactions and receive settlement funds; loss of prefunded balances; or a breach in our regulatory capital
requirements if we are unable to recover our funds; and

•

We maintain cash at commercial banks in the United States in amounts in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit of $250,000. In the event of a
failure at a commercial bank where we maintain our deposits, we may incur a loss to the extent such loss exceeds the insurance limitation.

If financial liquidity deteriorates, our ability to access capital may be harmed and we could become insolvent.
Future acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships, collaborations, or alliances could be difficult to identify and integrate, divert the attention of management,
disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value, and adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.
We have in the past, and we may in the future seek to acquire or invest in businesses, products, or technologies that we believe could complement or expand our platform,
address additional customer needs, enhance our technical capabilities, or otherwise offer growth opportunities. The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the attention
of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating, and pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not such acquisitions are completed. In
addition, we have limited experience in acquiring other businesses, and we may not successfully identify desirable acquisition targets, or if we acquire additional businesses,
we may not be able to integrate them effectively following the acquisition. Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt,
as well as unfavorable accounting treatment and exposure to claims and disputes by third parties, including intellectual property claims. We also may not generate sufficient
financial returns to offset the costs and expenses related to any acquisitions. In addition, if an acquired business fails to meet our expectations, our business, operating
results, and financial condition may suffer.
We may also make significant investments in new products, marketing campaigns, technologies, or services developed solely by us or in conjunction with strategic partners
we identify. For example, in February 2020 we launched Passbook (in partnership with Sunrise), an app-based banking service developed by us and designed to partner with
other financial institutions for money management specifically for multinational customers. We invested significant time and resources in the project. It is possible that our
strategic investments may not become profitable and fail to return our initial investment, and this may have a harmful effect on our business and financial results.
Remitly Global is a holding company with no operations of its own and manages a network of local subsidiaries, each of which is subject to different local regulations.
In the future, we may depend on our subsidiaries to fund our operations and expenses.
We are a holding company with subsidiaries in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, Ireland, Poland, Australia, Nicaragua and Singapore, all of which are
directly or indirectly wholly owned. Managing the regulatory compliance activities for each of these many subsidiaries is a complicated task, and we expend significant
resources in doing so. However, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to keep abreast of the changing legal and regulatory landscapes for each of the jurisdictions in
which our subsidiaries exist. If any of the regulatory environments applicable to our subsidiaries change materially, and we fail to adapt to such change, our business and
financial results may be harmed.
Additionally, as a holding company, we may rely on our operating subsidiaries for distributions or payments for cash flow. Therefore, our ability to fund and conduct our
business, service our debt, and pay dividends, if any, in the future may depend on the ability of our subsidiaries and intermediate holding companies to make upstream cash
distributions or payments to us, which may be impacted, for example, by their ability to generate sufficient cash flow or limitations on the ability to repatriate funds, whether
as a result of currency liquidity restrictions, monetary or exchange controls, regulatory restrictions, or otherwise. For example, certain of our subsidiaries are subject to
minimum capital and liquidity requirements as U.S.-regulated entities and/or the jurisdictions where they do business. Such requirements may limit the ability of these
regulated subsidiaries to dividend or distribute funds to Remitly Global. Our operating subsidiaries and intermediate holding companies are separate legal entities, and
although they are directly or indirectly wholly owned and controlled by us, they have no obligation to make any funds available to us, whether in the form of loans,
dividends, or otherwise. To the extent the ability of any of our subsidiaries to distribute dividends or other payments to us is limited in any way, our ability to fund and
conduct our business, service our debt, and pay dividends, if any, could be harmed.
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Expansion into new international markets and payment corridors will expose us to risks associated with handling of additional currencies and compliance with local
regulations and law.
As our international operations increase, or more of our expenses are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, our operating results may be more greatly
affected by fluctuations in local markets or the exchange rates of the currencies in which we do business.
There are significant costs and risks inherent in conducting business in international markets, including:
•

establishing and maintaining effective controls at international locations and the associated costs;

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

increased competition from local providers;
compliance with international laws and regulations, including data privacy and cyber security frameworks similar to the GDPR;
adapting to doing business in other languages or cultures;
compliance with local tax regimes, including potential double taxation of our international earnings, and potentially adverse tax consequences due to U.S. and
international tax laws as they relate to our international operations;
compliance with anti-bribery laws, such as the FCPA, the CFPOA, and the U.K. Bribery Act;
currency exchange rate fluctuations and related effects on our operating results;
economic and political instability in some countries;
the uncertainty of protection for IP Rights in some countries and practical difficulties of obtaining, maintaining, protecting, and enforcing rights abroad; and

•

other costs of doing business internationally.

As we expand into more international markets, we are faced with greater complexities around having to comply with various sets of local regulations, policies and laws,
which could change in ways that are adverse to our business. In particular, central banks or other regulatory agencies or institutions in the countries we operate could enact
policies that may negatively affect our business, and we may incur increased costs and resources to deal with such unfavorable laws and policies.
These factors and other factors could harm our international operations and, consequently, materially impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.
Further, we may incur significant operating expenses as a result of our international expansion, and it may not be successful. We have limited experience with regulatory
environments and market practices internationally, and we may not be able to penetrate or successfully operate in new markets. We also have more limited brand recognition
in certain parts of the world, leading to delayed acceptance of our platform by international customers. If we cannot continue to expand internationally and manage the
complexity of our global operations successfully, our financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.
A substantial amount of our revenue is derived from remittances to Mexico, the Philippines and India and our business could be significantly affected by any adverse
changes in these regions.
Historically, our revenue has been substantially derived from remittances to Mexico, the Philippines and India. Remittances sent to these three countries represented
approximately 70% of our revenue in the year ended December 31, 2021 and approximately 75% of our revenue in the year ended December 31, 2020. Because these
countries account for a substantial portion of our revenue, our business is exposed to adverse regulatory and competitive changes, economic conditions and changes in
political conditions in each of these countries. Moreover, due to the concentration of our revenue in these geographies, our business is less diversified and, accordingly, is
subject to greater regional risks than some of our competitors.
Financial Risks
We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and may identify additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail
to maintain an effective system of internal controls, which may result in material misstatements of our consolidated financial statements. If we fail to remediate any
material weaknesses or otherwise fail to establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, our ability to accurately and timely report our
financial results could be adversely affected.
In connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, two material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting were identified. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weaknesses identified
included the following:
•

We did not design and maintain effective controls over certain IT, general controls for information systems that are relevant to the preparation of our financial
statements. Specifically, we did not design and maintain: (1) program change management controls for certain financial systems to ensure that IT program and data
changes affecting financial IT applications and underlying accounting records are identified, tested, authorized and implemented appropriately; and (2) user access
controls to ensure appropriate segregation of duties and that adequately restrict user and privileged access to certain financial systems, programs, and data to
appropriate Company personnel.
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•

We did not design and maintain effective controls over segregation of duties of journal entries. More specifically, certain personnel had the ability to prepare and
post journal entries without an independent review performed by someone without this ability.

These material weaknesses did not result in a misstatement to the annual consolidated financial statement periods covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. However,
each of the material weaknesses described above, individually and aggregated could impact the effectiveness of IT-dependent controls (such as automated controls that
address the risk of material misstatement to one or more assertions, along with IT controls and underlying data that support the effectiveness of system-generated data and
reports) that could result in misstatements potentially impacting all financial statement accounts and disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or
interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have not remediated these
material weaknesses, as described in more detail in Item 9A within this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We are working to remediate these material weaknesses in our
internal controls over financial reporting; however, full remediation could potentially go beyond our next fiscal year.
We continue to focus on remediation efforts and seek improvements to enhance our control environment, which we expect will require significant costs and place significant
demands on our financial and operational resources; however, at this time, we cannot provide an estimate of the costs expected to be incurred.
We cannot assure you that the measures that we have taken, and that we will take, to remediate the aforementioned remaining material weaknesses will, in fact, remedy the
material weaknesses or will be sufficient to prevent future material weaknesses from occurring. We also cannot assure you that we have identified all of our existing material
weaknesses. If we fail to remediate any material weaknesses or otherwise fail to establish and maintain effective internal controls, our ability to accurately and timely report
our financial results could be adversely affected and may result in a restatement of our annual or interim financial statements, which could cause us to fail to meet our
reporting obligations, any of which could diminish investor confidence in us and cause a decline in the price of our common stock.
We have built proprietary financial systems as part of our technology platform. Such systems could become unstable, include defects, experience outages, and include
undetected errors, each of which could adversely affect our business and financial results.
Our proprietary financial systems are an integral part of our technology and business platform, which is a complex system composed of many interoperating components
and which incorporates other third-party software. We have from time to time found defects or errors in our system and may discover additional defects in the future that
could result in financial information unavailability or system disruption. In addition, we have experienced outages on our proprietary financial systems due to circumstances
within our control, such as outages due to software bugs or human error. If sustained or repeated, any of these outages could impact the accuracy and completeness of our
financial information over several reporting periods. In addition, our release of new software functionality may result in future interruptions in the availability of our
financial information. Our financial systems may now, or in the future, contain undetected errors, defects, and vulnerabilities. Errors, defects, outages, vulnerabilities, and
other unintended systems issues could result in an interruption in the availability of our financial information, failure to accurately or timely comply with domestic and
international regulatory financial reporting obligations, or inaccurate and incomplete financial information, any of which could adversely affect our business and financial
results.
If one or more of our counterparties, including financial institutions, aggregators, and local cash pick-up institutions where we have cash on deposit, or our lenders and
potential hedging counterparties, default on their financial or performance obligations to us or fail, we may incur significant losses.
We have significant amounts of cash, cash equivalents and receivables outstanding on deposit or in accounts with banks or other counterparties in the United States and
international jurisdictions. While we do not currently enter into derivative financial instrument transactions as part of currency hedging activities, we may in the future enter
into such transactions with various financial institutions. Certain banks and financial institutions are also lenders under our credit facilities. We may be exposed to the risk of
default by, or deteriorating operating results or financial condition or failure of, these counterparties. If one of our counterparties were to become insolvent or file for
bankruptcy, our ability to recover losses incurred as a result of default or to access or recover our assets that are deposited, held in accounts with, or otherwise due from,
such counterparty may be limited by the counterparty’s liquidity or the applicable laws governing the insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings. In the event of default or failure
of one or more of our counterparties, we could incur significant losses, which could negatively impact our operating results and financial condition.
Fluctuations in currency exchange rates could harm our operating results and financial condition.
Our revenue is derived primarily by the transference of currency between countries for our customer base and is thus reliant on the exchange rates of various currencies
relative to one another, including the U.S. dollar. We have seen increased money transfer volume if the U.S. dollar strengthens against certain currencies, especially the
Indian rupee, the Philippine peso or the Mexican peso. Conversely, we have seen decreased money transfer volume if the U.S. dollar weakens against those currencies. We
are also exposed to risks relating to fluctuations in currency exchange rates between the date on which a customer initiates a cross-border remittance payment and the date
that the remittance recipient receive the funds through our disbursement partners because the foreign exchange rate quoted to the customer is not adjusted for changes
between the initiation date and the settlement date. Additionally, with respect to our revenue which is denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, we may be
adversely affected if such currencies weakened against the U.S. dollar because it would result in lower levels of reported revenue on our U.S. dollar denominated financial
statements.
Macroeconomics factors, including inflation, that weaken the U.S. dollar could harm our operating results and financial condition. Additionally, while the majority of our
revenue and expenses are denominated in the U.S. dollar, certain of our international operations are conducted in foreign
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currencies, a significant portion of which occur in the currencies of Canada, the United Kingdom, Australia and the Philippines. Changes in the relative value of the U.S.
dollar to other currencies may negatively affect revenue and other operating results as expressed in U.S. dollars. Our financial results are also subject to changes in exchange
rates that impact the settlement of transactions in non-local currencies. As a result, it could be more difficult to detect underlying trends in our business and operating results.
To the extent that fluctuations in currency exchange rates cause our operating results to differ from expectations of investors, the market price of our common stock could be
adversely impacted. To date, we have not engaged in currency hedging activities to limit the risk of exchange fluctuations; however, to limit our risk exposure associated
with exchange rate fluctuations we may choose to engage in currency hedging activities in the future. Even if we use derivative instruments to hedge exposure to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, the use of such hedging activities may not offset the adverse financial effects of unfavorable movements in foreign exchange
rates over the limited time the hedges are in place, and may introduce additional risks if we are unable to structure effective hedges with such instruments.
We expect fluctuations in our financial results, making it difficult to project future results, and if we fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors with
respect to our operating results, our stock price and the value of your investment could decline.
Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and are expected to fluctuate in the future due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. As a result,
our past results may not be indicative of our future performance. In addition to the other risks described herein, factors that may affect our operating results include the
following:
•
•

fluctuations in demand for our services or pricing of our fees associated with our services;
our ability to attract new customers;

•
•
•
•

•
•
•

our ability to retain and grow engagement with our existing customers;
our ability to expand our relationships with our marketing, payment processing, disbursement, and banking partners, or identify and attract new strategic partners;
customer growth rates and the revenue derived from and quantity of existing customers retained;
changes in customer preference for mobile-first services as a result of security breaches in the industry or privacy concerns, or other security or reliability concerns
regarding our services;
changes in customers’ budgets and in the timing of their budget cycles and money transfer decisions;
potential and existing strategic partners choosing our competitors’ products or developing their own solutions in-house;
the development or introduction of new platforms or services by our competitors that are easier to use or more advanced than our current suite of services,
especially in respect of the application of AI-based services;
our failure to adapt to new forms of payment that become widely accepted, including cryptocurrency;
security breaches of, technical difficulties with, or interruptions to, the delivery and use of our platform which may result in data theft and/or misappropriation;
the adoption or retention of more entrenched or rival services in the international markets where we compete;

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses;
the amount and timing of payment for operating expenses, particularly technology and development and marketing expenses;
the amount and timing of non-cash expenses, including stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, and other non-cash charges;
the amount and timing of costs associated with recruiting, training, and integrating new employees and retaining and motivating existing employees;
fluctuation in market interest rates, which impacts interest earned on funds held for customers;
fluctuation in currency exchange rates;
the effects of acquisitions and their integration;

•
•

general economic conditions, both domestically and internationally, as well as economic conditions specifically affecting industries in which our customers
participate;
the impact of new accounting pronouncements;

•
•

changes in the competitive dynamics of our market; and
awareness of our brand and our reputation in our target markets.

•
•
•

Any of these and other factors, or the cumulative effect of some of these factors, may cause our operating results to vary significantly. In addition, we expect to incur
significant additional expenses due to the increased costs of operating as a public company. If our quarterly operating results fall below the expectations of investors and
securities analysts who follow our stock, the price of our common stock could decline substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits, including securities class action suits.
Our cash flows may be significantly affected by the day of the week on which a quarter ends. As a result, you should not rely on quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our
cash flows.
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Our cash flows may be affected by the day of the week on which each quarter ends which may affect our quarterly operating results. There can be a delay between when we
release funds for disbursement and when we receive customer funds from our payment processors. For example, if a quarter closes on a Saturday, our cash flow statements
will show a decreased cash balance because we will have wired out funds on Friday which will be available for disbursement on Saturday, Sunday and Monday but we may
not receive customer funds from our payment processors until Monday. In addition, due to time zone differences, an additional day’s worth of funding is required for
disbursements to certain markets. As a result, period-to-period comparisons of our statements of cash flows may not be meaningful, and you should not rely on them as an
indication of our liquidity or capital resources.
Inaccurate forecasts of our customer growth and retention could result in higher operating expenses relative to actual revenue and ultimately harm our business.
Our customer growth forecast is a key driver in our business plan which affects our ability to accurately forecast revenue and expenses. In addition, we plan a portion of our
operating expenses, specifically related to our marketing expenses and customer service and operations headcount needs, in part on our forecasts of customer growth,
retention, and future revenue. Seasonality and foreign exchange rate movements create volatility to these assessments which may adversely impact their accuracy. We also
analyze revenue contributions from customer cohorts acquired during a particular year ended December 31 and revenue associated with those cohorts for each year
thereafter. While we believe these cohorts are fair representations of our overall customer base, there is no assurance that they will be representative of any future group of
customers or periods. Revenue for a particular customer cohort may fluctuate from one period to another depending on, among other factors, our ability to retain and
increase revenue from our customers within a given cohort and changes to the products and services we offer to our customers. If we overestimate customer growth or
retention and customer spend rates, our revenue will not grow as we forecast, our operating expenses may be too high relative to actual revenue levels our business, financial
condition and operating results may be harmed.
If the revenue generated by new customers differs significantly from our expectations, or if our customer acquisition costs or costs associated with servicing our
customers increase, we may not be able to recover our customer acquisition costs or generate profits from this investment.
We invest significant resources in marketing with the aim to acquire new customers and expect to continue to spend significant amounts to acquire additional customers,
primarily through online advertising and marketing promotions. When making decisions regarding investments in customer acquisition, we analyze the transaction profit we
have historically generated per customer over the expected lifetime value of the customer, and, where relevant, look to the estimated future transaction profit on a long-term
basis. Our analysis of the transaction profit that we expect a new customer to generate over his or her lifetime depends upon several estimates and assumptions, including
whether a customer will send a second transaction, whether a customer will send multiple transactions in a month, the amount of money that a customer sends in a
transaction and the predictability of a customer’s sending pattern. The accuracy of our predictions with respect to transaction profits may be subject to greater variance in
new or recently added corridors, as compared to our more established corridors.
Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations which could harm our operating and financial results.
Our net operating losses (“NOLs”) could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities because of their limited duration or because of restrictions
under U.S. or international tax law. NOLs generated in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2018 are permitted to be carried forward for only 20 taxable years under
applicable U.S. federal income tax law. Under the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”), as modified by the CARES Act, NOLs arising in taxable years beginning
after December 31, 2017, and before January 1, 2021 may be carried back to each of the five taxable years preceding the taxable year of such loss, and NOLs arising in
taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020 may not be carried back. Moreover, under the Tax Act as modified by the CARES Act, NOLs generated in taxable years
beginning after December 31, 2017 may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such NOLs generally will be limited in taxable years beginning after
December 31, 2020 to 80% of current year taxable income. The extent to which state income tax law will conform to the Tax Act and CARES Act is uncertain. For these
reasons, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of the NOLs reflected on our balance sheets, even if we attain profitability, which could potentially result in
increased future tax liability to us and could adversely affect our operating and financial results.
Changes and evolving requirements in tax laws or their interpretation, including as applied to us and our customers, could adversely affect our business.
As a multinational organization, operating in multiple jurisdictions we may be subject to increasingly complex tax laws and taxation in several jurisdictions, the application
of which can be uncertain. The amount of taxes we are required to pay in these jurisdictions could increase substantially as a result of changes in the applicable tax
principles, including increased tax rates, new tax laws, or revised interpretations of existing tax laws, potential disputes around transfer prices implemented and precedents,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Such material adverse effect may include the value of any tax loss carryforwards, tax credits recorded on our
balance sheet, the amount of our cash flow, our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.
Many of the jurisdictions in which we conduct business have detailed transfer pricing rules or may comply with the Organization for Economic Cooperation and
Development (the “OECD”) guidelines, which require contemporaneous documentation establishing that all transactions with non-resident related parties be priced using
arm’s length pricing principles. Tax authorities in these jurisdictions could challenge our related party transfer pricing policies and, consequently, the tax treatment of
corresponding expenses and income. If any tax authority were to be successful in challenging our transfer pricing policies, we may be liable for additional corporate income
tax, withholding tax, indirect tax and penalties and interest related thereto, which may have a significant impact on our results of operations and financial condition.
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We are subject to regular review and audit by the relevant tax authorities in the jurisdictions we operate and as a result, the authorities in these jurisdictions could review our
tax returns and impose additional significant taxes, interest and penalties, challenge the transfer pricing policies adopted by us, claim that our operation constitutes a taxable
presence in different jurisdiction and/or that various withholding requirements apply to us or our subsidiaries or assert that benefits of tax treaties are not available to us or
our subsidiaries, any of which could materially affect our income tax provision, net income, or cash flows in the period or periods for which such determination is made.
In addition, tax benefits we currently receive in certain jurisdictions require us to meet several conditions and may be challenged or terminated or reduced in the future,
which would increase our taxes, possibly with a retroactive effect.
A number of U.S. states, the U.S. federal government, and foreign jurisdictions have implemented and may impose reporting or recordkeeping obligations on companies that
engage in or facilitate e-commerce. A number of jurisdictions are also reviewing whether payment service providers and other intermediaries could be deemed to be the
legal agent of merchants for certain tax purposes. Any failure by us to comply with these and similar reporting and record-keeping obligations could result in substantial
monetary penalties and other sanctions, adversely impact our ability to do business in certain jurisdictions, and harm our business.
In addition, the failure by our customers to comply with reporting obligations in connection with transactions on our platform could result in regulatory inquiry, reputational
damage and potential enforcement actions and additional reporting and withholding requirements.
We may not be able to secure additional financing in a timely manner, on satisfactory terms, or at all, to meet our future capital needs, which could impair our ability to
execute on our business plan.
We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, available borrowing under our revolving credit facility, and expected cash flow from operations
will be sufficient to meet our operating and capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, since inception through December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020, the Company has incurred losses from operations, negative cash flows from operations, and had an accumulated deficit of $259.4 million and of $220.7 million,
respectively, and has been dependent on equity and debt financing to fund operations. As such, we may require additional capital to respond to business opportunities
(including increasing the number of customers acquired or acquisitions), capital needed during high volume sending periods, new capital requirements introduced or
required by our regulators and payment processors, challenges, or unforeseen circumstances and may determine to engage in equity or debt financings for other reasons.
We have a $250.0 million revolving credit facility with certain lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acting as administrative agent and collateral agent (the “New
Revolving Credit Facility”, as defined in Note 6. Debt in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10K). We may incur additional indebtedness in the future. We expect to rely on the New Revolving Credit Facility to finance a substantial portion of the capital requirements
and obligations we are subject to in connection with our remittance business. Additionally, certain borrowings under the New Revolving Credit Facility are subject to
variable interest rates. If the interest rate on New Revolving Credit Facility or any alternative financing were to increase, our operating results could be harmed, particularly
because we rely on drawings under our line of credit to satisfy regulatory compliance requirements with respect to maintaining sufficient capital. The credit agreement
governing our New Revolving Credit Facility contains conditions to borrowing and significant restrictive covenants; any failure to satisfy these conditions to borrowing or
covenants could result in us being unable to borrow additional amounts under the New Revolving Credit Facility or having to repay outstanding amounts, and could limit
our ability to execute on our business or growth strategies. If we were unable to refinance the New Revolving Credit Facility or enter into an alternative facility on similar
terms, we may be unable to meet regulatory compliance requirements with respect to maintaining sufficient capital. Additionally, the restrictive covenants impose significant
operating and financial restrictions that may impact our ability to engage in certain transactions or make investments that could be in our long-term best interests. The
restrictive covenants also require us to comply with financial maintenance covenants in certain circumstances; our ability to satisfy these covenants can be affected by events
beyond our control and we cannot assure you that we will be able to comply. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve additional restrictive covenants
relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue
business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. We may not be able to secure additional debt or equity financing in a timely manner, or at all, which could require us
to scale back our business plans and operations.
Failure to maintain sufficient capital could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
We have significant working capital requirements driven by:
•
•
•
•

the delay between when we release funds for disbursement and when we receive customer funds from our payment processors, which can be exacerbated by time
zone differences, bank holidays, national or governmental holidays, and weekends;
regulatory capital requirements pertaining to net worth;
regulatory requirements pertaining to permissible investments and safeguarding of customer funds;
requirements contained in the credit agreement governing our New Revolving Credit Facility;

•
•

collateral requirements imposed on us by our payment processors; and
collateral requirements imposed on us by our disbursement partners.

This requires us to have access to significant amounts of capital, particularly at high volume sending times, which we may not be able to forecast accurately. Our need to
access capital will increase as our number of customers, transactions processed, and total sending volume increases.
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Increases in our send volume processed, even if short-term in nature, can cause increases in our capital requirements. Our ability to meet our capital requirements could be
affected by various factors, including any inability to collect funds from customers, inability to maintain fraud losses at acceptable rates, or incurring unanticipated losses. If
we do not have sufficient capital and are unable to access or raise additional capital, we may not be able to pursue our growth strategy, fund key strategic initiatives, such as
geographic expansion or product development efforts, or continue to transfer money to recipients before funds are actually received from our customers.
In addition, we may not be able to meet new capital requirements introduced or required by our regulators and payment processors. We currently have the New Revolving
Credit Facility to mitigate capital fluctuations, but there can be no assurance that the New Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient or renewed at favorable rates or that
we will have access to additional capital as needed, or at all.
New tax treatment of companies engaged in online money transfer may harm the commercial use of our services and our financial results.
Due to the global nature of the internet, it is possible that various states or foreign countries might attempt to regulate our transactions or levy sales, income, or other taxes
relating to our activities. Tax authorities at the international, federal, state, and local levels are currently reviewing the appropriate treatment of companies engaged in
internet commerce in general and remittances in particular. New or revised international, federal, state, or local tax regulations may subject us or our customers to additional
sales, income, and other taxes. We cannot predict the effect of current attempts to impose sales, income, or other taxes on commerce over the internet. New or revised taxes
would likely increase the cost of doing business online and decrease the attractiveness of using our mobile services. New taxes could also create significant increases in
internal costs necessary to capture data and collect and remit taxes. Any of these events could harm our business and operating results.
Our reported financial results may be materially and adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”), are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the SEC, and various
bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on our reported
financial results.
If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our operating results could be adversely affected.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable
under the circumstances, as provided in Part II, Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Operating Results, in the section titled “Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates.” The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities, and equity, and the
amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Significant estimates and judgments involve the identification of performance obligations
in revenue recognition, the valuation of the stock-based awards, including the determination of fair value of our common stock, among others. Our operating results may be
adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our operating results to fall below the
expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the trading price of our common stock.
We track certain business metrics with internal tools and do not independently verify such metrics. Certain of our business metrics may not accurately reflect certain
details of our business, are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics may harm our reputation and negatively
affect our business.
We track certain business metrics, including active customers, send volume and Adjusted EBITDA, which are not independently verified by any third party and are not
measured according to GAAP. Our internal tools have a number of limitations and our methodologies for tracking these metrics may change over time, which could result in
unexpected changes to our metrics, including the metrics we report. If the internal tools we use to track these metrics undercount or overcount performance or contain
algorithmic or other technical errors, the data we report may not be accurate. In addition, limitations or errors with respect to how we measure data (or the data that we
measure) may affect our understanding of certain details of our business, which could affect our longer-term strategies. If our business metrics are not accurate
representations of our business performance or customer base; if we discover material inaccuracies in our metrics; or if the metrics we rely on to track our performance do
not provide an accurate measurement of our business, our reputation may be harmed, we may be subject to legal or regulatory actions, and our operating and financial results
could be adversely affected. In addition, from time to time we may change the business metrics that we track, including metrics that we report, and any new business metrics
will also be subject to the foregoing limitations and risks.
General Risks
Our customers and business operations are exposed to macroeconomic conditions and geopolitical forces in developing regions and regions that account for a
significant amount of our send volume, which exposes us to risk of loss.
The majority of our total revenue is currently derived from remittances being sent from the United States, Canada, the EEA, the United Kingdom, Australia and Singapore to
India, the Philippines, and Mexico and other locations in Latin America, Africa and Asia. In particular, a substantial portion of our send volume is derived from remittances
being sent to Mexico, the Philippines and India. As a result, any macroeconomic trends and conditions (including a continued rise in inflation) or geopolitical trends that
disrupt these regions or alter their immigration patterns, economic conditions or cultural norms could have an impact on the demand for our services or our ability to provide
such services. Any economic or political
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instability, civil unrest, natural disasters, public health crises, or other similar circumstances affecting these regions could have a disproportionately harmful impact on our
business, financial position, and operating results.
In addition, we have recently ceased all transactions to Russia and Belarus due to the armed conflict in Ukraine and resulting economic sanctions against Russia and Belarus.
Although remittances to Russia and Belarus do not represent a significant portion of our business, the continuation or escalation of the conflict in Ukraine could have
broader geopolitical and macroeconomic consequences and may have an impact to our business beyond the direct impact on Russia and Belarus customers, transactions, and
send volume.
Global trade policy or international relations between larger developed countries could also impact the market for our services or our ability to serve those markets
effectively. For example, Chinese technologies are critical components of many of our disbursement partners, payment processors, and overall distribution network. If there
were a disruption of trade relations between the United States and China, we, and our disbursements partners that rely on these technologies could lose access to these
critical Chinese technologies, which would disrupt our business and could have a material adverse effect on our operations. In addition, the Chinese government could take
action that would create significant competitive advantage to Chinese companies and create obstacles for us.
Changes in U.S. immigration laws or changes in the immigration laws of other jurisdictions that discourage international migration, and political or other events, such as
war, terrorism, or public health crises, that make it more difficult for individuals to immigrate to, or work in, the United States or other countries, could adversely affect our
gross send volume or growth rate. Sustained weakness in the United States or global economic conditions could reduce economic opportunities for immigrant workers and
result in reduced or disrupted international migration patterns. Reduced or disrupted international migration patterns are likely to reduce money transfer volumes and harm
our operating results.
Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fires, floods, public health crises, pandemics, and other natural catastrophic events, and to interruption by manmade problems such as cyber-attacks, internal or third-party system failures, political unrest, market or currency disruptions, and terrorism, which could result in
system and process failures and interruptions which could harm our business.
Our corporate headquarters is located in Seattle, Washington and our cloud services providers and data centers are also largely located in the western United States. The west
coast of the United States contains active earthquake zones. Although our systems have been designed around industry-standard architectures to reduce downtime in the
event of outages or catastrophic occurrences, they remain vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunication failures,
terrorist attacks, public health crises, cyber-attacks, computer viruses, computer denial-of-service attacks, human error, hardware or software defects or malfunctions
(including defects or malfunctions of components of our systems that are supplied by third-party service providers), and similar events or disruptions. As we rely heavily on
our servers, computer and communications systems, and the internet to conduct our business and provide high-quality customer service, disruptions in these systems could
harm our ability to operate our business, impede our employees’ ability to conduct business activities whether at our facilities or from a remote location, and cause lengthy
delays, which could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results. An outage at any one facility could result in our system being unavailable for a significant
period of time. We have disaster recovery programs in place, but these may also fail, prolonging the period of time during which our system and products may not be
available.
Additionally, some of the countries to which our disbursement partners deliver the funds we transfer regularly experience serious political unrest or upheaval. Such political
unrest may lead to temporary or long-term disruptions to our disbursement network in the affected countries. If such disruption were ongoing, our customers may look to
other methods of transferring funds, or we may be unable to resume our services in such countries, and our business and financial results may be harmed.
Cybersecurity attacks continue to increase, evolve in nature, and become more sophisticated, and providers of digital products and services have been and are expected to
continue to be targeted. As computer malware, viruses, computer hacking, fraudulent use attempts, phishing attacks, ransomware, and other data security incidents have
become more commonplace, we face increased risk from these activities to maintain the performance, reliability, security, and availability of our solutions and related
services and technical infrastructure to the satisfaction of our customers. Threats to our computer systems and those of our third-party technology providers or clients may
result from human error, fraud, or malice on the part of employees or third parties, including state-sponsored organizations with significant financial and technological
resources, or from accidental technological failure. Any such computer malware, viruses, computer hacking, fraudulent use attempts, phishing attacks, ransomware, or other
data security breaches to our network infrastructure or IT systems or to computer hardware we lease from third parties, could, among other things, harm our reputation and
our ability to retain existing customers and attract new customers. The insurance we maintain may be insufficient to cover our losses resulting from disasters, cyber-attacks,
or other business interruptions, and any incidents may result in loss of, or increased costs of, such insurance.
For additional information regarding risks associated with cyber-attacks, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Cyberattacks or data security breaches could result in serious
harm to our business, reputation and financial condition.”
While the digital financial services industry and our business has seen accelerated growth as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, it has also adversely affected some
aspects of our business and could have an adverse effect on our business in the future.
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, our business, and the digital financial services industry in general, has seen accelerated growth as digital remittances increasingly
became the choice of senders and receivers; however, we have also experienced disruptions, such as the impact on the ability of our customer support and operations teams,
both internal and third-party, to service customer needs quickly due to longer wait times and the impact on our ability to hire personnel quickly, that could severely impact
our business, our services, global currency exchange rates, local and global labor markets, and the global economy.
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The COVID-19 pandemic has created and is likely to continue to create significant uncertainty in global financial markets. To date, the demand for digital remittances has
increased during the pandemic, and this has driven a significant acceleration in our new customer growth. However, as the pandemic continues and new variants of the virus
emerge, we may experience volatility in customer demand and delayed customer money transfer decisions, which could materially harm our business, operating results, and
overall financial performance.
While we have experienced accelerated growth partially driven by the COVID-19 pandemic, the long-term impact of a volatile or worsening COVID-19 pandemic is
impossible to predict and may negatively impact the purchasing and money transfer habits of our customers and the operations of our business partners in the future, and
may adversely impact our operating results. Cross-border and domestic commerce may be adversely impacted by measures taken by government authorities and businesses
globally to contain and limit the pandemic, including travel restrictions, border closures, quarantines, shelter in place and lockdown orders, mask and social distancing
requirements, and business limitations and shutdowns. In addition, while we have rapidly expanded our business and improved our operating results during the COVID-19
pandemic, many of our customers, who are primarily immigrants, have also suffered negative financial consequences, including wage and job loss, and have thus had less
need for our services. There is no guarantee that those customers who have had less need of our services during the COVID-19 pandemic will return to our platform in the
future. To the extent that mitigation measures remain in place or are reinstated for significant periods of time in response to new variants of the virus or other pandemicrelated developments, they may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results. In addition, actions that we have taken or may take in the future
intended to assist customers impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic may negatively impact our operating results. In particular, we have experienced and may continue to
experience adverse financial impacts from a number of operational factors, including, but not limited to:
•

Increased cybersecurity and payment fraud risk related to the COVID-19 pandemic, as cybercriminals attempt to profit from stolen or misappropriated data and
the disruption in light of increased online banking, e-commerce, and other online activity;

•

Challenges to the availability and reliability of our services resulting from changes to our normal operations, including due to one or more clusters of COVID-19
cases occurring at our (or our service providers’) sites or mandatory local lockdown requirements, which have impacted, and may continue to impact our
employees, our level of customer service, and/or the systems or employees of our customers and business partners; and

•

Increased volume of customer requests for support and regulatory requests and requirements, which could require additional resources and costs to address.

These and other factors arising from the COVID-19 pandemic could worsen in countries that have been or are in the future afflicted with COVID-19, each of which could
further adversely impact the use of our services by our customers, the ability of our employees to perform work, and our business generally, and could have a material
adverse impact on our operating and financial results.
The significant increase in the number of our employees who are working remotely as a result of the pandemic could introduce operational risk, increase cybersecurity risk,
strain our business continuity plans, negatively impact productivity, give rise to claims by employees, or otherwise adversely affect our business. Additionally, we may
require new or modified processes, procedures, and controls to respond to changes in our business environment. We may take further actions as may be required by
government authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, and business partners. There is no certainty that such measures will be
sufficient to mitigate the risks posed by COVID-19 or will otherwise be satisfactory to government authorities.
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to rapidly evolve. The extent to which the pandemic continues to affect our business will depend on future developments, which are
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence. Such developments include the ultimate geographic spread of COVID-19, the distribution and long-term efficacy
of vaccines, the effects of more contagious and virulent variants of COVID-19, the duration of the pandemic, travel restrictions and actions taken to contain the pandemic or
treat its impact, such as social distancing and quarantines or lock-downs, business closures or business disruptions, and the effectiveness of actions taken to contain and treat
the disease. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic continues to adversely affect our business and financial results, it is likely to also have the effect of heightening many of
the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware or other state law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult, limit attempts by
our stockholders to replace or remove our current management, and affect the market price of our common stock.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our
management. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws include provisions that:
•
•
•
•
•

authorize our board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, shares of undesignated preferred stock with terms, rights, and preferences
determined by our board of directors that may be senior to our common stock;
require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by written consent;
specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, the chairperson of our board of directors, or our Chief Executive
Officer;
establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including proposed nominations of persons for election to
our board of directors;
establish that our board of directors is divided into three classes, with each class serving three-year staggered terms;
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•

prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors;

•
•
•

provide that our directors may be removed for cause only upon the vote of sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of our outstanding shares of common stock;
provide that vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by a majority vote of directors then in office, even though less than a quorum; and
require the approval of our board of directors or the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of our outstanding shares of common stock to
amend our bylaws and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to
replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we
are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally, subject to certain exceptions, prohibit a Delaware corporation
from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder
became an “interested” stockholder. Furthermore, while state statutes governing our money transmitter licenses vary, most require investors to receive the approval of, or
provide notice to, the relevant licensing authority before exceeding a certain ownership threshold (as low as 10%), including indirect ownership, in a licensed money
transmitter. Accordingly, current or prospective investors seeking to acquire 10% or greater ownership of us in the aggregate would need to first obtain such regulatory
approvals and provide such notices to the relevant regulators. Any of the foregoing provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for
shares of our common stock, and they could deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the likelihood that you would receive a premium for your shares of
our common stock in an acquisition.
We are an “emerging growth company,” and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will
make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are
applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies,” including the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
(“Section 404”), reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of
holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. Pursuant to Section
107 of the JOBS Act, as an emerging growth company, we have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards until
those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. As a result, our consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to the financial statements of issuers
who are required to comply with the effective dates for new or revised accounting standards that are applicable to public companies, which may make our common stock
less attractive to investors. In addition, if we cease to be an emerging growth company, we will no longer be able to use the extended transition period for complying with
new or revised accounting standards.
We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (1) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering (“IPO”), (2)
the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenue is $1.07 billion or more, (3) the date on which we have, during the previous rolling three-year period,
issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt securities, or (4) the last day of the fiscal year in which the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates
exceeds $700 million as of June 30th, our second fiscal quarter, of such fiscal year.
We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. For example, if we do not adopt a new or revised
accounting standard, our future operating results may not be as comparable to the operating results of certain other companies in our industry that adopted such standards. If
some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock, and our stock price may be more volatile.
We will continue to incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will continue to devote substantial time to compliance with
our public company responsibilities and corporate governance practices.
As a public company, we will incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Global Select Market, and other applicable securities rules and regulations impose
various requirements on public companies. Our management and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to compliance with these requirements. Moreover,
these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. We may not be able to fully
predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we will incur as a public company or the specific timing of such costs.
Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.
Our management team has limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors and securities analysts, and complying with
the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. These new obligations and constituents require significant attention from our management team and could
divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on appreciation in the price
of our common stock.
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We do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our New Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictions on our ability to pay cash
dividends on our capital stock. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales
of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments.
If securities or industry analysts publish unfavorable or inaccurate research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
Our stock price and trading volume is heavily influenced by the way analysts and investors interpret our financial information and other disclosures. If industry analysts
cease coverage of us, our stock price would be negatively affected. If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, downgrade our
common stock, or publish negative reports about our business, our stock price would likely decline.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains exclusive forum provisions for certain claims, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a
favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, to the fullest extent permitted by law, provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the
exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty; any action asserting a claim against us arising
pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, or our restated bylaws; or any action asserting a claim against us
that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.
Moreover, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all claims brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the
Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the U.S. federal district courts will, to the
fullest extent permitted by law, be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act (a “Federal Forum
Provision”). Our decision to adopt a Federal Forum Provision followed a decision by the Supreme Court of the State of Delaware holding that such provisions are facially
valid under Delaware law. While there can be no assurance that federal or state courts will follow the holding of the Delaware Supreme Court or determine that the Federal
Forum Provision should be enforced in a particular case, application of the Federal Forum Provision means that suits brought by our stockholders to enforce any duty or
liability created by the Securities Act must be brought in federal court and cannot be brought in state court. Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal
jurisdiction over all claims brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, and the Federal Forum Provision will
apply, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act. Accordingly, actions by our stockholders to
enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder must be brought in federal court, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Our
stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in any of our securities will be deemed to have notice of and consented to our exclusive
forum provisions, including the Federal Forum Provision. These provisions may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum they find favorable for
disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, and other employees. Alternatively, if a
court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in
an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial
condition.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The stock price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be, volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance, and you may lose part or all of
your investment.
The market prices of the securities of newly-public companies, including ours, have historically been highly volatile and will likely continue to be, volatile. In addition to the
factors discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which
are beyond our control, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

overall performance of the equity markets;
actual or anticipated fluctuations in our revenue and other operating results;
changes in the financial projections we may provide to the public or our failure to meet these projections;
failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow us, or our failure to meet
these estimates or the expectations of investors;
recruitment or departure of key personnel;
the economy as a whole and market conditions in our industry;
negative publicity related to the real or perceived quality of our platform, as well as the failure to timely launch new products and services that gain market
acceptance;
rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry or newly public companies;
announcement by us or our competitors of new products or services (including with respect to cryptocurrency or blockchain technology), commercial
relationships, or significant technical innovations;

38

Table of Contents

•
•

acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments;
new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable or our business;

•
•
•
•

lawsuits threatened or filed against us, litigation involving our industry, or both;
developments or disputes concerning our or other parties’ products, services, or IP Rights;
changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations, or principles;
interpretations of any of the above or other factors by trading algorithms, including those that employ natural language processing and related methods to evaluate
our public disclosures;
other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, natural disasters, pandemics, or responses to those events;
the expiration of contractual lock-up or market stand-off agreements; and
sales of shares of our common stock by us or our stockholders.

•
•
•

In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of
many companies. Stock prices of many companies, and technology companies in particular, have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the operating
performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If we were to become
involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business, and adversely affect our
business.
Concentration of ownership of our common stock among our existing executive officers, directors, and principal stockholders may prevent new investors from
influencing significant corporate decisions.
Based upon the information available to us about our shares outstanding as of December 31, 2021, our executive officers, directors, and current beneficial owners of 5% or
more of our common stock, in the aggregate, beneficially own a substantial percentage of our outstanding common stock. These persons, acting together, will be able to
significantly influence all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election and removal of directors and any merger or other significant corporate transactions.
The interests of this group of stockholders may not coincide with the interests of other stockholders.
Future sales of our common stock in the public market could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur, could depress the market price of our
common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that such sales may have on the
prevailing market price of our common stock.
There were 26,883,553 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options or the settlement of RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2021. We registered all of
the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding options, RSUs, or other equity incentives we may grant in the future, for public resale under the Securities
Act. The shares of common stock will become eligible for sale in the public market to the extent such options are exercised or such RSUs are settled, subject to the lock-up
agreements described above and compliance with applicable securities laws.
There were a total of 164,239,555 shares of our common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2021. All shares of our common stock are freely tradable, except for any
shares purchased by our “affiliates” as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Further, certain holders of our common stock have rights, subject to some conditions, to
require us to file registration statements for the public resale of common stock or to include such shares in registration statements that we may file for us or other
stockholders. Sales of our shares pursuant to registration rights may make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem
appropriate. These sales also could cause the trading price of our common stock to fall and make it more difficult for you to sell shares of our common stock.
We may issue our shares of common stock or securities convertible into our common stock from time to time in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, or
otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders and cause the trading price of our common stock to decline.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties
As of December 31, 2021, we occupied facilities in various countries. Substantially all these facilities were leased. Our corporate headquarters are located in Seattle,
Washington, where we occupy facilities totaling approximately 37,703 square feet under a lease that expires in December 2022. Other significant leased properties include
facilities in Nicaragua, the United Kingdom, the Philippines, Poland, Ireland, and Singapore. We use these facilities for administration, finance, legal, human resources, IT,
marketing software engineering, and customer success.
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We maintain other leased facilities throughout the world. We intend to procure additional space as we add employees and expand geographically. We believe that our
facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future, and that, should it be needed, suitable additional space will be available to accommodate any such
expansion of our operations.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may be subject to legal or regulatory proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including patent, privacy, cybersecurity, commercial,
product liability, employment, class action, whistleblower, and other litigation and claims, as well as governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. In
addition, third parties may from time to time assert claims against us in the form of letters and other communications. We are not currently a party to any legal or regulatory
proceedings that we believe to be material to our business or financial condition. The results of any future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the
outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information
Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ under the symbol “RELY” on September 23, 2021. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our common
stock. As of March 24, 2022, there were 62 stockholders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is significantly greater than this number of
record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use in the operation of our
business and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future.
Stock Performance
The information in this “Stock Performance” section shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the
Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended.
The following data and graph show a comparison of the cumulative total shareholder return for our common stock, the Russell 2000 Growth Index and the KBW NASDAQ
Financial Technology Index from September 23, 2021 through December 31, 2021. This data assumes simultaneous investments of $100 on September 23, 2021 and
reinvestment of any dividends. The stockholder return shown in the graph below is not necessarily indicative of future performance, and we do not make or endorse any
predictions as to future stockholder returns.

Company Index
Remitly Global, Inc.
Russell 2000 Growth Index
KBW Financial Technology Index

$
$
$

9/23/2021
100.00 $
100.00 $
100.00 $

9/30/2021
75.75 $
95.97 $
97.70 $
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10/31/2021
63.20 $
100.45 $
100.21 $

11/30/2021
49.66 $
95.49 $
92.71 $

12/31/2021
42.56
95.87
97.25
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
For information on securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans see “Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
and Related Stockholders Matters” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
The following sets forth information regarding all unregistered securities sold during the year ended December 31, 2021:
•

From January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021, we granted to our directors, employees, consultants and other service providers options to purchase an aggregate of
8,219,753 shares of common stock under our equity incentive plans, at exercise prices ranging from $2.00 to $14.11 per share, for a weighted-average exercise
price of $7.26.

•

From January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021, we issued and sold to our employees, consultants, and other service providers an aggregate of 4,495,889 shares of
common stock upon the exercise of stock options under our equity incentive plans, at exercise prices ranging from $0.05 to $6.55 per share, for a weightedaverage exercise price of $1.85.

•

From January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021, we granted to our employees, consultants, and other service providers an aggregate of 3,112,492 restricted stock
units to be settled in shares of our common stock under our equity incentive plans.

•

Between July 2020 and March 2021, we issued an aggregate of 9,622,110 shares of our Series F convertible preferred stock to accredited investors at a purchase
price of $9.1456 per share for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $88.0 million, of which approximately $3.0 million was issued during the year ended
December 31, 2021. Our Series F convertible preferred stock were converted into an equivalent number of shares of common stock in connection with our IPO.

•

In May 2021, we issued 25,759 shares of common stock to a counterparty in connection with an intellectual property license acquisition in reliance on Rule 506(b)
pursuant to a waiver, release and license agreement entered into by Remitly, Inc., one of our subsidiaries.

•

On September 27, 2021, PayU Fintech Investments B.V. purchased from us 581,395 shares of common stock at a price per share equal to the IPO price of $43.00
in a private placement, for total gross proceeds of approximately $25.0 million.

•

On September 30, 2021, we issued 254,014 shares of our common stock upon the net exercise of outstanding warrants to purchase 256,250 shares of our common
stock with a weighted-average exercise price of $0.42 per share.

Unless otherwise stated, the sales of the above securities were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2) of the
Securities Act (or Regulation D or Regulation S promulgated thereunder), or Rule 701 promulgated under Section 3(b) of the Securities Act as transactions by an issuer not
involving any public offering or pursuant to benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation as provided under Rule 701. The recipients of the securities in each of these
transactions represented their intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and
appropriate legends were placed upon the stock certificates issued in these transactions. All recipients had adequate access through their relationships with us, or otherwise
to information about us. The issuances of these securities were made without any general solicitation or advertising.
Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities
None.
Use of Proceeds
In September 2021, we completed the IPO, in which we issued and sold 7,000,000 shares of our common stock at $43.00 per share. Concurrently, 5,162,777 shares were
sold by certain of our existing stockholders. In addition, the Company concurrently issued 581,395 shares of common stock in a private placement at the same offering price
as the IPO. The Company received net proceeds of $305.2 million for the IPO and private placement, after deducting underwriting discounts and other fees of $20.8 million.
In connection with the IPO, 127,410,631 shares of outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically converted into an equivalent number of shares of
common stock on a one-to-one basis.
All of the shares issued and sold in our IPO were registered under the Securities Act pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-259167), (the “Initial
Registration Statement”) which was declared effective by the SEC on September 22, 2021. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO
as described in our Final Prospectus. The managing underwriters of our IPO were Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC. No payments were made by
us to directors, officers or persons owning ten percent or more of our common stock or to their associates, or to our affiliates, in connection with the issuance and sale of the
securities registered.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial statements and the
related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes. You should read the sections
titled “Risk Factors” and “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.
Overview
Remitly is a leading digital financial services provider for immigrants and their families in over 150 countries around the world. The combination of our differentiated
approach and our relentless focus on meeting the financial services needs of our immigrant communities has resulted in significant customer growth, high customer
engagement, rapid send volume and transaction growth, and attractive customer economics built on top of an expansive global network.
Our Revenue Model
For our remittance business, which represents the vast majority of our revenue today, we generate revenue from transaction fees charged to customers and foreign exchange
spreads applied to the customer’s principal.
Transaction fees vary based on the corridor, the currency in which funds are delivered to the recipient, the funding method a customer chooses (e.g., ACH, credit card, debit
card, etc.), and the amount of the customer’s principal.
Foreign exchange spreads represent the difference between the foreign exchange rate offered to customers and the foreign exchange rate on the Company's currency
purchases. They are an output of proprietary and dynamic models that are designed to provide fair and competitive rates to our customers, while generating a spread for the
Company based on our ability to buy foreign currency at generally advantageous rates.
Revenue from transaction fees and foreign exchange spreads is reduced by customer promotions. For example, we may, from time to time, waive transaction fees for firsttime customers, or provide customers with better foreign exchange rates on their first transaction. These incentives are accounted for as reductions to revenue, up to the
point where net historical cumulative revenue, at the customer level, is reduced to zero. We consider these incentives as an investment in our long-term relationship with
customers.
The trusted relationships we foster with our customers and the repeat nature of their sending behavior has resulted in strong revenue retention rates. This provides a highly
predictable reoccurring revenue stream.
Initial Public Offering and Private Placement
In September 2021, the Company completed its IPO, in which the Company issued and sold 7,000,000 shares of its common stock at $43.00 per share. Concurrently,
5,162,777 shares were sold by certain of our existing stockholders. In addition, the Company issued 581,395 shares of common stock to an existing stockholder in a private
placement at the same offering price as the IPO. The Company received net proceeds of $305.2 million for the IPO and private placement, after deducting underwriting
discounts and other fees of $20.8 million. In connection with the IPO, 127,410,631 shares of outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically converted
into an equivalent number of shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis.

Components of Results of Operations
Revenue
The Company’s revenue is generated on transaction fees charged to customers and foreign exchange spreads between the foreign exchange rate offered to customers and the
foreign exchange rate on the Company's currency purchases. Revenue is recognized when control of these services is transferred to the Company’s customers, which is the
time the funds have been delivered to the intended recipient in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for services
provided.
Costs and expenses
Transaction Expenses
Transaction expenses include fees paid to disbursement partners for paying funds to the recipient, provisions for transaction losses, fees paid to payment processors for
funding transactions, bad debt expense, chargebacks, fraud prevention and compliance tools.
Reserve for Transaction Losses
The Company is exposed to transaction losses including chargebacks, unauthorized credit card use, fraud associated with customer transactions and other non-fraud related
losses. The Company establishes reserves for such losses based on historical trends and any specific risks identified in
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processing customer transactions. This reserve is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The provision for transaction
losses is included as a component of transaction expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.
Customer Support and Operations
Customer support and operations expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses associated with the Company’s customer support and operations organization,
including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation expense, as well as third-party costs for customer support services, and travel and related office expenses. This
includes our customer service teams which directly support our customers, consisting of online support and call centers, and other costs incurred to support our customers,
including related telephony costs to support these teams, customer protection and risk teams, investments in tools to effectively service our customers, and increased
customer self-service capabilities. Customer support and operations expenses also include corporate communication costs and professional services fees.
Marketing
Marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising costs used to attract new customers, including branding-related expenses. Marketing expenses also include personnelrelated expenses associated with the Company’s marketing organization staff, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense, promotions, software
subscription services dedicated for use by the Company’s marketing functions, and outside services contracted for marketing purposes.
Technology and Development
Technology and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses for employees involved in the research, design, development and maintenance of
both new and existing products and services, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense. Technology and development expenses also include
professional services fees and costs for software subscription services, predominantly for use by the Company’s technology and development teams.
We believe delivering new functionality is critical to attract new customers and expand our relationship with existing customers. We expect to continue to make investments
to expand our solutions in order to enhance our customers’ experience and satisfaction, and to attract new customers. We expect our technology and development expenses
to increase in absolute dollars, but they may fluctuate as a percentage of total revenue from period to period as we expand our technology and development team to develop
new solutions and enhancements to existing solutions. In fiscal year 2022, as we invest in our platform including expanding our offerings, improving the user experience and
driving geographic expansion, we expect technology and development expense to increase as a percentage of revenue.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses for the Company’s finance, legal, human resources, facilities, and administrative
personnel, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation expense. General and administrative expenses also include professional services fees, software
subscriptions, facilities, indirect taxes, and other corporate expenses.
As a result of the closing of our IPO, we have incurred and expect to continue to incur additional expenses as a result of operating as a public company, including costs to
comply with the rules and regulations applicable to companies listed on a national securities exchange, costs related to compliance and reporting obligations, and increased
expenses for insurance, investor relations, and professional services. We expect general and administrative expenses to increase as a result of these costs to operate as a
public company and invest in the long-term growth of the Company.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense includes depreciation on property and equipment and leasehold improvements, as well as the amortization of internal-use software
costs and amortization of intangible assets.
Interest Income
Interest income consists primarily of interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents.
Interest Expense
Interest expense consists primarily of the interest expense on our borrowings.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net primarily consists of foreign exchange gains and losses.
Provision for Income Taxes
Provision for income taxes consists primarily of income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business and state income taxes in the United States. We
maintain a full valuation allowance for U.S. deferred tax assets, which includes net operating loss carryforwards. We expect to
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maintain this full valuation allowance for the foreseeable future as it is more likely than not that the assets will not be realized based on our history of losses.
Results of Operations
Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

Revenue

$

Change

2020
458,605

$

Amount
256,956

$

Percent

201,649

78 %

Revenue increased $201.6 million, or 78%, to $458.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $257.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
This increase was driven primarily by the growth in send volume for the same time period, which increased $8.4 billion, or 70%, to over $20.4 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2021, compared to $12.1 billion for the year ended December 31, 2020, along with an increase in active customers and average revenue per active customer.
Transaction Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

Transaction expenses
Percentage of total revenue

$

Change

2020

191,606
$
42 %

Amount

110,414
$
43 %

Percent

81,192

74 %

Transaction expenses increased $81.2 million, or 74%, to $191.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $110.4 million, for the year ended December
31, 2020. The increase was primarily due to a $66.4 million increase in direct costs associated with processing a higher volume of our customers’ remittance transactions
and the disbursement of our customers’ funds to their recipients, a $10.6 million increase in fraud and other losses largely driven by growth in new customers and send
volume, and a $4.2 million increase in other transaction expenses, primarily software and tools that support our compliance and risk operations.
As a percentage of revenue, transaction expenses decreased to 42% for the year ended December 31, 2021, from 43% for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily as a
result of lower fraud and other losses, relative to the increase in revenue.
Customer Support and Operations Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

Customer support and operations
Percentage of total revenue

$

Change

2020
45,525
$
10 %

Amount
25,428
$
10 %

Percent

20,097

79 %

Customer support and operations expenses increased $20.1 million, or 79%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020,
primarily due to increased costs as a result of supporting more active users. The increase was primarily driven by a $9.4 million increase in third-party customer support
costs, a $5.8 million increase in internal personnel costs at our sites in the Philippines, Nicaragua, and Ireland that support customer operations, a $3.2 million increase in
software and telephony costs as we supported more active customers, and a $1.7 million increase in other operating expenses including customer set up fees and other costs.
As a percentage of revenue, customer support and operations expenses remained flat at 10% for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December
31, 2020.
Marketing Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

Marketing
Percentage of total revenue

$

Change

2020

120,906
$
26 %

Amount
73,804
$
29 %

47,102

Percent
64 %

Marketing expenses increased $47.1 million, or 64%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, due primarily to an increase
of $40.1 million in direct marketing expense, including online and offline marketing spend and promotion costs to acquire new customers. Personnel-related costs increased
by $3.8 million driven by a 34% increase in marketing headcount compared to the same period in 2020, as well as a $1.5 million increase in stock-based compensation
expense. The increase in marketing expenses was also driven by a $0.7 million
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increase in other indirect marketing costs, a $0.4 million increase in other expenses including professional fees, a $0.3 million increase in software, and a $0.3 million
increase in other employee-related costs.
As a percent of revenue, marketing expenses decreased to 26% for the year ended December 31, 2021, from 29% for the year ended December 31, 2020, as our existing
customer base became a larger portion of revenue while our marketing spend was mostly dedicated to acquiring new customers.
Technology and Development Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

Technology and development

$

Change

2020
64,093

Percentage of total revenue

$

Amount
40,777

14 %

$

Percent

23,316

57 %

16 %

Technology and development expenses increased $23.3 million, or 57%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. The
increase was driven by a $13.4 million increase in personnel related expenses resulting from a 30% increase in headcount compared to the same period in 2020, as well as a
$4.8 million increase in stock-based compensation expense. The increase in technology and development expense was also driven by a $3.7 million increase in software
costs for employee tools and cloud services due to growth in headcount and volume of transactions, as well as a $0.6 million increase in other employee-related expenses, a
$0.4 million increase in professional fees and a $0.4 million increase in facility costs.
As a percentage of revenue, technology and development expenses decreased to 14% for the year ended December 31, 2021, from 16% for the year ended December 31,
2020, as we leveraged our technology platform and infrastructure over a larger revenue and customer base.
General and Administrative Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

General and administrative
Percentage of total revenue

$

Change

2020
70,941
$
15 %

Amount
31,656
$
12 %

Percent

39,285

124 %

General and administrative expenses increased $39.3 million, or 124%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. Personnelrelated expenses increased by $10.0 million, primarily driven by a 56% increase in general and administrative headcount compared to the same period in 2020, as well as a
$5.4 million increase in stock-based compensation expense. The increase in our general and administrative headcount over the last year is primarily due to the investments
we have made in our human resources, legal, and finance teams to prepare to become a public company. The increase in general and administrative expense was also due to
a $7.9 million increase in professional, regulatory, and corporate fees to support the Company in preparing for its IPO, as well as ongoing public company costs, a $6.9
million donation of common stock in September 2021, a $4.9 million increase to other taxes, a $1.9 million increase to other employee-related expenses, a $1.2 million
increase in software expense, a $0.8 million increase in facilities expense, and $0.3 million of other costs.
As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expenses increased to 15% for the year ended December 31, 2021, from 12% for the year ended December 31, 2020,
due primarily to the September 2021 donation of common stock in connection with our Pledge 1% and costs related to operating as a public company.
Depreciation and Amortization
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

Depreciation and Amortization
Percentage of revenue

Change

2020

$

5,256
$
1%

Amount
4,060
$
2%

Percent
1,196

30 %

Depreciation and amortization increased $1.2 million, or 30%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. This increase is
mostly due to an increase in depreciation for internally developed software, computers, and leasehold improvements.
Interest Income
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

Interest income

$

Change

2020
140

$

Amount
273

$

Percent
(133)

(49)%

Interest income decreased by an immaterial amount for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 due to lower yields on interestbearing accounts.
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Interest Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

Interest expense

Change

2020

$

Amount

(1,256) $

Percent

(1,189) $

(67)

6%

Interest expense decreased by an immaterial amount for the year ended December 31, 2021, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

Other income (expense), net

Change

2020

$

3,125

Amount

$

(1,302) $

Percent
4,427

(340)%

Other income (expense), net, increased $4.4 million from other (expense), net, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020,
primarily due to foreign exchange remeasurements on transactions associated with high-volume balance sheet balances, and volatility in related currencies including the
Mexican peso, Philippine peso, and Colombian peso.
Provision for Income Taxes
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(dollars in thousands)

Provision for income taxes

Change

2020

$

1,043

Amount

$

1,163

Percent

$

(120)

(10)%

The provision for income taxes decreased by an immaterial amount for the year ended December 31, 2021, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.
Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2020

(dollars in thousands)

Revenue

$

Change

2019
256,956

$

Amount
126,567

$

Percent

130,389

103 %

Revenue increased $130.4 million, or 103%, to $257.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to 2019. This increase was primarily driven by growth in
active customers, which doubled compared to 2019.
Transaction Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2020

(dollars in thousands)

Transaction expenses
Percentage of total revenue

$

Change

2019

110,414
$
43 %

Amount
55,858
$
44 %

Percent

54,556

98 %

Transaction expenses increased $54.6 million, or 98%, for 2020, compared to 2019. The increase was driven by a $37.3 million increase in direct costs associated with
processing a higher volume of our customers’ remittance transactions and the disbursement of our customers’ funds to their recipients, a $12.0 million increase in fraud and
other losses largely driven by growth in new customers and send volume, and a $5.3 million increase in software and tools that support our compliance and risk operations.
As a percentage of revenue, transaction expenses decreased to 43% for 2020, from 44% for 2019, which was driven primarily by scale benefits as we grew send volume.
Customer Support and Operations Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2020

(dollars in thousands)

Customer support and operations
Percentage of total revenue

$

Change

2019
25,428
$
10 %

47

Amount
17,445
$
14 %

Percent
7,983

46 %
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Customer support and operations expenses increased $8.0 million, or 46%, for 2020, compared to 2019. This increase was primarily driven by a $5.5 million increase in
third-party customer support costs, a $1.7 million increase in internal personnel costs at our sites in the Philippines and Nicaragua that support customer operations, and
approximately $1.0 million increase in software and telephony costs, partially offset by $0.2 million lower travel and office expenses. Although customer support and
operations expense growth is typically tied to new customer and active customer growth, these costs grew slower than active customers for 2020, as we experienced
absenteeism and delays in hiring due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We also invested in tools to increase customer self-service capabilities, which helped to reduce customer
contact rates and drove operational efficiencies.
As a percentage of revenue, customer support and operations expenses decreased to 10% for 2020, from 14% for 2019, which was driven primarily by operational
efficiencies coupled with the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our ability to service customer demand.
Marketing Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2020

(dollars in thousands)

Marketing
Percentage of total revenue

$

Change

2019
73,804
$
29 %

Amount
43,542
$
34 %

Percent

30,262

70 %

Marketing expenses increased $30.3 million, or 70%, for 2020, compared to 2019, due primarily to an increase of $28.1 million in direct marketing expenses, including
online and offline marketing spend and promotion costs to acquire new customers. Personnel-related costs, including stock-based compensation expense, increased by $2.1
million, driven by a 41% year-over-year increase in marketing headcount, partially offset by a $0.2 million decrease in compensation expense in 2020, as compared to 2019,
due to compensation expenses incurred for our 2019 tender offer. The remaining increase was driven by a $0.3 million increase in other marketing operating expense,
primarily indirect marketing.
As a percentage of revenue, marketing expenses decreased to 29% for 2020, from 34% for 2019, as our existing customer base became a larger portion of revenue while our
marketing spend was mostly dedicated to acquiring new customers.
Technology and Development Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2020

(dollars in thousands)

Technology and development
Percentage of total revenue

$

Change

2019
40,777
$
16 %

Amount
32,008
$
25 %

Percent
8,769

27 %

Technology and development expenses increased $8.8 million, or 27%, for 2020, compared to 2019. This increase was driven by a $7.3 million increase in personnel-related
expenses, including stock-based compensation expense, resulting from a 27% year-over-year increase in technology and development headcount, partially offset by a $2.0
million decrease in compensation expense in 2020, as compared to 2019, due to compensation expenses incurred for our 2019 tender offer. The increase in technology and
development expenses was also driven by $3.5 million in software costs for employee tools and cloud services due to growth in both headcount and the volume of
transactions.
As a percentage of revenue, technology and development expenses decreased to 16% for 2020, from 25% for 2019, as we leveraged our technology platform and
infrastructure over a larger revenue and customer base.
General and Administrative Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2020

(dollars in thousands)

General and administrative
Percentage of total revenue

$

Change

2019
31,656
$
12 %

Amount
25,658
$
20 %

Percent
5,998

23 %

General and administrative expenses increased $6.0 million, or 23%, for 2020, compared to 2019. This increase was primarily driven by a $6.2 million increase in
personnel-related expenses, including stock-based compensation expense, driven by a 52% increase in general and administrative headcount. This increase was partially
offset by a $1.8 million decrease in compensation expense in 2020, as compared to 2019, due to compensation expenses incurred for our 2019 tender offer. The growth in
general and administrative expenses was also due to an increase of $1.1 million in facilities costs as we expanded our office space in the United Kingdom and Nicaragua,
and an increase of $0.5 million in other general and administrative expenses, primarily professional fees and bank fees.
As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expenses decreased to 12% for 2020, from 20% for 2019, due to economies of scale as our revenue grew faster than
our general and administrative expenses.
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Depreciation and Amortization
Year Ended December 31,
2020

(dollars in thousands)

Depreciation and Amortization

Change

2019

$

4,060

Percentage of revenue

$

Amount
2,658

2%

$

Percent
1,402

53 %

2%

Depreciation and amortization increased $1.4 million, or 53%, for 2020, compared to 2019. This increase was primarily driven by an increase in depreciation for internally
developed software.
Interest Income
Year Ended December 31,
2020

(dollars in thousands)

Interest income

$

Change

2019
273

$

Amount
1,111

$

Percent
(838)

(75)%

Interest income decreased $0.8 million, for 2020, compared to 2019, primarily due to a lower interest rate earned on interest-bearing accounts.
Interest Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2020

(dollars in thousands)

Interest expense

$

Change

2019
(1,189) $

Amount
(1,608) $

Percent
419

(26)%

Interest expense decreased $0.4 million, for 2020, compared to 2019, primarily due to lower interest expense on our revolving credit facility as a result of lower outstanding
borrowings, given the close of our Series F redeemable convertible preferred stock financing in 2020.
Other Expense, Net
Year Ended December 31,
2020

(dollars in thousands)

Other expense, net

$

Change

2019
(1,302) $

Amount
(34) $

Percent
(1,268)

nm*

*not meaningful

Other expense, net, increased $1.3 million for 2020, compared to 2019, primarily due to foreign exchange remeasurements on transactions associated with high volume
balance sheet balances and volatility in related currencies, including the Indian rupee and Mexican peso.
Provision for Income Taxes
Year Ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)
Provision for income taxes

2020
$

Change

2019
1,163

$

Amount
259

$

Percent
904

349 %

The provision for income taxes increased $0.9 million, for 2020, compared to 2019, primarily due to an increase in foreign taxable income in line with business growth in
these jurisdictions and changes in U.S. state income tax laws.

Key Business Metrics
We regularly review the following key business metrics to evaluate our performance, identify trends affecting our business, prepare financial projections, and make strategic
decisions. We believe that these key business metrics provide meaningful supplemental information for management
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and investors in assessing our historical and future operating performance. The calculation of these key business metrics discussed below may differ from other similarly
titled metrics used by other companies, analysts, or investors.
Active Customers
Active customers, measured as of the three months ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Active customers

2020
2,836

2019
1,891

948

We believe that the number of our active customers is an important indicator of customer engagement and the overall growth of our business.
Active customers increased to approximately 2.8 million, or 50% growth, year over year. Similar to the increase in 2020, this continued growth in 2021 was primarily due to
a continued increase in new customers driven by investments in marketing spend, our seamless user experience, and network expansion.
Active customers increased to 1.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2020, or 100% growth, compared to the three months ended December 31, 2019. This
increase was primarily due to an increase in new customers driven by investments in marketing spend, our seamless user experience, network expansion, and new corridor
rollouts, as well as the accelerated digital adoption of remittances as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Send Volume
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(in millions)

Send volume

$

2020
20,448

$

2019
12,055

$

7,087

We measure send volume to assess the scale of remittances sent using our platform. Our customers mostly send from the United States, Canada, United Kingdom, other
countries in Europe, and Australia. The recipients are located in over 135 countries across the globe; the largest receive countries include Mexico, the Philippines, and India.
Send volume increased $8.4 billion, or 70%, to over $20.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $12.1 billion for the year ended December 31, 2020,
largely due to higher transaction volumes from new and existing customers.
Send volume increased to $12.1 billion for 2020, compared to $7.1 billion for 2019, largely due to higher transaction volumes from new and existing customers, partially
offset by lower average send amount per active customers. Lower average send amount per active customer in 2020, as compared to 2019, was a result of increasing
geographic diversification, and in particular, a mix shift toward corridors with lower average send amounts.
Key Factors Affecting Our Performance
Ability to Retain Our Customers and Maintain High Customer Engagement
Our send volume is primarily driven by existing customers who regularly use our remittance product to send money home. We believe our mobile-first products and superior
customer experience encourage high retention and repeat usage, which are important drivers of our performance.
We measure active customers to monitor the growth and performance of our customer base. During the fourth quarter of 2021, 2.8 million customers used Remitly to send
money abroad, up 50% from the fourth quarter of 2020. The majority of our active customers send money for recurring, non-discretionary needs multiple times per month,
providing a reoccurring revenue stream with high visibility and predictability.
Ability to Attract New Customers
Our long-term growth will depend, in part, on our continued ability to attract new customers to our platform. We intend to expand our customer base by launching new send
and receive corridors, by continuing to innovate, and by providing the most trusted financial services for immigrants. We plan to continue to acquire new customers through
digital marketing channels and word-of-mouth referrals from existing customers. We will also explore new customer acquisition channels. Given the nature of our business,
new customer acquisition may negatively impact net loss and Adjusted EBITDA in the initial period, while positively impacting net loss and Adjusted EBITDA in
subsequent periods.
Ability to Maintain Efficient Customer Acquisition
Our ability to efficiently acquire customers is critical to our growth and attractive customer economics. Online marketing competition, our ability to effectively target the
right demographic, and competitor pricing will impact our customer acquisition strategy.
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We have a history of successfully monitoring customer acquisitions costs and will continue to be strategic and disciplined toward customer acquisition. For example, for
performance marketing, we set rigorous customer acquisition targets that we continuously monitor to ensure a high return on investment over the long term, and we can
increase or decrease this investment as desired. Customer acquisition costs refer to direct marketing expenses deployed to acquire new customers and primarily includes
digital advertising costs.
Corridor Mix
Our business is global and certain attributes of our business vary by corridor such as send amount, customer funding sources, payment options, and transaction frequency.
We analyze our business at the corridor level because customer behavior and needs, fees and exchange rates, distribution partners and a variety of other factors are specific
to the pairing of particular countries and cannot be generalized across other broader groupings. For example, a period of high growth in receive corridors with large average
send amounts, such as India, could disproportionately impact send volume while impacting active customers to a lesser extent. While shifts in our corridor mix could impact
the trends in our global business, including send volume and customer economics, our strategy is to manage and optimize each of these corridors over the long term based
on their specific dynamics.
Seasonality
Our operating results and metrics are subject to seasonality, which may result in fluctuations in our quarterly revenues and operating results. For example, active customers
and send volume generally peak as customers send gifts for regional and global holidays including, most notably, in the fourth quarter around the Christmas holiday. This
seasonality typically drives higher fourth quarter customer acquisition, which generally results in higher fourth quarter marketing costs and transaction losses. It also results
in higher transactions and transaction expenses, along with higher working capital needs. Other periods of seasonality include Ramadan/Eid, Lunar New Year/Tết and
Mother's Day, although the impact is generally lower than in the fourth quarter. The number of business days in a quarter and the day of week that the last day of the quarter
falls on may also introduce variability in our results, balance sheet, or cash flows.
Ability to Invest in Our Technology Platform and Introduce New Products
We will continue to invest significant resources in our technology platform. These investments will allow us to introduce new and innovative products, add features to
current products, enhance the customer and recipient experience, grow our payment and disbursement network, invest in our risk and security infrastructure, and continue to
secure data in accordance with changing best practices and legal requirements. While we expect our expenses related to technology and development to increase, which may
impact short-term profitability, we believe these investments will ultimately contribute to our long term growth.
Ability to Manage Risk and Fraud
We manage fraud (e.g., through identity theft) and other illegitimate activity (e.g., money laundering) by utilizing our proprietary risk models built on machine learning
processes, early warning systems, bespoke rules, and manual investigation processes. Our models and processes enable us to identify and address complex and evolving
risks in these unwanted activities, while maintaining a differentiated customer experience. In addition, we integrate historical fraud loss data and other transaction data into
our risk models which helps us identify emerging patterns and quantify fraud and regulatory and compliance risks across all aspects of our customer interactions. This
allows us to achieve and maintain fraud loss rates within desired guardrails.
Macroeconomic and Geopolitical Changes
Global macroeconomic and geopolitical factors, including immigration, trade and regulatory policies, unemployment, inflation, foreign currency fluctuations, and the rate of
digital remittance adoption impact demand for our services and the options that we can offer. These factors evolve over time and periods of significant currency appreciation
or depreciation, whether in send or receive currencies, changes to global migration patterns, and changes to digital adoption trends may shift the timing and volume of
transactions using our service.
Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, our business, and the digital financial services industry in general, has seen accelerated growth, as digital remittances increasingly
became the choice of senders and receivers; however, we have also experienced disruptions. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, government authorities and businesses
globally have implemented varying levels of travel restrictions, border closures, quarantines, shelter-in-place and lockdown orders, mask and social distancing requirements,
and business limitations and shutdowns. which have contributed to a variety of changes to consumer behavior as well as to government and business practices. Consumer
behavior has evolved rapidly to favor forms of commerce that do not require in-person interactions, with acceleration in the shift to digital and contactless forms of payment
since the pandemic began in 2020. This has led to rapid customer, transaction, and revenue growth for many financial technology companies including Remitly. These trends
have also benefited our business as many new and existing customers were unable or unwilling to travel to countries of origin or physical agents to deliver remittances to
loved ones abroad, and as digital remittances have become the choice of senders and receivers. In spite of these trends, there is uncertainty about recent macroeconomic
conditions caused, in part, by the pandemic, such as labor shortages and inflation. It remains unclear to what extent these conditions will impact our customers’ behavior.
In some cases, pandemic related measures have also negatively impacted Remitly, including disruptions to workforce stability. Pandemic-related lockdowns have required us
to transition part of our workforce to work from home and establish strict health and safety protocols for our offices. Our customer support and operations teams, both
internal and third-party, have at times been severely impacted, which affected our ability to service
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customer needs due to longer wait times during 2021. While operational resiliency measures have evolved and become more mature over the course of the pandemic,
financial services support requires secure technology that can be harder to access using work from home technologies and successive lockdowns may still create operational
challenges. However, certain operating expenses have grown more slowly than usual due to reduced business travel and the virtualization or cancellation of events. These
operating expenses may return to normal growth levels as pandemic restrictions are lifted and we expect that our operating costs will increase in 2022 as business travel and
other events resume.
The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will directly or indirectly impact our business, results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition will depend on
future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted, particularly if new variants of the virus emerge. While we expect the trend towards
increased use of digital payments to continue, its velocity may also abate as conditions change. In addition, the impact from new variants and other factors arising from the
COVID-19 pandemic could adversely impact the use of our services by our customers, the ability of our employees to perform work, and our business generally, which
could have a material adverse impact on our operating and financial results.
We will continue to actively monitor the situation and may take further actions that may alter our business practices as may be required by federal, state, or local authorities
or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, or business partners.
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company has remained focused on serving its customers and communities, as well as the well-being of its employees.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
We regularly review the following non-GAAP measure to evaluate our performance, identify trends affecting our business, prepare financial projections, and make strategic
decisions. We believe that this non-GAAP measure provides meaningful supplemental information for management and investors in assessing our historical and future
operating performance. The calculation of the non-GAAP measure discussed below may differ from other similarly titled metrics used by other companies, analysts, or
investors.
We use Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure to supplement net loss. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as net loss adjusted by i) interest expense, net; ii)
provision for income taxes; iii) non-cash charge of depreciation and amortization; iv) other expense (income), net, including gains and losses from the remeasurement of
foreign currency assets and liabilities into their functional currency and v) non-cash stock-based compensation expense, net, as well as vi) non-cash charges associated with
our donation of common stock in connection with our Pledge 1% commitment.
Our goal is not to maximize Adjusted EBITDA in any given quarter, but to drive revenue growth with investments that generate long-term value. Adjusted EBITDA is a key
output measure used by our management to evaluate our operating performance, inform future operating plans, and make strategic long term decisions, including those
relating to operating expenses and the allocation of internal resources.
Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as a financial measure, should be considered as supplemental in nature, and is not meant as a substitute for the related financial
information prepared in accordance with GAAP. These limitations include the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the future, and Adjusted
EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditures or other capital commitments;
Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the effect of income taxes that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;
Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the effect of gains and losses from the remeasurement of foreign currency assets and liabilities into their functional currency;
Adjusted EBITDA excludes non-cash charges associated with the donation of our common stock in connection with our Pledge 1% commitment, which is
recorded in general and administrative expense;
Adjusted EBITDA excludes stock-based compensation expense, which has recently been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a significant recurring
expense for our business and an important part of our compensation strategy; and
other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently from how we calculate this measure or not at all, which
reduces its usefulness as a comparative measure.
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The following table sets forth a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA, the most directly comparable financial measure prepared in accordance with GAAP, for each
of the periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Net loss
Add:
Interest expense, net
Provision for income taxes
Depreciation and amortization expenses
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Donation of common stock
Stock-based compensation expense, net

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

2020
(38,756) $

2019
(32,564) $

1,116
1,043
5,256
(3,125)
6,933
17,016

(51,392)

916
1,163
4,060
1,302
—
5,264

(10,517) $

497
259
2,658
34
—
3,648

(19,859) $

(44,296)

Adjusted EBITDA improved to $(10.5) million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $(19.9) million for the year ended December 31, 2020, driven by
continued acceleration in revenue, as a result of our growing customer base and corresponding increase in send volume, partially offset by higher processing and customer
support costs, investments in customer acquisition and our technology platform, and other general and administrative expenses during 2021.
Adjusted EBITDA improved to $(19.9) million for 2020 compared to $(44.3) million for 2019. This improvement was largely due to higher revenue driven by an
acceleration in new customer acquisition partially offset by higher transaction and customer support costs, investments in new customer acquisition and our technology
platform, other general and administrative expenses, and an increase in expenses that are adjusted from net loss.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have financed our operations and capital expenditures primarily through cash generated from operations including transaction fees and foreign exchange spreads, sales
of our redeemable convertible preferred stock, proceeds from our IPO and concurrent private placement, and our $250.0 million New Revolving Credit Facility, which we
entered into in September 2021, as well as our prior 2020 Credit Agreement. We had unused borrowing capacity of $231.1 million on our New Revolving Credit Facility as
of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents of $403.3 million and
$186.7 million, respectively, and funds available under the New Revolving Credit Facility and our previous revolving credit facility, respectively.
We believe that our cash, cash equivalents, and funds available under the New Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to meet our working capital requirements for at
least the next twelve months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the expansion of our sales and marketing
activities, the timing and extent of expansion into new corridors, and the timing of introductions of new products and enhancements of existing products. Furthermore,
certain jurisdictions where we operate require us to hold eligible liquid assets, based on regulatory or legal requirements, equal to the aggregate amount of all customer
balances. In addition, in the future, we may attempt to raise additional capital through the sale of equity securities or through equity-linked securities, and the ownership of
our existing stockholders would be diluted. If we raise additional financing by incurring additional indebtedness, we may be subject to increased fixed payment obligations
and could also be subject to additional restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, and other operating restrictions that could adversely
impact our ability to conduct our business. Any future indebtedness we incur may result in terms that are unfavorable to equity investors. There can be no assurances that we
will be able to raise additional capital. The inability to raise capital would adversely affect our ability to achieve our business objectives.
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our consolidated statements of cash flows for the periods presented:
Year Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

2020
(18,391) $
(4,534)
238,203

(114,209) $
(4,370)
122,216

2019
8,435
(7,209)
117,017

Operating Activities
Our main sources of operating cash are transaction fees charged to customers and foreign exchange spreads on transactions. Our primary uses of cash from operating
activities have been for advertising expenses used to attract new customers, transaction expenses that include fees paid to payment processors and disbursement partners,
personnel-related expenses, technology and analytics, and other general corporate expenditures.
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Net cash used in operating activities mainly consists of our net loss adjusted for certain non-cash items, including stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and
amortization, amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets, and changes in operating assets and liabilities during each period.
For the year ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in operating activities was $18.4 million, which primarily consisted of a net loss of $38.8 million, as well as
unfavorable changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $9.3 million, partially offset by excluding approximately $29.7 million of non-cash charges included within net
loss for the period. The main drivers for the unfavorable change in operating assets and liabilities were an increase in disbursement prefunding of $18.1 million, in line with
the growth in our business and related to funding disbursement partners for expected send volume over a long holiday weekend, as well as an increase of $17.3 million in
customer funds receivable, partially offset by an increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities of $26.1 million due to the timing of cash payments to vendors.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, net cash used in operating activities was $114.2 million, which primarily consisted of changes in our operating assets and liabilities
of $91.0 million, as well as a net loss of $32.6 million, excluding $9.3 million of non-cash charges included within net loss for the period. The main drivers for the change in
operating assets and liabilities were an increase in disbursement prefunding of $69.7 million related to funding disbursement partners for expected send volume over a long
holiday weekend, an increase in customer funds receivable of $20.0 million due to an increase in volume and growth in our business and decrease of customer liabilities of
$29.1 million due to timing of disbursements offset by an increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $25.9 million due to timing of settlement of trade
liabilities as well as increase in operating expense accruals in line with the growth of the business.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, net cash provided by operating activities was $8.4 million, which primarily consisted of net loss of $51.4 million adjusted for noncash charges of $6.3 million and net cash inflows of $53.5 million due to changes in our operating assets and liabilities. The main drivers for the change in operating assets
and liabilities were a decrease in disbursement prefunding of $17.1 million and an increase in customer liabilities of $54.2 million related to transactions processed from
customers but not yet disbursed to recipients, offset by an increase in customer funds receivable of $17.4 million. The changes in these operating assets and liabilities are
inline with the growth of the business and were impacted by timing and volume of funding needs and disbursements at the end of 2019.
Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities consists primarily of purchases of property and equipment and capitalization of internal-use software.
Net cash used in investing activities was $4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 and $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily related to
purchases of property and equipment to support the increase in headcount, and capitalization of internal use software costs.
Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $7.2 million, which was primarily related to purchases of property and equipment to support
the increase in headcount, expansion and improvement of our facilities, and capitalized internal use software costs.
Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities consists primarily of proceeds from our IPO and concurrent private placement, as well as previous issuances of redeemable convertible
preferred stock, and proceeds from the exercise of stock options. Cash used in financing activities consists primarily of repayments of our revolving credit facility
borrowings. In 2019, cash used in financing activities also included repurchases and retirement of common stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock in connection
with a tender offer.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 of $238.2 million was primarily driven by proceeds from the issuance of common stock
upon our IPO and concurrent private placement, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering costs of $305.2 million, as well as proceeds from: the
exercise of stock options of $8.3 million, the repayment of a non-recourse promissory note of $3.1 million, and the issuance of Series F redeemable convertible preferred
stock, net of issuance costs of $3.0 million. These proceeds were partially offset by repayments of our prior revolving credit facility borrowings of $80.0 million and
payments of debt issuance costs on our New Revolving Credit Facility of $1.4 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 of $122.2 million was primarily driven by proceeds from the issuance of Series F
convertible preferred stock of $84.8 million, net of issuance costs, and $35.0 million of proceeds from our revolving credit facility to meet our working capital needs, as well
as $2.4 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 of $117.0 million was primarily driven by $129.8 million from the issuance of Series E
redeemable convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs and $9.0 million of net proceeds from our revolving credit facility borrowings to meet our working capital
requirements, offset by $2.8 million of cash used to repay our term loan, and further offset by $20.0 million cash used for the repurchase and retirement of common and
redeemable convertible preferred stock in connection with a tender offer.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Our principal commitments consist of standby letters of credits, long-term leases, and other purchase commitments entered into in the normal course of business. In addition,
we routinely enter into marketing and advertising contracts that contractually obligate us to purchase services in the near term, including minimum service quantities, unless
we give notice of cancellation based on the applicable terms of the agreements. Most contracts are typically cancelable within a period of less than one year. As of December
31, 2021, we had approximately $3.0 million in total purchase commitments under these arrangements, which includes one multi-year commitment through 2023. For
further information on our material
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commitments refer to Note 6. Debt , Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies and Note 17. Leases in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part
II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2021, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect on our consolidated
financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources. From time to time we do enter into short-term leases that have lease terms of
less than 12 months, and are typically month-to-month in nature. As described in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we elected not to record leases on our
consolidated balance sheet if the lease term is 12 months or less. For further information on our lease arrangements refer to Note 17. Leases in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements,
as well as the revenue generated and expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that
we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
While our significant accounting policies are described in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10K, we believe that the following critical accounting policies involve a greater degree of judgment and complexity. Accordingly, these are the policies we believe are the most
important to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial results.
Revenue Recognition
Our revenue is generated on transaction fees charged to customers and foreign exchange spreads between the foreign exchange rate offered to customers and the foreign
exchange rate on the Company's currency purchases. Revenue is recognized when control of these services is transferred to our customers, which is the time the funds have
been delivered to the intended recipient in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for services provided. We account for revenue in
accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which includes the following steps:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

identification of the contract with a customer;
identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
determination of the transaction price;
allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

(v) recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.
Revenue is derived from each transaction and varies based on the funding method chosen by the customer, the size of the transaction, the currency to be ultimately
disbursed, the rate at which the currency was purchased, and the countries to which the funds are transferred. Our contract with customers can be terminated by the customer
without a termination penalty up until the time the funds have been delivered to the intended recipient. Therefore, our contracts are defined at the transaction level and do
not extend beyond the service already provided.
Our service comprises a single performance obligation to complete transactions for our customers. Using compliance and risk assessment tools, we perform a transaction
risk assessment on individual transactions to determine whether a transaction should be accepted. When we accept a transaction and process the designated payment method
of the customer, we become obligated to our customer to complete the payment transaction.
We recognize transaction revenue on a gross basis as we are the principal for fulfilling payment transactions. As the principal to the transaction, we control the service of
completing payments on our payment platform. We bear primary responsibility for the fulfillment of the payment service, are the merchant of record, contract directly with
our customers, control the product specifications, and define the value proposition of our services. We are also responsible for providing customer support. Further, we have
full discretion over determining the fee charged to our customers, which is independent of the cost we incur in instances where we may utilize payment processors or other
financial institutions to perform services on our behalf. These fees paid to payment processors and other financial institutions are recognized as transaction expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations. We do not have any deferred contract acquisition costs.
Stock-Based Compensation
We account for stock-based compensation expense by calculating the estimated fair value of each employee and nonemployee award at the grant date or modification date
by applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Stock-based compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period,
which is typically the vesting period of the respective award. Forfeitures are recognized in the period in which they occur.
The model utilizes the estimated value of our underlying common stock at the measurement date based on the following assumptions:
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Expected term. We calculate the expected term based on the average period the options are expected to remain outstanding using the simplified method, generally calculated
as the midpoint of the requisite service period and the contractual term of the award.
Expected volatility. We base our estimate of expected volatility on the historical volatility of comparable companies from a representative peer group selected based on
industry, financial, and market capitalization data.
Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate used in the model is based on the implied yield currently available for the U.S. Treasury securities at maturity with an
equivalent term.
Expected dividend yield. Our expected dividend yield is zero as we have never declared nor paid any dividends and do not currently expect to do so in the future.
Common Stock Valuation
Prior to the completion of our IPO, the fair values of the shares of common stock underlying our stock-based awards were determined by our board of directors, considering
numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair value of the Company’s common stock at each meeting in which awards were approved. The values of stockbased awards granted were determined in accordance with the guidelines outlined in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid, Valuation of
Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation.
The assumptions we used in the valuation model are based on future expectations combined with management judgment. In the absence of a public trading market for our
common stock, our board of directors, with input from management, exercised significant judgment and considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine
the best estimate of the fair value of our common stock for financial reporting purposes as of the grant date of each stock option award, including the following factors:
•
•
•
•

contemporaneous valuations of our common stock performed by unrelated third-party specialists;
secondary sales;
the prices, rights, preferences, and privileges of our redeemable convertible preferred stock relative to those of our common stock;
the lack of marketability of our common stock;

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

our actual operating results and financial performance;
current business projections;
hiring of key personnel and the experience of management;
our history and the introduction of new services;
our stage of development;
the likelihood and potential timing of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or a merger or acquisition, given prevailing market conditions;
liquidity of stock-based awards involving securities in a private company;
the market performance of comparable publicly traded companies; and
United States and global capital market conditions.

In valuing our common stock, the fair value of our business was determined using the market approach with input from management. The market approach estimates value
based on a comparison of us to comparable public companies in a similar line of business. From the comparable companies, a representative market value multiple is
determined and then applied to our financial forecasts to estimate the value of the subject company.
In December 2020, we started using a hybrid method utilizing a combination of the option pricing method or OPM and the probability-weighted expected return method or
PWERM, to estimate the value of our common stock. Under the PWERM, the value of a company’s particular equity class is estimated based upon an analysis of future
values for the entire enterprise assuming various future outcomes. Share value is based upon the probability-weighted present value of these expected outcomes, as well as
the rights of each class of preferred and common stock. We also applied a discount for lack of marketability to account for a lack of access to an active public market.
In addition, we considered any secondary transactions involving our capital stock. In our evaluation of those transactions, we considered the facts and circumstances of each
transaction to determine the extent to which they represented a fair value exchange and assigned the transactions an appropriate weighting in the valuation of our common
stock. Factors considered include the number of different buyers and sellers, transaction volume, frequency, and timing relative to the valuation date.
In some cases, we considered the amount of time between the valuation date and the grant date to determine whether to use the latest common stock valuation determined
pursuant to one of the methods described above or a straight-line interpolation between the two valuation dates. This determination included an evaluation of whether the
subsequent valuation indicated that any significant change in valuation had occurred between the previous valuation and the grant date. We utilized this methodology for
equity awards which were granted in 2021 up until the completion of our IPO, using the most recent valuation of our common stock, for which contemporaneous valuations
were obtained throughout 2021.

56

Table of Contents

Application of these approaches and methodologies involves the use of estimates, judgments, and assumptions that are highly complex and subjective, such as those
regarding our expected future revenue, expenses, and future cash flows, discount rates, market multiples, the selection of comparable public companies, and the probability
of and timing associated with possible future events.
After the completion of the IPO, the fair value of our common stock is determined by the closing price, on the date of grant, of its common stock, which is traded on the
NASDAQ. Future expense amounts for any particular period could be affected by changes in our assumptions or market conditions.
For further disclosure of the assumptions used in determining the grant date fair value of stock-based awards, refer to Note 10. Stock-Based Compensation in the notes to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2., Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the notes to the Company’s consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item
8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.
JOBS Act
We are an “emerging growth company”, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies
can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to private companies.
We elected to use this extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies
until the earlier of the date that we (1) are no longer an emerging growth company or (2) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in
the JOBS Act. As a result, our consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting pronouncements as of
public company effective dates. We expect to use the extended transition period for any new or revised accounting standards during the period in which we remain an
emerging growth company.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market risk is the potential for economic losses to be incurred on market risk sensitive instruments arising from adverse changes in market factors such as interest rates,
foreign currency exchange rates, and equity investment risk. Management establishes and oversees the implementation of policies governing our investing, and funding, and
foreign currency activities in order to mitigate market risks. We monitor risk exposures on an ongoing basis.
Credit Risk
We have a limited number of pay-in payment processors and therefore we are exposed to credit risk relating to those pay-in payment providers if in the course of a
transaction, we were to disburse funds to the recipient but the pay-in payment provider does not deliver our customer’s funds to us (for example, due to their illiquidity). We
mitigate this credit risk by engaging with reputable pay-in payment providers and entering into written agreements with pay-in providers allowing for legal recourse. We are
also exposed to credit risk relating to many of our disbursement partners when we prefund or remit funds in advance of having collected funds from our customers through
our pay-in payment processors, if our disbursement partners fail to disburse funds according to our instructions (for example, due to their insufficient capital). We mitigate
these credit exposures by engaging with reputable disbursement partners and performing a credit review before onboarding each disbursement partner. We also periodically
review credit ratings or, if unavailable, other financial documentation, of both our pay-in payment providers and disbursement partners. We have not experienced significant
losses during the periods presented.
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
Given the nature of our business, we are exposed to foreign exchange rate risk in a number of ways. Our principal exposure to foreign exchange rate risk includes:
•

Exposure to foreign currency exchange risk on our cross-border payments if exchange rates fluctuate between initiation of the transaction and transaction
disbursement to the recipient. We disburse transactions in multiple foreign currencies, including most notably the Indian rupee, the Mexican peso, and the
Philippine peso. In the vast majority of cases, the recipient disbursement occurs within a day of sending, which mitigates foreign currency exchange risk. To
enable disbursement in the receive currency, we prefund many disbursement partners one to two business days in advance based on expected send volume. Foreign
exchange rate risk due to differences between the timing of transaction initiation and payment varies based on the day of the week and the bank holiday schedule;
for example, disbursement prefunding is typically largest before long weekends.

•

While the majority of our revenue and expenses are denominated in the U.S. dollar, certain of our international operations are conducted in foreign currencies, a
significant portion of which occur in Canada, the United Kingdom, and Europe. Changes in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to other currencies may affect
revenue and other operating results as expressed in U.S. dollars.

As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, a hypothetical uniform 10% strengthening or weakening in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to all other currencies in
which our net loss is generated, would have resulted in a decrease or increase to the fair value of our assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
subsidiaries’ functional currencies of approximately $11.6 million and $9.7 million, respectively, based on
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our unhedged exposure to foreign currency at that date. There are inherent limitations in this sensitivity analysis, primarily due to the following assumptions: (1) foreign
exchange rate movements are linear and instantaneous, (2) exposure is static, and (3) customer transaction behavior due to currency rate changes is static. As a result, the
analysis is unable to reflect the potential effects of more complex market changes that could arise, which may positively or negatively affect our results from operations. For
example, the impact on December 31, 2021 as shown in this sensitivity analysis is higher than normal, as the disbursement prefunding balance on December 31, 2021 was
$119.6 million due to the need to fund transactions to be paid out over the upcoming long holiday weekend. Both the disbursement prefunding balance and the customer
funds liability balance (and resulting net impact to our net currency position) may be highly variable day to day. In addition, changes in foreign exchange rates may impact
customer behavior by altering the timing or volume of transactions sent through our platform. For example, an increase in the value of a send currency against a receive
currency may accelerate the timing or amount of remittances.
To the extent practicable, we minimize our foreign currency exposures by maintaining natural hedges between our current assets and current liabilities in similarly
denominated foreign currencies. At this time, we do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments in an attempt to hedge our foreign currency exchange risk. We
may do so in the future, but it is difficult to predict the impact hedging activities would have on our operating results.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Remitly Global, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Remitly Global, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive loss, of redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit) and of cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for leases in 2020.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Seattle, Washington
March 29, 2022
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2016.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
December 31,
2021
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Disbursement prefunding
Customer funds receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

Total current assets
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets

2020

403,262
119,627
67,215
17,448

$

607,552
51
9,249
5,302

Other non-current assets, net

345,331
1,381
9,675
5,605

3,510

Total assets
Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Borrowings
Customer liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities

997

$

625,664

$

362,989

$

1,210
—
70,483
66,683
3,240

$

4,256
80,000
54,819
39,742
2,959

Total current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities, non-current
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share; 50,000,000 and 132,674,735 shares authorized as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively; zero and 127,082,605 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively; liquidation preference of zero and $399,815 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively
Stockholders' equity (deficit)
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 725,000,000 and 190,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively; 164,239,555 and 24,289,906 shares issued and outstanding, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)

141,616

181,776

2,907
813

4,008
827

145,336

186,611

—

387,707

16
739,503
253
(259,444)

2
8,766
591
(220,688)

480,328

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock, and stockholders' equity (deficit)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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186,694
101,558
50,729
6,350

$

625,664

(211,329)
$

362,989
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Years Ended December 31,
2021
Revenue
Costs and expenses
Transaction expenses(1)
Customer support and operations(1)
Marketing(1)
Technology and development(1)

$

General and administrative(1)
Depreciation and amortization
Total costs and expenses

2020
458,605

$

2019
256,956

$

126,567

191,606
45,525
120,906
64,093

110,414
25,428
73,804
40,777

55,858
17,445
43,542
32,008

70,941
5,256

31,656
4,060

25,658
2,658

498,327

286,139

177,169

Loss from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense),net

(39,722)
140
(1,256)
3,125

(29,183)
273
(1,189)
(1,302)

(50,602)
1,111
(1,608)
(34)

Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

(37,713)
1,043

(31,401)
1,163

(51,133)
259

(38,756) $

(32,564) $

(51,392)

Net loss

$

Deemed dividend on redeemable convertible preferred stock

—

Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic and diluted
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders:
Basic and diluted
__________________
(1) Exclusive of depreciation and amortization, shown separately, above

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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—

12,134

$

(38,756) $

(32,564) $

(63,526)

$

(0.64) $

(1.52) $

(2.98)

60,728,748

21,459,062

21,290,784
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2021

2020

2019

Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments

$

(38,756) $
(338)

557

Comprehensive loss

$

(39,094) $

(32,007) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(51,392)
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands, except share data)
Year Ended December 31, 2021
Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock
Shares

Balance as of January 1, 2021
Issuance of Series F redeemable
convertible preferred stock, net of
issuance costs of $20

Amount

127,082,605

$

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares

387,707

Amount

24,289,906

$

2

$

8,766

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$

591

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(220,688) $

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

(211,329)

328,026

2,980

—

—

—

—

—

—

Issuance of common stock

—

—

25,759

—

169

—

—

169

Repayment of non-recourse promissory
note

—

—

—

—

3,060

—

—

3,060

Conversion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock to common stock in
connection with initial public offering (127,410,631)

(390,687)

127,410,631

13

390,674

—

—

390,687

Issuance of common stock upon initial
public offering and private placements,
net of offering costs, underwriting
discounts and commissions

—

—

7,581,395

—

305,191

—

—

305,191

Donation of common stock

—

—

181,961

—

6,933

—

—

6,933

Issuance of common stock upon exercise
of warrants

—

—

254,014

—

—

—

—

—

Issuance of common stock upon exercise
of stock options and vesting of early
exercised options, and vesting
restricted stock units

—

—

4,495,889

1

7,420

—

—

7,421

Stock-based compensation expense

—

—

—

—

17,290

—

—

17,290

Other comprehensive loss

—

—

—

—

—

(338)

—

(338)

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

(38,756)

(38,756)

Balance as of December 31, 2021

—

—

164,239,555

$

$

16

$

739,503

$

253

$

(259,444) $

480,328

Year Ended December 31, 2020
Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock
Shares

Balance as of January 1, 2020
Issuance of Series F redeemable
convertible preferred stock, net of
issuance costs of $167

Amount

117,788,521

$

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares

Amount

302,873

22,425,112

$

2

$

1,292

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$

34

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(188,124) $

Total
Stockholders'
Deficit

(186,796)

9,294,084

84,834

—

—

—

—

—

—

Issuance of common stock in connection
with stock option exercises and vesting
of early exercised options

—

—

1,864,794

—

2,212

—

—

2,212

Stock-based compensation expense

—

—

—

—

5,262

—

—

5,262

Other comprehensive income

—

—

—

—

—

557

—

557

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

(32,564)

(32,564)

387,707

24,289,906

Balance as of December 31, 2020

127,082,605

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands, except share data)
Year Ended December 31, 2019
Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock
Shares

Amount

Balance as of January 1, 2019

97,420,191

Issuance of Series E redeemable
convertible preferred stock, net of
issuance costs of $5,230
Repurchase and retirement of preferred
and common stock in connection with
tender offer

$

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common Stock
Shares

Amount

$

2

$

2,773

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$

Accumulated
Deficit

(33) $

(123,746) $

Total
Stockholders'
Deficit

173,958

22,595,886

(121,004)

22,663,933

129,770

—

—

—

—

—

—

(2,295,603)

(855)

(2,053,690)

—

(6,173)

—

(12,986)

(19,159)

Issuance of common stock in connection
with stock option exercises and vesting
of early exercised options

—

—

1,882,916

—

1,044

—

—

1,044

Stock-based compensation expense

—

—

—

—

3,648

—

—

3,648

Other comprehensive income

—

—

—

—

—

67

—

67

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

(51,392)

(51,392)

302,873

22,425,112

Balance as of December 31, 2019

117,788,521

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2021
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense, net
Donation of common stock
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Disbursement prefunding
Customer funds receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Operating lease right-of-use assets

$

Accounts payable
Customer liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Capitalized internal-use software costs
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon initial public offering and the private placement, net
of underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering costs
Repayment of non-recourse promissory note
Repurchase and retirement of common stock in connection with tender offer
Repurchase and retirement of redeemable convertible preferred stock in connection with tender offer
Proceeds from issuance of Series E and F convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Payment of debt issuance costs

2020

(38,756) $

Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period

(32,564) $

(51,392)

5,256
17,016
6,933
452

4,060
5,264
—
2

2,658
3,648
—
37

(18,069)
(17,282)
(12,559)
2,780

(69,719)
(20,028)
(1,959)
2,376

17,105
(17,410)
(2,235)
1,997

(3,035)
16,097
26,071
(3,295)

4,044
(29,073)
25,935
(2,547)

(1,488)
54,182
3,526
(2,193)

(18,391)

(114,209)

8,435

(1,956)
(2,578)

(2,064)
(2,306)

(5,049)
(2,160)

(4,534)

(4,370)

(7,209)

305,191
3,060
—

—
—
—

—
—
(7,024)

—
2,980
8,345
(1,373)

—
84,834
2,382
—

(12,991)
129,770
1,034
—

(80,000)

—
35,000

(2,772)
9,000

238,203

122,216

117,017

(40)

918

329

215,238

4,555

118,572

—

Repayment of term loan
Proceeds from (repayments of) revolving credit facility borrowings, net

2019

188,075

183,520

64,948

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities
Vesting of early exercised options
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

403,313

$

188,075

$

183,520

$
$

934
756

$
$

1,061
421

$
$

1,563
186

$

2,532
482
390,687

$

1,523
185
—

$

8,455
36
—

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

$

403,262
51

$

186,694
1,381

$

182,354
1,166

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

403,313

$

188,075

$

183,520

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1.

Organization and Description of Business

Description of Business
Remitly Global, Inc. (the “Company” or “Remitly”) was incorporated in the State of Delaware in October 2018 and is headquartered in Seattle, Washington, with various
other global office locations.
Remitly is a leading digital financial services provider for immigrants and their families in over 150 countries, helping customers send money internationally in a quick,
reliable, and more cost-effective manner, by leveraging digital channels and supporting cross-border transmissions across the globe.
Unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, the terms “Remitly” and the “Company” in these notes to the consolidated financial statements refer to
Remitly Global, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
Initial Public Offering and Private Placement
In September 2021, the Company completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”), in which the Company issued and sold 7,000,000 shares of its common stock at $43.00
per share. Concurrently, 5,162,777 shares were sold by certain of the Company’s existing stockholders. In addition, the Company issued 581,395 shares of common stock to
an existing stockholder in a private placement at the same offering price as the IPO. The Company received net proceeds of $305.2 million for the IPO and private
placement, after deducting underwriting discounts and other fees of $20.8 million. In connection with the IPO, 127,410,631 shares of outstanding redeemable convertible
preferred stock automatically converted into an equivalent number of shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis.
2.

Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Remitly Global, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated in consolidation. In the opinion of management, these consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments,
which are necessary for a fair statement of the consolidated financial statements for all periods presented.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. These estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, revenue
recognition including the treatment of sales incentive programs, reserves for transaction losses, stock-based compensation expense including the estimated fair value per
share of common stock, the carrying value of operating lease right-of-use assets, the recoverability of deferred tax assets, and capitalization of software development costs.
The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on assumptions that management considers reasonable. Actual results could differ from these estimates and
assumptions, and these differences could be material to the consolidated financial statements.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company holds its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions throughout the world, which management assesses to be of high credit quality. The Company
considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents, so long as the Company has legal title
to such amounts held in these accounts. Amounts that are held in accounts for which the Company does not have legal title to are recorded separately in our consolidated
balance sheets, typically as disbursement prefunding balances. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and various deposit accounts.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash primarily consists of cash collateral that the Company maintains with various payment processors in connection with its contractual obligation. The
Company has relationships with certain payment processors that are responsible for processing the Company’s incoming customer payments. These processors require the
Company to maintain certain restricted cash balances as collateral throughout the term of the processor arrangement. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had
$0.1 million and $1.4 million of restricted cash, respectively.
Restricted cash has been classified as a non-current asset on the consolidated balance sheets as it is not expected to be released within one year of the balance sheet date.
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Disbursement Prefunding
The Company maintains relationships with disbursement partners in various countries. These partners are responsible for disbursing funds to recipients. The Company may
maintain prefunding balances with these disbursement partners so that they are able to fulfill customer requests. The Company does not earn interest on these balances. The
balances are not compensating balances and are not legally restricted. The Company is exposed to the risk of loss in the event the Company’s disbursement partners fail, for
any reason, to disburse funds to recipients according to the Company’s instructions. Such reasons could include mistakes by the Company’s disbursement partners in
processing payment instructions or failing to correctly classify and process error categories, or insolvency or fraud by the Company’s disbursement partners. The Company
maintains a loss reserve for these accounts which is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities within the consolidated balance sheets. However, historical
losses for the disbursement funding accounts have been inconsequential.
Customer Funds Receivable
When customers fund their transactions using credit cards or debit cards, there is a clearing period before the cash is received by the Company from the payment processors
of usually one business day. Similarly, when customers provide bank information and authorization for the Company to receive funds via electronic funds transfer, the
transactions are submitted via batch and received in cash usually in one to three business days. These card and electronic funds are treated as a receivable from the bank until
the cash is received by the Company. The Company does not maintain a reserve as historical losses have not been material.
Foreign Currency Translation
The functional currencies of the Company’s international subsidiaries in Canada, Australia, Ireland, United Kingdom, and Singapore are each country’s local currency. The
functional currency of the Company’s international subsidiaries in Poland and Nicaragua is the U.S. dollar. The results of operations for the Company’s international
subsidiaries, with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar, are translated from the local currency into U.S. dollars using the average exchange rates during each
period. All assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates at the end of each period. All equity transactions and certain assets are translated using historical rates.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company establishes the fair value of its certain assets and liabilities using the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities that are required to be recorded at
fair value, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market in which to transact and the market-based risk. The Company applies fair value accounting for
all financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis. The carrying values of cash
equivalents, disbursement prefunding, customer funds receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities,
and customer liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to their relative short maturities.
Fair value principles require disclosures regarding the manner in which fair value is determined for assets and liabilities and establishes a three-tiered fair value hierarchy
into which these assets and liabilities must be grouped, based upon significant levels of inputs as follows:
Level 1 Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly
through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instruments.
Level 3 Inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Company’s own assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities at fair value. The inputs require significant
management judgment or estimation.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, disbursement prefunding,
restricted cash, and customer funds receivable. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash balances that may exceed the insured limits by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. In addition, the Company funds its international operations using accounts with institutions in the major countries where its
subsidiaries operate. The Company also prefunds amounts which are held by its disbursement partners, which typically include India, Philippines and Mexico. The
Company has not experienced any significant losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents, disbursement prefunding, restricted cash or customer funds receivable in
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019.
For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, no individual customer represented 10% or more of the Company’s total revenues. As of December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, no individual customer represented 10% or more of the Company’s customer funds receivable.
Deferred Offering Costs
Prior to the IPO, deferred offering costs, which consist of direct incremental legal, accounting, and consulting fees relating to the IPO, were capitalized and included in other
non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. Upon completion of the IPO in September 2021, the
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Company reclassified $4.3 million of deferred offering costs to additional-paid-in capital offsetting the IPO proceeds. There were no material deferred offering costs
recorded as of as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.
Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Estimated Useful Lives

Capitalized internal-use software
Computer and office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

3 years
3 years
5 years
Lesser of useful life or remaining lease term

When assets are retired or disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gains or losses are included in the
consolidated statements of operations in the period of disposition. Maintenance and repairs that do not improve or extend the lives of the respective assets are charged to
expense in the period incurred.
Leases
A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant or equipment for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02 “Leases - Topic 842” (“ASC 842”) and all subsequent ASUs that modified ASC 842 on January 1, 2020 and
elected to apply the guidance to the comparative period. The Company’s lease commitments consist primarily of real estate property under various non-cancellable operating
leases that expire between 2021 and 2024. The majority of the leases contain renewal options and provisions for increases in rental rates based on a predetermined schedule
or an agreed upon index. If, at lease inception, the Company considers the exercise of a renewal option to be reasonably certain, the Company will include the extended term
in the calculation of the right-of-use asset and lease liability.
The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception by evaluating various factors, including if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration and other facts and circumstances. Lease classification is determined at the lease commencement date.
Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and operating lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments
arising from the lease. The lease liability is recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The ROU asset is initially
measured at cost, which is based on the lease liability adjusted for lease prepayments, plus any initial direct costs incurred less any lease incentives received. As the rate
implicit in most of its leases is not readily determinable, the Company generally uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized
borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at commencement date. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is
reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option.
The Company utilized certain practical expedients and policy elections available under the lease accounting standard. The Company has elected to combine lease and nonlease components as a single lease component for its real estate leases. The Company also elected not to recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities on its consolidated
balance sheets for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less. The Company recognizes lease payments associated with its short-term leases as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, which is the non-cancelable term adjusted for any renewal and termination
options that are considered reasonably certain. Operating leases are included in operating lease ROU assets, operating lease liabilities, and operating lease liabilities, noncurrent on the consolidated balance sheets.
During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the Company did not have any material finance leases.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully
recoverable. When such events occur, management determines whether there has been impairment by comparing the anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows to the
carrying value of the asset. If impairment exists, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value. During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, no
material impairment of long-lived assets was recorded.
Customer Liabilities
The Company recognizes transactions processed from customers but not yet disbursed to recipients as customer liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Customer liabilities are typically funds in-transit and the duration is typically one to two days.

69

Table of Contents

Revenue Recognition
See Note 3 for information related to the Company’s revenue recognition policy.
Sales Incentives
The Company provides sales incentives to customers in a variety of forms, which includes promotions, discounts, and other sales incentives. Cash incentives given to
customers are accounted for as reductions to revenue, up to the point where net historical cumulative revenue, at the customer level, is reduced to zero. Those additional
incentive costs that would have caused the customer level revenue to be negative are classified as advertising expenses and are included as a component of marketing
expenses. In addition, referral credits given to a referrer are classified as marketing expenses.
Transaction Expenses
Transaction expenses include fees paid to disbursement partners for paying funds to the recipient, provisions for transaction losses, fees paid to payment processors for
funding transactions, bad debt expense, chargebacks, fraud prevention costs, and costs for compliance tools. See Note 14 for a rollforward of the Company’s reserve for
transaction losses for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019.
Reserve for Transaction Losses
The Company is exposed to transaction losses including chargebacks, unauthorized credit card use, and fraud associated with customer transactions and other non-fraud
related losses. The Company establishes reserves for such losses based on historical trends and any specific risks identified in processing customer transactions. This reserve
is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The provision for transaction losses is included as a component of transaction
expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Customer Support and Operations
Customer support and operations expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses associated with the Company’s customer support and operations organization,
including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation, as well as third-party costs for customer support services, and travel and related office expenses. This includes
the Company’s customer service teams which directly support the Company’s customers, consisting of online support and call centers, and other costs incurred to support
the Company’s customers, including related telephony costs to support these teams, customer protection and risk teams, and investments in tools to effectively service the
Company’s customers, and increased customer self-service capabilities. Customer support and operations expenses also include corporate communication costs and
professional services fees.
Marketing
Marketing expenses consist primarily of advertising costs used to attract new customers, including branding-related expenses. Marketing expenses also include personnelrelated expenses associated with the Company’s marketing organization, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation, promotions, costs for software
subscription services dedicated for use by the Company’s marketing organization, and outside services contracted for marketing purposes.
Advertising Expense
Advertising expenses are charged to operations as incurred and are included as a component of marketing expenses. As noted under “Sales Incentives,” above, advertising
expenses also include additional incentive costs that would have caused the customer level revenue to be negative. Advertising expenses totaled $102.9 million, $62.0
million and $33.0 million during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, and are used primarily to attract new customers.
Technology and Development
Technology and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses for employees involved in the research, design, development and maintenance of
both new and existing products and services, including salaries, benefits and stock-based compensation. Technology and development expenses also include professional
services fees and costs for software subscription services dedicated for use by the Company’s technology and development teams. Technology and development costs are
generally expensed as incurred and do not include software development costs which qualify for capitalization as internal-use software. The amortization of internal usesoftware costs which were capitalized in accordance with ASC 350-40, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other-Internal Use Software, are separately presented under the caption
‘depreciation and amortization’ in our consolidated statements of operations.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses for the Company’s finance, legal, human resources, facilities, and administrative
personnel, including salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation. General and administrative expenses also include professional services fees, costs for software
subscriptions, facilities costs, indirect taxes, and other corporate expenses.
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Capitalized Internal-Use Software Costs
The Company accounts for software development costs incurred in connection with its internal-use software in accordance with ASC 350-40, Intangibles - Goodwill and
Other-Internal Use Software. Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred. Once an app has reached the development stage, internal
and external costs, if direct and incremental, are capitalized until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use.
Internal-use software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life, generally three years. Management evaluates the useful lives of these assets on an
annual basis and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets.
Capitalized Cloud Computing Arrangements
The Company incurs costs to implement cloud computing arrangements that are hosted by a third-party vendor. The Company adopted this new standard prospectively
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. For cloud computing arrangements that meet the definition of a service contract, the Company capitalizes implementation
costs incurred during the application development stage as a prepaid expense or an other non-current asset and amortizes the costs on a straight-line basis over the term of
the associated hosting arrangement and recognized as an operating expense within the consolidated statements of operations. The classification of the expense is determined
based on the nature of the hosting arrangement to which the implementation costs relate. Costs related to data conversion, training and other maintenance activities are
expensed as incurred. Implementation costs for cloud computing arrangements that meet the definition of a software license are accounted for consistent with software
developed or obtained for internal use as detailed further above.
Segment and Geographic Information
See Note 16 for information related to the Company’s segment reporting and geographic information.
Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders
Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed using the two-class method required for participating securities. All series of the
Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock and early exercised stock options are considered to be participating securities because all holders are entitled to
receive dividends on a pari passu basis in the event that a dividend is declared on the common stock.
Under the two-class method, basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss adjusted to include deemed dividends on redeemable convertible preferred stock by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common
shares by the weighted-average number of common shares determined for the basic earnings per share plus the dilutive effect of stock options, restricted stock units
(“RSUs”), warrants and redeemable convertible preferred stock. As the Company had losses for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 all potentially dilutive
securities are anti-dilutive, and accordingly, basic net loss per share equaled diluted net loss per share.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company grants equity awards under its equity incentive plans, as well as its employee stock purchase plan (the “ESPP,” as further defined in Note 10). The Company
measures stock-based compensation expense for both stock options granted under its equity incentive plans, and purchase rights issued under its ESPP, by calculating the
estimated fair value of each employee and nonemployee award at the grant date or modification date by applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model (the “model”). The
model utilizes the estimated value of the Company’s underlying common stock at the measurement date, the expected or contractual term of the option, the expected stock
price volatility, risk-free interest rate, and expected dividend yield of the common stock. Stock-based compensation expense is generally recognized on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period, which is typically the vesting period of the respective award; however, in some instances, the vesting percentages differ throughout the
service period. Stock-based compensation for restricted stock units are measured based on the fair market value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. In all instances,
the amount of compensation cost recognized at any date is at least equal to the portion of the grant-date value of the award that is legally vested (i.e., the “floor” pursuant to
ASC 718). Forfeitures are recognized in the period in which they occur.
The Company calculates the expected term based on the average period the options are expected to remain outstanding using the simplified method, generally calculated as
the midpoint of the requisite service period and the contractual term of the award.
The Company bases its estimate of expected volatility on the historical volatility of comparable companies from a representative peer group selected based on industry,
financial, and market capitalization data.
The Company’s expected dividend yield is zero as it has not declared nor paid any dividends during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 and does not
currently expect to do so in the future. The risk-free interest rate used in the model is based on the implied yield currently available in the U.S. Treasury securities at
maturity with an equivalent term.
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The Company’s 2011 and 2021 equity plans allow for early exercise of employee stock options whereby the option holder is allowed to exercise prior to vesting. The
consideration received for an early exercise of an option is considered to be a deposit of the exercise price, and the related dollar amount is recorded as a liability and
reflected in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. This liability is reclassified to additional paid-in capital as the awards vest. Any
unvested shares are subject to repurchase by the Company at their original exercise price.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been included in the consolidated financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of
the differences between the consolidated financial statements and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences
are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
The Company recognizes deferred tax assets to the extent that these assets are believed more likely than not to be realized. In making such a determination, all available
positive and negative evidence is considered, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies,
and results of recent operations.
Tax benefits for uncertain tax positions are based upon management’s evaluation of the information available at the reporting date. We recognize and measure uncertain tax
positions in accordance with GAAP, pursuant to which we only recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position if it is more likely than not that the tax position will
be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The benefit for positions meeting the recognition threshold is measured
as the largest benefit more likely than not of being realized upon settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information. The Company’s
policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of provision for income taxes.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements (“ASU”)
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40),Customer’s Accounting for Implementation
Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract. Under existing GAAP, there is diversity in practice in accounting for the costs of
implementing cloud computing arrangements (CCA) that are service contracts. The standard aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a
hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. The standard
also requires the presentation of the amortization of the capitalized implementation costs in the same line item in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss as the
fees associated with the hosting arrangement. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2021 with early adoption permitted. This ASU was adopted on a prospective basis for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. The Company
capitalized $1.1 million related to the implementation of cloud computing arrangements and recorded amortization expense of $0.2 million during the year ended December
31, 2021 as a result of the adoption of this ASU.
Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments- Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This ASU
replaces the existing incurred loss impairment methodology that recognizes credit losses when a probable loss has been incurred with new methodology pursuant to which
loss estimates are based upon lifetime expected credit losses. The amendments in this ASU require a financial asset that is measured at amortized cost to be presented at the
net amount expected to be collected. The consolidated statement of operations would then reflect the measurement of credit losses for newly recognized financial assets as
well as changes to the expected credit losses that have taken place during the reporting period. The change in allowance recognized as a result of adoption will occur through
a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the ASU is adopted. The new standard is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2022, and interim periods within that fiscal year with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the
guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which modifies ASC 740 to simplify the
accounting for income taxes. The ASU’s amendments are based on changes that were suggested by stakeholders as part of the FASB’s simplification initiative (i.e., the
Board’s effort to reduce the complexity of accounting standards while maintaining or enhancing the helpfulness of information provided to financial statement users). ASU
2019-12 removes certain exceptions related to the approach for intra period tax allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period and the
recognition of deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. ASU 2019-12 also amends other aspects of the guidance to help simplify and promote consistent
application of GAAP. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2022 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the guidance on its consolidated financial statements. We expect to adopt this ASU on
a prospective basis in the first quarter of 2022 and do not expect the adoption to have a significant impact on our financial statements.
There are other new accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB that we have adopted or will adopt, as applicable. We do not believe any of these accounting
pronouncements have had, or will have, a material impact on our consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
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3.

Revenue

The Company’s primary source of revenue is generated from its remittance business. Revenue is earned from transaction fees charged to customers and foreign exchange
spreads between the foreign exchange rate offered to customers and the foreign exchange rate on the Company's currency purchases. Revenue is recognized when control of
these services is transferred to the Company’s customers, which is the time the funds have been delivered to the intended recipient in an amount that reflects the
consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for services provided. The Company accounts for revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which includes the following steps:
(1) identification of the contract with a customer;
(2) identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
(3) determination of the transaction price;
(4) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
(5) recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.
Customers engage the Company to perform one integrated service — collect the customer’s money and deliver funds to the intended recipient in the currency requested.
Payment is generally due from the customer upfront upon initiation of a transaction, when the customer simultaneously agrees to the Company’s terms and conditions.
Revenue is derived from each transaction and varies based on the funding method chosen by the customer, the size of the transaction, the currency to be ultimately
disbursed, the rate at which the currency was purchased, and the countries to which the funds are transferred. The Company’s contract with customers can be terminated by
the customer without a termination penalty up until the time the funds have been delivered to the intended recipient. Therefore, the Company’s contracts are defined at the
transaction level and do not extend beyond the service already provided.
The Company’s service comprises a single performance obligation to complete transactions for the Company’s customers. Using compliance and risk assessment tools, the
Company performs a transaction risk assessment on individual transactions to determine whether a transaction should be accepted. When the Company accepts a transaction
and processes the designated payment method of the customer, the Company becomes obligated to its customer to complete the payment transaction, at which time a
receivable is recorded, along with a corresponding customer liability. None of the Company’s contracts contain a significant financing component.
The Company recognizes transaction revenue on a gross basis as it is the principal for fulfilling payment transactions. As the principal to the transaction, the Company
controls the service of completing payments on its payment platform. The Company bears primary responsibility for the fulfillment of the payment service, is the merchant
of record, contracts directly with its customers, controls the product specifications, and defines the value proposition of its services. The Company is also responsible for
providing customer support. Further, the Company has full discretion over determining the fee charged to its customers, which is independent of the cost it incurs in
instances where it may utilize payment processors or other financial institutions to perform services on its behalf. These fees paid to payment processors and other financial
institutions are recognized as transaction expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company does not have any capitalized contract acquisition costs.
Deferred Revenue
The deferred revenue balances from contracts with customers were as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

2020

2019

Deferred revenue, beginning of the period
Deferred revenue, end of the period

$

1,105
1,212

$

137
1,105

$

96
137

Change in deferred revenue during the period

$

107

$

968

$

41

Revenue recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021 from amounts included in deferred revenue at the beginning of the period was $0.3 million. Revenue
recognized during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 includes substantially all amounts included in deferred revenue at the beginning of each respective year.
Deferred revenue represents amounts received from customers for which the performance obligations are not yet fulfilled. Deferred revenue for our remittance business is
included within accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets as the performance obligations are expected to be fulfilled within the next
year. As of December 31, 2021, approximately $0.4 million of other deferred revenue is recorded within other non-current liabilities and relates to an upfront long-term
incentive payment received from a customer that will be recognized over the next three years, in line with the underlying performance obligations to which it relates.
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Sales Incentives
During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, payments made to customers resulted in reductions to revenue of $18.1 million, $15.7 million, and
$7.9 million, respectively, and charges to sales and marketing expense of $12.0 million, $9.8 million, and $6.1 million, respectively.
4.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:
December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Capitalized internal-use software
Computer and office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

2020

$

9,022
4,700
1,445
7,188

$

6,170
3,422
1,390
6,609

22,355
(13,106)

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
$

Property and equipment, net

9,249

17,591
(7,916)
$

9,675

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment was $5.3 million, $4.1 million and $2.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and
2019, respectively
Capitalized Internal-Use Software Costs
There has been no impairment of previously capitalized costs during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019.
The Company capitalized $2.9 million, $2.3 million and $2.2 million for internal-use software costs during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019,
respectively. The Company capitalized $0.3 million of stock-based compensation costs to internal-use software for the year ended December 31, 2021, and $0.1 million for
each of the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company recorded amortization expense of $2.5 million, $1.6 million and $0.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
Capitalized Cloud Computing Arrangements
The Company capitalized $1.1 million related to the implementation of cloud computing arrangements and recorded amortization expense of $0.2 million during the year
ended December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, capitalized costs, net of accumulated amortization, were approximately $0.9 million, of which $0.4 million was
recorded within prepaid expenses and other current assets and $0.5 million was recorded within other non-current assets in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
Amortization expense related to cloud computing arrangements for the year-ended December 31, 2021 was as follows:
December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Technology and development

$

165

General and administrative

22
$

Total amortization
5.

187

Fair Value Measurements

There are no financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as of December 31, 2021.
The following table presents information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the
valuation inputs used as of December 31, 2020:
As of December 31, 2020
Level 1

(in thousands)

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets
Restricted cash
Certificates of deposit
Total assets

$

—

$

102

$

—

$

102

$

—

$

102

$

—

$

102
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The carrying values of certain financial instruments, including disbursement prefunding, customer funds receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current
liabilities, customer liabilities and borrowings approximate their respective fair values due to their relative short maturities and are excluded from the fair value table above.
If these financial instruments were measured at fair value in the financial statements, they would be classified as Level 2.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019.
6.

Debt

Secured Revolving Credit Facility
New Revolving Credit Facility
On September 13, 2021, Remitly Global, Inc. and Remitly, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Remitly Global, Inc., as co-borrowers, entered into a credit agreement (the
“New Revolving Credit Facility”) with certain lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acting as administrative agent and collateral agent, that provides for revolving
commitments of $250.0 million (including a $60.0 million letter of credit sub-facility) and terminated its then-existing 2020 Credit Agreement (as defined below). Proceeds
under the New Revolving Credit Facility are available for working capital and general corporate purposes. As part of the refinancing, the Company performed a debt
modification analysis, utilizing the borrowing capacity test within ASC 470-50, Debt — Modification and Extinguishment, on a lender-by-lender basis, resulting in the
capitalization of $1.4 million of new debt issuance costs incurred in connection with the New Revolving Credit Facility, which were fully paid as of December 31, 2021.
Such amounts were capitalized and recorded within other long-term assets, net in the consolidated balance sheet, and will be amortized to interest expense over the term of
the New Revolving Credit Facility. The Company previously had $0.5 million of unamortized debt issuance costs associated with its existing Revolving Credit Facility. As a
result of the debt modification analysis, the Company will continue to amortize $0.4 million of unamortized debt issuance costs over the term of the New Revolving Credit
Facility. The remaining $0.1 million was expensed as a debt extinguishment cost within interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations during the year ended
December 31, 2021.
The New Revolving Credit Facility was used to refinance its existing 2020 Credit Agreement. The New Revolving Credit Facility has a maturity date of September 13,
2026. Borrowings under the New Revolving Credit Facility accrue interest at a floating rate per annum equal to, at the Company’s option, (1) the Alternate Base Rate
(defined in the New Revolving Credit Facility as the rate per annum equal to the highest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (b) the NYFRB Rate in effect for such
day plus 0.50% and (c) the Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1.00%, subject to a floor of 1.00% plus 0.50% or (2) the Adjusted LIBO Rate (subject to a floor of 0.00%) plus 1.50%.
Such interest is payable (a) with respect to Alternate Base Rate loans, the last day of each March, June, September and December and (b) with respect to Adjusted LIBO
Rate loans, at the end of each applicable interest period, but in no event less frequently than every three months. In addition, an unused commitment fee, which accrues at a
rate per annum equal to 0.25% of the unused portion of the revolving commitments, is payable on the last day of each March, June, September and December.
The New Revolving Credit Facility contains customary conditions to borrowing, events of default and covenants, including covenants that restrict the ability to dispose of
assets, merge with other entities, incur indebtedness, grant liens, pay dividends or make other distributions to holders of its capital stock, make investments, enter into
restrictive agreements or engage in transactions with affiliates. As of December 31, 2021, financial covenants in the New Revolving Credit Facility include (1) a requirement
to maintain a minimum Adjusted Quick Ratio of 1.50:1.00, which is tested quarterly and (2) a requirement to maintain a minimum Liquidity of $100.0 million, which is
tested quarterly. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants under the New Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021.
The obligations under the New Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by the material domestic subsidiaries of Remitly Global, Inc., subject to customary exceptions, and
are secured by substantially all of the assets of the borrowers and guarantors thereunder, subject to customary exceptions. Amounts of borrowings under the New Revolving
Credit Facility may fluctuate depending upon transaction volumes and seasonality.
As of December 31, 2021, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the New Revolving Credit Facility and $18.9 million in issued, but undrawn, standby letters
of credit. The Company had unused borrowing capacity of $231.1 million under the New Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2021.
2020 Credit Agreement
Since 2013, the Company had access to a variable rate credit facility. In June 2019, the Company refinanced into a new credit agreement, which was further refinanced in
November 2020, as discussed below. In connection with the refinancing, the Company repaid the remaining $2.8 million on its then-outstanding term loan. In November
2020, Remitly Global, Inc. and Remitly, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Remitly Global, Inc., as borrower, further modified its then-existing credit agreement (the “2020
Credit Agreement”). Following such modification, the 2020 Credit Agreement provided Remitly, Inc. with access up to $150.0 million in revolving credit facility
borrowings (including a $30.0 million letter of credit sub-facility) with a maturity date of November 16, 2023.
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Borrowings under the 2020 Credit Agreement were subject to mandatory repayment within 20 business days in an amount necessary to reduce the borrowings, in the
aggregate, to an amount less than the Company’s customer funds account maintained with the lender. Interest on borrowings under the 2020 Credit Agreement accrued at a
floating rate per annum equal to (i) ABR (defined in the 2020 Credit Agreement as the rate per annum equal to the highest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (b)
3.25% and (c) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect for such day plus 0.50% plus (ii) 1.0%. In addition, an unused revolving line facility fee accrued at a floating rate
per annum equal to 0.40% of the unused portion of the line, payable monthly. As of December 31, 2020, the interest rate of the borrowings under the revolving credit facility
was 4.25%.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had outstanding borrowings under the 2020 Credit Agreement of $80.0 million and $9.4 million in issued, but undrawn, standby
letters of credit outstanding.
The 2020 Credit Agreement contained customary conditions to borrowing, events of default and covenants, including covenants that restrict the Company’s ability to
dispose of assets, merge with or acquire other entities, incur indebtedness, pay dividends, incur encumbrances, make distributions to holders of its capital stock, make
investments or engage in transactions with affiliates. Defined events of default included the occurrence of a Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the 2020 Credit
Agreement) on the business or financial condition of the Company. Financial covenants included (1) a requirement to maintain a minimum Adjusted Quick Ratio of
1.50:1.00, which was tested monthly and (2) a requirement to maintain minimum trailing twelve month Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the 2020 Credit
Agreement), which was tested quarterly. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants under the 2020 Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2020.
The obligations under the 2020 Credit Agreement were guaranteed by the material subsidiaries of Remitly Global, Inc., subject to customary exceptions, and were secured
by substantially all of the assets of the borrowers and guarantors thereunder, other than intellectual property.
7.

Net Loss Per Common Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed using the two-class method required for participating securities. Prior to the automatic
conversion of all of its redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding into common stock upon the completion of the IPO, the Company considered all series of the
Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock and early exercised stock options to be participating securities, as the holders of such stock have the right to
receive dividends on a pari passu basis in the event that a dividend is declared on the common stock. Upon completion of the IPO, all of the Company’s redeemable
convertible preferred stock was converted to common stock. After the IPO, the Company’s early exercised stock options continue to be participating in nature.
Under the two-class method, basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss adjusted to include deemed dividends on redeemable convertible preferred stock by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common
shares by the weighted-average number of common shares determined for the basic earnings per share plus the dilutive effect of stock options, RSUs, common stock
warrants and redeemable convertible preferred stock. As the Company reported a net loss, diluted net loss per share was the same as basic net loss per share because the
effects of potentially dilutive items were anti-dilutive for all periods presented.
The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the periods indicated:
Years Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Numerator:
Net loss
Deemed dividend on redeemable convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders:
Basic and diluted
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic and diluted
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2020

2019

$

(38,756) $
—

(32,564) $
—

(51,392)
(12,134)

$

(38,756) $

(32,564) $

(63,526)

60,728,748
$

(0.64) $

21,459,062
(1.52) $

21,290,784
(2.98)
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The following potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share calculations for the periods presented because the impact of
including them would have been anti-dilutive:
Years Ended December 31,
2021
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Common stock warrants
Stock options outstanding
RSUs outstanding(1)

2020
127,082,605
256,250

117,788,521
256,250

23,386,942

21,034,424

19,045,751

3,496,611
735,282

ESPP
Shares subject to repurchase

456,294
28,075,129

Total

2019

—
—

437,369
—

—
—

1,888,322

1,818,334

150,698,970

138,908,856

(1)

A portion of these RSUs were subject to a performance-based vesting condition until September 22, 2021. See Note 10 for details on these awards. Includes 124,026 RSUs which legally vested
but were not yet issued as common stock as of December 31, 2021.

8.

Common Stock

As of December 31, 2021, the Company has authorized 725,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. Each holder of a share of common stock
is entitled to one vote for each share held at all meetings of stockholders and is entitled to receive dividends whenever funds are legally available and when declared by the
Company’s board of directors. Through December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, no dividends have been declared or paid by the Company.
Donation to Remitly Philanthropy Fund
In July 2021, the Company’s board of directors approved the reservation of up to 1,819,609 shares of common stock (which was approximately 1.0% of the fully diluted
capitalization as of June 30, 2021) that the Company may issue to or for the benefit of a 501(c)(3) nonprofit foundation or a similar charitable organization pursuant to the
Company’s Pledge 1% commitment in equal installments over ten years. On September 10, 2021, the Company executed the stock donation agreement, pursuant to which it
would issue the first installment of the Pledge 1% commitment to Remitly Philanthropy Fund, a donor advised fund that will be administered on its behalf by Rockefeller
Philanthropy Advisors, Inc., on the day after consummation of the IPO. On September 28, 2021, the Company donated 181,961 shares of its common stock to Remitly
Philanthropy Fund, pursuant to the stock donation agreement, and in connection with the Pledge 1% campaign, which publicly acknowledges the Company’s intent to give
back and increase social impact, in order to sustainably fund a portion of its corporate social responsibility goals and further its mission to expand financial inclusion for
immigrants. The Company recorded a charge of $6.9 million to general and administrative expense based on the closing price of its common stock as reported on the Nasdaq
Global Select Market (the “NASDAQ”) on September 28, 2021.
Warrants
In connection with a previous credit agreement, the Company issued stock warrants to purchase shares of common stock with terms of 10 years, exercisable at any time, and
exercise prices ranging from $0.054 to $0.64 per share, subject to standard anti-dilution adjustments. The warrants were recorded as additional paid-in capital and
capitalized as debt issuance costs on the consolidated balance sheets. On September 24, 2021, the holders of these stock warrants provided a notice of exercise and on
September 30, 2021, warrants to purchase 256,250 shares of common stock were exercised in a cashless exercise, pursuant to the terms of the original warrant agreement,
resulting in the issuance of 254,014 shares. There were no warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and there were 256,250 warrants outstanding as of December 31,
2020.
9.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Upon completion of the IPO, all shares of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding, totaling 127,410,631, were automatically converted into an
equivalent number of shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis and their carrying value of $390.7 million was reclassified into stockholders’ equity. As of December
31, 2021, there were no shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding.
In connection with the IPO, the Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation became effective, which authorized the issuance of 50,000,000 shares of
undesignated preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share with right and preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to time by the Company’s board
of directors.
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The following table summarizes information regarding each series of redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding as of December 31, 2020 (in thousands, except
share and per share amounts):

Series

Shares Authorized

Shares Issued and
Outstanding

Issuance Price Per
Share

10,199,786
8,780,816

6,446,322
8,643,665

Series A
Series B

11,514,347
14,196,476

10,359,546
14,196,476

0.50
0.88

5,091
12,374

5,180
12,500

Series C
Series D

25,146,777
30,331,802

25,146,777
30,331,802

1.70
3.79

41,863
109,674

42,800
115,000

Series E
Series F

22,663,934
9,840,797

22,663,933
9,294,084

5.96
9.15

129,770
84,834

135,001
85,000

132,674,735

127,082,605

$

0.27
0.30

$

$

1,595
2,506

Aggregate Liquidation
Preference

Series Seed
Series Seed Prime

Total

$

Carrying Amount

387,707

$

$

1,741
2,593

399,815

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 9,294,084 shares of Series F redeemable convertible preferred stock at $9.1456 per share for proceeds
totaling $85.0 million, net of issuance costs. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company issued 328,026 shares of Series F redeemable convertible stock at
$9.1456 per share for proceeds totaling $3.0 million, net of issuance costs.
The terms of Series Seed, Seed Prime, A, B, C, D, E and F redeemable convertible preferred stock are summarized below:
Conversion
Each share of preferred stock is convertible at the option of the holder into such number of common stock at a rate equal to the original issue price of the applicable series of
preferred stock divided by the conversion price for the applicable series of preferred stock in effect at the time of the conversion. The conversion price for each share of
preferred stock is initially equal to the applicable original issue price, such that the initial conversion rate is 1-for-1. The conversion price is subject to standard anti-dilution
adjustments and adjustments for issuance of stock at a price per share less than the conversion price in effect for each series (Series Seed $0.2729 per share, Seed Prime
$0.2961 per share, Series A $0.4976 per share, Series B $0.8805 per share, Series C $1.7032 per share, Series D $3.7914 per share, Series E is $5.9566, Series F is $9.1456
per share). Each share of redeemable convertible preferred stock is automatically convertible into common stock based on the conversion rate at such time immediately upon
the earlier of (i) closing of a firm commitment underwritten public offering which results in gross cash proceeds of at least $100.0 million and a per share price of $9.1456
(as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, combinations, or other similar recapitalization), or (ii) vote or written consent of the holders of the Series C, Series D, and
Series E redeemable convertible preferred stock.
Liquidation Preference
In the event of a liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company or a deemed liquidation of the Company, before any payment shall be made to common
stockholders, redeemable convertible preferred stock-holders shall be paid, on a pari passu basis amount all classes of redeemable convertible preferred stock, the greater of:
(i) the original issue price per share for the redeemable convertible preferred stock plus any dividends declared but unpaid thereon, or (ii) the amount per share as would
have been payable had the shares of redeemable convertible been converted to common stock immediately prior to such event. A deemed liquidation event includes (i) a
merger or consolidation, (ii) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or (iii) a change in controlling ownership of the Company unless the holders of at
least a majority of the outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock, voting together as a single class on as-converted basis, elect to not classify such an
event a deemed liquidation event.
Since a deemed liquidation event would constitute a redemption event outside of the Company’s controls, redeemable convertible preferred stock has been presented within
the mezzanine section on the consolidated balance sheets.
Redemption
The convertible preferred stock is not mandatorily redeemable at any future certain date.
Voting
The holders of the Series Seed, Seed Prime, A, B, C, D, E and F redeemable convertible preferred stock are entitled to vote, together with the holders of common stock, on
all matters presented to stockholders for a vote. Each holder of the share of redeemable convertible preferred stock is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of
shares of common stock into which each share of redeemable convertible preferred stock is convertible at the time of such vote.
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Dividends
The holders of the Series Seed, Seed Prime, A, B, C, D, E and F preferred stock are entitled to receive, when and as declared by the Company’s board of directors and out of
assets legally available, such dividends as may be declared from time to time by its board of directors. Any dividends shall be distributed among the holder of preferred
stock and common stock pro rata based on the number of shares of common stock then held by each holder (assuming conversion of all such preferred stock into common
stock). To date, no dividends have been declared or paid by the Company.
Tender Offer
In October 2019, the Company facilitated and consummated a tender offer (the “2019 Tender Offer”) in which the Company repurchased shares of common stock and
redeemable convertible preferred stock from certain of the Company’s current employees, former employees, founders and investors. In connection with the 2019 Tender
Offer, the Company repurchased and retired an aggregate of 2,295,603 shares of Series Seed, Series Seed Prime and Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock for an
aggregate purchase price of $13.0 million. The excess of the amount paid over the carrying value of Series Seed, Series Seed Prime and Series A redeemable convertible
preferred stock, totaling $12.1 million, was recorded as a deemed dividend. Of the total recorded as a deemed dividend, $6.1 million decreased additional paid-in capital,
with the remaining $6.0 million recorded as an increase in accumulated deficit.
In addition, the Company repurchased and retired 2,053,690 shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $11.0 million. See Note 10 for details on this
transaction. There were no such transactions during the years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020.
10.

Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Plans
In 2011, the Company adopted the Remitly Global, Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”), as amended, which provided for the issuance of up to 43,899,677
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted common stock, and RSUs and stock appreciation rights to employees, directors, officers, and consultants of the
Company.
In September 2021, the Company adopted the Remitly Global, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”, and together with the 2011 Plan, the “Plan”) as a successor
to the 2011 Plan. The 2021 Plan authorizes the issuance of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted common stock, stock appreciation rights, RSUs,
and performance and stock bonus awards. Pursuant to the 2021 Plan, incentive stock options may be granted only to Company employees. The Company may grant all other
types of awards to its employees, directors, and consultants. The 2021 Plan is administered by the Company’s board of directors, which determines the terms of the grants,
including exercise price, number of equity awards granted, and vesting schedule. The 2021 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 25,000,000 shares of common stock, plus
any reserved shares not issued or subject to outstanding grants under the 2011 Plan, which was 552,736 on the effective date of the 2021 Plan, for a total of 25,552,736
shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan will increase automatically on January 1 of each of 2022
through 2031 by the number of shares equal to 5% of the aggregate number of outstanding shares of all classes of common stock as of the immediately preceding December
31, or a lesser number as may be determined by the Company’s talent and compensation committee, or by the Company’s board of directors acting in place of the talent and
compensation committee.
In addition, in September 2021, the Company adopted the Remitly Global, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2021 ESPP” or “ESPP”) to enable eligible
employees to purchase shares of common stock with accumulated payroll deductions at a discount. The ESPP provides for the issuance of up to 3,500,000 shares of
common stock. The number of shares reserved for issuance and sale under the ESPP will increase automatically on January 1 of each of 2022 through 2031 by the number
of shares equal to 1% of the aggregate number of outstanding shares of all classes of common stock as of the immediately preceding December 31, or a lesser number as
may be determined by the Company’s talent and compensation committee, or by the Company’s board of directors acting in place of the talent and compensation committee.
Subject to stock splits, recapitalizations, or similar events, no more than 35,000,000 shares of common stock may be issued over the term of the ESPP. The ESPP is intended
to qualify under Section 423 of the Code, provided that the administrator may adopt sub-plans under the ESPP designed to be outside of the scope of Section 423 for
participants who are non-U.S. residents.
As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 23,599,005 and 206,529 equity awards remain available for issuance under the 2021 Plan and 2011 Plan, respectively. As
of December 31, 2021, there have been no issuances of shares under the ESPP, therefore all 3,500,000 shares of common stock remain available for issuance.
Stock Options
Stock options granted under the Plan generally vest over a period from two years to four years from the vesting commencement date on a monthly basis with or without a
one-year cliff or, for non-employees, ratably on a monthly basis over a shorter period, depending upon anticipated duration of services. Other vesting terms are determined
by the Company’s board of directors. All options granted under the Plan are exercisable for up to ten years from the grant date, subject to vesting. In the event of termination
of service, options will generally remain exercisable, to the extent vested, for three months following the termination of service.
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The following is a summary of the Company’s stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2021:
Stock Options

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Number of Options
Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Remaining Contractual
Life (Years)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

$

1.88
7.26

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value (1)

Balances as of January 1, 2021
Granted

21,034,424
8,219,753

Exercised
Forfeited

(4,495,889)
(1,371,346)

1.85
3.16

Balances as of December 31, 2021

23,386,942

3.70

7.66

395,676

Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2021

10,200,154

1.77

6.38

192,296

Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2021

23,788,236

3.69

7.66 $

402,847

$

7.82 $

64,604
72,208

_________________
(1) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock options and the estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock.

The fair value of each employee stock option granted during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptions:
Years Ended December 31,

2021

2020

2019

Risk-free interest rates
Expected term (in years)

0.32% to 1.19%
3.5 to 6.8 years

0.30% to 1.47%
5.0 to 6.6 years

1.51% to 2.47%
5.0 to 10.0 years

Volatility
Dividend rate

37.8% to 50.5%
—%

37.3% to 54.0%
—%

53.8% to 54.0%
—%

Fair value of underlying common stock
Prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company’s board of directors considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair value of the Company’s
common stock at each meeting in which awards were approved. The factors considered included, but were not limited to: (i) the results of contemporaneous independent
third-party valuations of the Company’s common stock; (ii) the prices, rights, preferences, and privileges of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock relative
to those of its common stock; (iii) the lack of marketability of the Company’s common stock; (iv) actual operating and financial results; (v) current business conditions and
projections; (vi) the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or sale of the Company, given prevailing market conditions; and (vii)
precedent transactions involving the Company’s shares. After the completion of the IPO, the fair value of the Company’s common stock is determined by the closing price,
on the date of grant, of its common stock, which is traded on the NASDAQ.
The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $5.22, $1.10, and $1.23 respectively. The
aggregate grant-date fair value of options vested for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $7.3 million, $5.4 million, and $3.7 million, respectively. The
intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $72.2 million, $2.4 million, and $3.0 million, respectively.
Restricted Stock Units
Prior to the IPO, the Company granted performance-based RSUs (“PRSUs”) to employees and directors that continued both service-based and performance-based vesting
conditions. The service-based vesting condition for these awards is typically satisfied over four years with a cliff vesting period of one year and continued vesting quarterly
thereafter. The performance-based vesting condition is satisfied on the earlier of (i) the effective date of a registration statement of the Company filed under the Securities
Act for the sale of the Company’s common stock or (ii) immediately prior to the closing of a change in control of the Company. Both events were not deemed probable until
consummated, and therefore, stock-based compensation expense related to these PRSUs remained unrecognized prior to the effectiveness of the IPO. Upon the effectiveness
of the IPO, the performance-based vesting condition was satisfied, and therefore, the Company recognized cumulative stock-based compensation expense of $1.1 million,
using the accelerated attribution method for the portion of the awards for which the service-based vesting condition has been fully or partially satisfied. The remaining grantdate fair value of these PRSUs will be recognized over the remaining requisite service period.
Beginning in August 2021, the Company began granting RSUs to employees and directors with service-based vesting conditions. The service-based vesting condition for
these awards is typically satisfied over four years with a cliff vesting period of one year and continued vesting quarterly thereafter. The grant-date fair value of these RSUs
will be recognized over the requisite service period.
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Restricted stock unit activity, including PRSUs, during the year ended December 31, 2021 was as follows:
Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair Value
Per Share

Number of Shares

Unvested at January 1, 2021

437,369

$

3.54

Granted

3,112,492

27.16

Vested
Cancelled/forfeited

(124,026)
(53,250)

5.07
32.11

3,372,585

24.83

Unvested at December 31, 2021

The weighted-average grant date fair value of RSUs, including PRSUs, granted during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $27.16 and $3.54, respectively.
The aggregate grant-date fair value of RSUS, including PRSUs, vested for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $0.6 million and zero, respectively. There were
no RSUs granted or vested during the year ended December 31, 2019.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The ESPP provides for consecutive offering periods during which eligible employees can participate in the ESPP and be granted the right to purchase shares. The offering
period that commenced on September 22, 2021 shall end on August 31, 2023 with the first purchase period ending on February 28, 2022, the second purchase period ending
on August 31, 2022, the third purchase period ending on February 28, 2023, and the fourth purchase period ending on August 31, 2023. Thereafter, subsequent offering
periods shall commence on each subsequent March 1 and September 1, with each offering period consisting of four six-month purchase periods, for a total of a 24-month
offering period. No offering periods may last longer than 27 months.
Eligible employees can contribute up to 15% of their eligible compensation, subject to limitation as provided for in the ESPP, and purchase the common stock at a purchase
price per share equal to 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the common stock on (i) the offering date, which is defined as the first business day of the offering
period, or (ii) the purchase date, which is the final business day of the purchase period.
The fair value of ESPP offerings was estimated at the date of each offering using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions during the year
ended December 31, 2021:
Year Ended December 31,
2021
Risk-free interest rates
Expected term (in years)

0.06% to 0.30%
0.4 to 1.9 years

Volatility
Dividend rate

37.7% to 56.0%
—%

The Company’s ESPP began in 2021, therefore no awards were granted under the ESPP during the year ended December 31, 2020.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Stock-based compensation expense for stock options, RSUs, PRSUs, and the ESPP, included in the consolidated statements of operations, net of amounts capitalized to
internal-use software, as described in Note 4, were as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Customer support and operations

$

Marketing
Technology and development

2020
153

$

2,325
6,931

General and administrative
Total

17,016

$

869
2,130

7,607
$

2019
22

2,243
$

5,264

25
541
1,486
1,596

$

3,648

As of December 31, 2021, the total unamortized compensation cost related to all non-vested equity awards, including options, RSUs, and PRSUs was $122.6 million, which
will be amortized over a weighted-average remaining requisite service period of approximately 3.3 years. As of December 31, 2021, the total unrecognized compensation
expense related to the ESPP was $3.9 million, which is expected to be amortized over the next 1.7 years.
The Company did not record a material income tax benefit related to stock-based compensation expense and stock option exercises, during the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020, and 2019, since the Company currently maintains a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets in the jurisdictions where material stockcompensation expense charges are incurred, and stock option exercises occurred.
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Tender Offer
In connection with the 2019 Tender Offer, as discussed in Note 9, the Company repurchased and retired 2,053,690 shares of the Company’s common stock for an aggregate
purchase price of $11.0 million. The amounts paid in excess of the fair value of the common shares repurchased from the Company’s employees and founders, totaling $4.0
million were recorded as compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2019, and are in addition to the amounts included as stock-based compensation expense in
the above table. The $4.0 million of excess fair value was recorded in the following line items in the consolidated statements of operations: $0.2 million in marketing, $2.0
million in technology and development, and $1.8 million in general and administrative. The remaining $7.0 million was recorded as a decrease to par value of common
stock and an increase in accumulated deficit, as the additional paid-in capital balance at the time of the transaction was zero. There were no such transactions during the
years ended December 31, 2021 or 2020.
11.

Related Party Arrangements

The Company had promissory note agreements with two executive employees in conjunction with their early exercise of stock options to purchase 1,800,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock. The principal amount of the notes was $3.1 million, and interest accrued at 2.83% on the outstanding principal amount annually. The notes were
secured by the shares that were exercised. Based on the non-recourse nature of these agreements, the agreements were accounted for as grants of options to purchase
common stock. The fair value of the stock options, determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model was being recognized over the requisite service period.
The associated shares are legally outstanding and included in shares of common stock outstanding in the consolidated financial statements, but were historically excluded
from the Company’s net loss per common share calculations, as these shares of common stock were considered unvested until the underlying promissory notes were repaid.
On August 23, 2021, the promissory notes were paid in full, including all accrued interest. After repayment of the loan, these shares are now considered outstanding for
purposes of the Company’s net loss per common share calculations to the extent the shares are vested.
12.

Income Taxes

The components of loss before provision for income taxes were as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

2020

2019

United States
Foreign

$

(46,241) $
8,528

(35,542) $
4,141

(52,685)
1,552

Loss before provision for income taxes

$

(37,713) $

(31,401) $

(51,133)

The components of the provision for income taxes were as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

2020

2019

Current tax benefit (expense)
Federal
State

$

— $
(257)

2 $
(132)

—
(19)

Foreign

(1,650)

(1,019)

(240)

Total current tax expense

(1,907)

(1,149)

(259)

—

—

—

—
864

—
(14)

—
—

Deferred tax benefit (expense)
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred tax benefit (expense)
$

Provision for income taxes

82
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(14)

(1,043) $

(1,163) $

—
(259)
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A reconciliation at the applicable federal statutory rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate were as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2021

2020

2019

Federal income taxes at statutory rate

21.00 %

State income tax, net of federal benefit

11.37

2.93

3.09

(66.51)
31.08

(26.26)
—

(25.27)
—

Increase in valuation allowance
Stock-based compensation
Other

21.00 %

0.29

(1.37)

(2.77) %

Effective income tax rate

21.00 %

0.67

(3.70) %

(0.51) %

As of December 31, 2021, the Company has U.S. net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of $272.1 million and state NOL carryforwards of $123.9 million. Such NOL
carryforwards will begin to expire between 2032 and 2041. NOL carryforwards are subject to possible limitation should a change in ownership of the Company occur, as
defined by Internal Revenue Code Section 382.
The tax effects of the temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to deferred tax assets were as follows:
As of December 31,
(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets

2021

Net operating loss carryforwards

$

2020
67,253

$

45,531

Accrued expenses
Stock-based compensation

2,561
4,272

1,328
1,535

Operating lease liabilities
Other

642
1,865

1,107
738

76,593

50,239

Deferred tax liabilities
Fixed assets and intangible assets

(112)

(223)

Operating lease right-of-use assets
Other

(485)
(848)

(825)
—

(1,445)

(1,048)

Gross deferred tax assets

Gross deferred tax liabilities
Valuation allowance

(74,244)
$

Net deferred tax assets

904

(49,159)
$

32

The Company has established a full valuation allowance against the U.S. net deferred tax assets, as it believes that these deferred tax assets do not meet the more likely than
not threshold.
The net change in the total valuation allowance was an increase of $25.1 million, $8.2 million, and $12.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019
respectively. The following represents the changes in our valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively:
Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands)

2021

2020

2019

Balance at the beginning of the period
Charged to net income

$

49,159
25,085

$

40,913 $
8,246

27,994
12,919

Balance at the end of the period

$

74,244

$

49,159 $

40,913

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various state jurisdictions, and internationally. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, there is no accrued
interest or penalties associated with income taxes recorded in the consolidated financial statements. The 2012 through 2021 tax years remain open for examination by taxing
authorities.
The calculation of the Company’s tax obligations involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations. ASC 740, Income Taxes,
provides that a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position may be recognized when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including
resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, on the basis of the technical merits. The Company has assessed its income tax positions and recorded tax benefits
for all years subject to examination, based upon its evaluation of the facts,
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circumstances and information available at each period end. For those tax positions where the Company has determined there is a greater than 50% likelihood that a tax
benefit will be sustained, the Company has recorded the largest amount of tax benefit that may potentially be realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that
has full knowledge of all relevant information. For those income tax positions where it is determined there is less than 50% likelihood that a tax benefit will be sustained, no
tax benefit has been recognized. The Company had no uncertain tax positions during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019.
The Company recognizes interest and, if applicable, penalties for any uncertain tax positions. Interest and penalties are recorded as a component of income tax expense. In
the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company did not have any accrued interest or penalties associated with any unrecognized tax benefits.
The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted by the United States on March 27, 2020. The CARES Act did not have a material
impact on the Company’s provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2021 or 2020.
13.

401(k) Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a defined contribution savings plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. This plan covers substantially all domestic employees who meet
minimum age and service requirements and allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pre-tax basis. The Company makes discretionary
matching contributions that are funded in the following year. The Company matches 50% of the first 3% of compensation that a participant contributes to the 401(k) plan, up
to a maximum of $1,000 per plan year. The Company contributed $0.2 million to the 401(k) plan for each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and
$0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, which represents the current period contribution for the prior plan year. The Company may also make discretionary
profit-sharing contributions. No profit-sharing contributions were made during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019.
14.

Commitments and Contingencies

Guarantees and Indemnification
In the ordinary course of business to facilitate sales of its services, the Company has entered into agreements with, among others, suppliers, and partners that include
guarantees or indemnity provisions. The Company also enters into indemnification agreements with its officers and directors, and the Company’s certificate of incorporation
and bylaws include similar indemnification obligations to its officers and directors. To date, there have been no claims under any indemnification provisions, therefore no
such amounts have been accrued as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.
Litigation and Loss Contingencies
Litigation
From time to time, the Company may be a party to litigation and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business, including intellectual property claims, labor
and employment claims, threatened claims, breach of contract claims, and other matters. The Company accrues estimates for resolution of legal and other contingencies
when losses are probable and estimable. Although the results of litigation and claims are inherently unpredictable, the Company believes that there was not at least a
reasonable possibility that it had incurred a material loss with respect to such potential loss contingencies, as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.
Indirect taxes
The Company is subject to indirect taxation in various states and foreign jurisdictions in which it conducts business. The Company continually evaluates those jurisdictions
in which indirect tax obligations exist to determine whether a loss is probable, as defined under GAAP, and the amount can be estimated. Determination of whether a loss is
probable, and an estimate can be made, is a complex undertaking and takes into account the judgment of management, third-party research, and the potential outcome of
negotiation and interpretations by regulators and courts, among other information. Such assessments include consideration of management’s evaluation of domestic and
international tax laws and regulations, and the extent to which they may apply to our business and industry. Our assessment of probability includes consideration of recent
inquiries, potential self-disclosure, and applicability of tax rules driven by the growth in our business. As a result of this assessment, management has accrued an estimated
liability of approximately $3.8 million as of December 31, 2021, reflecting the amount that the Company believes is probable and estimable. The estimated liability is
recorded within accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Although the Company believes its indirect tax estimates and
associated liabilities are reasonable, the final determination of indirect tax audits or settlements could be materially different than the amounts recorded, and such differences
could be material.
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Reserve for Transaction Losses
The table below summarizes the Company’s reserve for transaction losses for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019:
Years Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Beginning balance
Provisions for transaction losses

$

2020
3,250
29,596

Losses incurred, net of recoveries

$

(29,712)
$

Ending balance

2019
798
19,663

$

497
7,859

(17,211)

3,134

$

3,250

(7,558)
$

798

15. Accrued Expenses & Other Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:
December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Trade settlement liability

$

2020
18,924

$

16,700

ESPP employee contributions

1,551

—

Accrued transaction expense
Accrued marketing expense

12,639
10,788

6,399
4,883

Reserve for transaction losses
Accrued salaries and benefits

3,134
2,923

3,250
1,960

Other accrued expenses

16,724
$

Total

66,683

6,550
$

39,742

16. Segment and Geographical Information
The Company determines operating segments based on how its chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) manages the business, makes operating decisions around the
allocation of resources, and evaluates operating performance. The Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive Officer, who reviews the Company’s operating results on a
consolidated basis. The Company operates as one segment. Based on the information provided to and reviewed by the Company’s CODM, the Company believes that the
nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of its revenue and how it is affected by economic factors are most appropriately depicted through the Company’s primary
geographical locations. Revenues recorded by the Company are substantially all from the Company’s single performance obligation which are earned from similar services
for which the nature of associated fees and the related revenue recognition models are substantially the same.
The following table presents the Company’s revenue disaggregated by primary geographical location:
Years Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

United States
Canada

2020

$

338,190
56,916

$

458,605

Rest of world

199,011
29,871

$

256,956

63,499

Total revenue

2019

$

$

105,356
12,501

$

126,567

28,074

8,710

Revenue is attributed to the country in which the customer is located.
The following table summarizes the Company’s long-lived assets based on geography, which consist of property and equipment, net and operating lease right-of-use assets:
December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

United States

$

2020
7,523

$

8,633

United Kingdom
Philippines

2,229
1,928

441
2,795

Nicaragua
Rest of world

2,534
337

3,049
362

$

Total long-lived assets
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15,280
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17.

Leases

The Company leases office space in all of its locations under non-cancelable operating leases with various expiration dates through 2024. Tenant improvement allowance
received for the leases in place as of December 31, 2021 totaled $1.8 million, which were received in cash in a prior period. There were no new tenant improvement
allowances received during the year ended December 31, 2021.
The components of lease expense, lease term, and discount rate for operating leases were as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2021
Operating lease expense (in thousands)
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)

$

2020

2019

3,824
$
2.2

3,202
$
2.6

5.0 %

5.8 %

Weighted-average discount rate

2,594
3.0
6.2 %

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2021

(in thousands)

Cash payments, net of receipts, included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities –
operating cash flows

$

2020
3,538

$

2019
3,315

$

2,927

$

3,501
1,565

The following table represents the maturity of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands):
Year Ending December 31,
2022
2023
2024
2025

1,375
—

2026 and Thereafter

—

Total lease payments
Less: Imputed interest

6,441
(294)
$

Present value of operating lease liabilities
18.

6,147

Subsequent Events

Increase of Authorized Shares Reserved for Issuance under Equity Plan
In January 2022, there was an increase in the shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan, in accordance with the 5% automatic increase provision, effective January 1,
2022.
In January 2022,there was an increase in the shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 ESPP Plan, in accordance with the 1% automatic increase provision, effective
January 1, 2022.
New Lease Agreements:
During the first quarter of 2022, the Company amended certain of its existing lease agreements to accommodate additional space needed for its workforce, as a result of the
Company’s continued growth, as well as entering into a new multi-year lease agreement in Ireland. Remitly, Inc. is listed as a guarantor for the lease agreement entered into
in Ireland. These leases commenced, or will commence, in various months during 2022 and expire between 2023 and 2025. Total incremental estimated cash payments that
will be made over the course of these lease agreements total approximately $4 million.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance
that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s
management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Based on such evaluation, and in consideration of the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described below, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at
the reasonable assurance level. In light of this fact, our management has performed additional analyses, reconciliations, and other post-closing procedures and has concluded
that, notwithstanding the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, the audited consolidated financial statements for the periods covered by and
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly state, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in
conformity with GAAP.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In the course of preparing our financial statements, our management has determined that we have material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. A
material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
The material weaknesses are as follows: We did not design and maintain effective controls over certain information technology (“IT”) general controls for information
systems that are relevant to the preparation of our financial statements. Specifically, we did not design and maintain: (1) program change management controls for certain
financial systems to ensure that IT program and data changes affecting financial IT applications and underlying accounting records are identified, tested, authorized and
implemented appropriately; and (2) user access controls to ensure appropriate segregation of duties and that adequately restrict user and privileged access to certain financial
systems, programs, and data to appropriate Company personnel.
This material weakness contributed to the following additional material weakness: we did not design and maintain effective controls over segregation of duties in journal
entries. More specifically, certain personnel had the ability to prepare and post journal entries without an independent review performed by someone without this ability.
These material weaknesses did not result in a misstatement to the consolidated financial statement periods covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. However, the
material weakness described above, individually and aggregated, could impact the effectiveness of IT-dependent controls (such as automated controls that address the risk of
material misstatement to one or more assertions, along with IT controls and underlying data that support the effectiveness of system-generated data and reports) that could
result in misstatements potentially impacting all financial statement accounts and disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim
consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected.
As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K these remain material weaknesses and we are in the process of remediating them. In order to remediate these material
weaknesses, we have taken and plan to take the following actions:
•

Developing enhanced risk assessment procedures and monitoring controls related to changes in the financial reporting system.

•

Implementing comprehensive access control protocols to implement restrictions on user and privileged access to the affected financial reporting system.

•

Implementing controls to review and monitor user access.

•

Establishing additional controls over the preparation and review of journal entries.

We have concluded that these material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting occurred because, prior to the effectiveness of our initial public offering,
we were a private company and did not have the necessary business processes and related internal controls necessary to satisfy the accounting and financial reporting
requirements of a public company.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Except for the remediation efforts noted above, there were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31,
2021 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of our
independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by the rules of the SEC for newly public companies.
Item 9B. Other Information
None.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections
Not applicable.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by Item 10 with respect to executive officers will be set forth in our definitive proxy statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders,
which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days of the Company’s fiscal year-ended December 31, 2021 (the "Proxy Statement").
Information required by Item 10 for matters other than executive officers is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.
Code of Business Conduct
Our Board of Directors adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our employees, officers, including our Chief Executive Officer and principal
financial and accounting officer, or persons performing similar functions and agents and representatives, including directors and consultants. The full text of our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at ir.remitly.com. We intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of our Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics, or waivers of such provisions applicable to any Chief Executive Officer and principal financial and accounting officer, or persons performing similar functions, and
our directors, on our website identified above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by Item 11 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholders Matters
The information required by Item 12 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by Item 13 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required by Item 14 will be set forth in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) (1) The Consolidated Financial Statements and related documents set forth in "Item 8. Financial Statements" are filed as part of this report.
(a) (2) All other schedules to the Consolidated Financial Statements required by Regulation S-X are omitted because they are not applicable, not material or because the
information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this report.
(a) (3) Exhibits.
The documents set forth below are filed herewith or are incorporated herein by reference to the location indicated.
(a) Financial Statement Schedules.
All schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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Exhibit Index
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number
3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10

21.1
23.1
24.1
31.1
31.2
32.1*

Filed
Herewith

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
Restated Bylaws
Form of Common Stock Certificate
Seventh Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement dated August 3,
2020
Description of Common Stock Registered Under Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Registrant and each of
its directors and executive officers
2011 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forms of equity agreements
thereunder
2021 Equity Incentive Plan, and forms of award agreements thereunder
2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and forms of subscription agreement
thereunder
Forms of Change in Control and Severance Agreement for executive officers
Amended and Restated Offer Letter, effective as of September 13, 2021 by and
between the Registrant and Matthew Oppenheimer
Amended and Restated Offer Letter, effective as of September 13, 2021 by and
between the Registrant and Joshua Hug
Amended and Restated Offer Letter, effective as of September 13, 2021 by and
between the Registrant and Susanna Morgan
Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of September 13, 2021,
among Remitly Global, Inc. and Remitly, Inc., the guarantors party thereto, the
lenders and issuing banks party thereto and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of November 16, 2020, by
and among the Registrant, Remitly, Inc., Silicon Valley Bank and other banks
and financial institutions party thereto, including the Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement (amended through November 16, 2020) in Annex A
List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public
accounting firm
Power of Attorney (included in the signature page to the Annual Report on
Form 10-K)
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

10-Q
10-Q
S-1/A
S-1

001-40822
001-40822
333-259167
333-259167

3.3
3.4
4.1
4.2

November 12, 2021
November 12, 2021
September 14, 2021
August 30, 2021

S-1

333-259167

3.4

August 30, 2021

S-1

333-259167

10.3

August 30, 2021

S-1/A
S-1/A

333-259167
333-259167

10.4
10.5

September 14, 2021
September 14, 2021

S-1/A
S-1/A

333-259167
333-259167

10.6
10.7

September 14, 2021
September 14, 2021

S-1/A

333-259167

10.8

September 14, 2021

S-1/A

333-259167

10.9

September 14, 2021

S-1/A

333-259167

10.10

September 14, 2021

S-1

333-259167

10.2

August 30, 2021

x

x
x
x
x
x
x

Table of Contents

32.2*

101.SCH
101.CAL

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the
Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document).
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB
101.PRE

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

101.INS

104

x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in
Exhibit 101).

x

* The certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Form 10-K and are not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the
Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

Remitly Global Inc.
Date:

March 29, 2022

By:

/s/ Matthew Oppenheimer
Matthew Oppenheimer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date:

March 29, 2022

By:

/s/ Susanna Morgan
Susanna Morgan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
We, the undersigned officers and directors of Remitly Global, Inc., hereby severally and individually constitute and appoint Matthew Oppenheimer and Susanna Morgan,
jointly and severally, the true and lawful attorney and agent of each of us to execute in the name, place and stead of each of us (individually and in any capacity stated
below) any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and all instruments necessary or advisable in connection therewith and to file the same with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, each of said attorney and agent to have the power to act with or without the others and to have full power and authority to do and
perform in the name and on behalf of each of the undersigned every act whatsoever necessary or advisable to be done in the premises as fully and to all intents and purposes
as any of the undersigned might or could do in person, and we hereby ratify and confirm our signatures as they may be signed by our said attorney and agent or each of them
to any and all such amendments and instruments.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ Matthew Oppenheimer

/s/ Susanna Morgan

Matthew Oppenheimer, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Susanna Morgan, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: March 29, 2022

Date: March 29, 2022

/s/ Bora Chung

/s/ Joshua Hug

Bora Chung, Director
Date: March 29, 2022

Joshua Hug, Director
Date: March 29, 2022

/s/ Margaret M. Smyth

/s/ Laurent Le Moal

Margaret M. Smyth, Director
Date: March 29, 2022

Laurent Le Moal, Director
Date: March 29, 2022

/s/ Charles Stonecipher
Charles Stonecipher, Director

/s/ Ron Shah
Ron Shah, Director

Date: March 29, 2022

Date: March 29, 2022

/s/ Phillip Riese

/s/ Nigel Morris

Phillip Riese, Director
Date: March 29, 2022

Nigel Morris, Director
Date: March 29, 2022

/s/ William Bryant
William Bryant, Director
Date: March 29, 2022
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Exhibit 4.3
REMITLY GLOBAL, INC.
DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of December 31, 2021, Remitly Global, Inc. (“Remitly,” “we” or “our”) had one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934: our common stock.
The following summary of the terms of our common stock is based upon our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, our Restated Bylaws,
and applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”). The summary is not complete, and is qualified by reference to our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and our Restated Bylaws, which are filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are
incorporated by reference herein. We encourage you to read our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, our Restated Bylaws, and the
applicable provisions of the DGCL for additional information.
Capitalization
Our authorized capital stock consists of 775,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of two classes: 725,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.0001
par value per share, and 50,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share.
Common Stock
Dividend Rights
Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of our common stock are entitled to receive
dividends out of funds legally available if our board of directors, in its discretion, determines to issue dividends and then only at the times and in the
amounts that our board of directors may determine.
Voting Rights
Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. We have
not provided for cumulative voting for the election of directors in our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Accordingly, the holders of a
majority of the shares of our common stock will be able to elect all of our directors. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation establishes a
classified board of directors, divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. Only one class of directors will be elected at each annual meeting of
our stockholders, with the other classes continuing for the remainder of their respective three-year terms.
No Preemptive or Similar Rights
Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights, and is not subject to redemption or sinking fund provisions.
Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions
Upon our liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be distributable ratably among
the holders of our common stock, subject to prior satisfaction of all outstanding debt and liabilities and the preferential rights of and the payment of
liquidation preferences, if any, on any outstanding shares of preferred stock.
Preferred Stock
No shares of preferred stock are currently outstanding. Our board of directors is authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by Delaware law, to issue
preferred stock in one or more series, to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each series, and to fix the designation, powers,
preferences, and rights of the shares of each series and any of its qualifications, limitations, or restrictions, in each case without further vote or action by our
stockholders. Our board of directors can also increase or decrease the number of shares of any series of preferred stock, but not below the number of shares
of that series then outstanding, without any further vote or action by our stockholders. Our board of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock
with voting or

conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of our common stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while
providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of delaying,
deferring, or preventing a change in our control and might adversely affect the market price of our common stock and the voting and other rights of the
holders of our common stock.
Anti-Takeover Provisions
The provisions of the DGCL, various state money transmitter laws to which we are subject, our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation,
and our Restated Bylaws could have the effect of delaying, deferring, or discouraging another person from acquiring control of our company. These
provisions, which are summarized below, may discourage certain types of coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids.
Delaware Law
We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL regulating corporate takeovers. In general, Section 203 of the DGCL prohibits a publicly
held Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a three-year period following the time that this
stockholder becomes an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner. Under Section 203 of the DGCL, a
business combination between a corporation and an interested stockholder is prohibited unless it satisfies one of the following conditions:
•

before the stockholder became interested, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

•

upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at
least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the
voting stock outstanding, shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers, and employee stock plans in some instances, but not the
outstanding voting stock owned by the interested stockholder; or

•

at or after the time the stockholder became interested, the business combination was approved by our board and authorized at an annual or special
meeting of the stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested
stockholder.

Section 203 of the DGCL defines a business combination to include:
•

any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;

•

any sale, transfer, lease, pledge, or other disposition involving the interested stockholder of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation;

•

subject to exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance of transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the interested
stockholder;

•

subject to exceptions, any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock of any class or
series of the corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; and

•

the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits provided by or
through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 of the DGCL defines an interested stockholder as any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding
voting stock of the corporation and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by the entity or person.
Money Transmitter Licensing Statutes
Acquisitions of our capital stock above certain thresholds will be subject to prior regulatory notice or approval under state money transmitter licensing
laws. While state statutes governing money transmitters vary, most require investors to receive the approval of, or provide notice to, the relevant licensing
authority before exceeding a certain ownership threshold, including indirect ownership, in a licensed money transmitter. These ownership thresholds vary
by state, with the lowest being at 10% of voting or non-voting shares outstanding. Accordingly, current or prospective investors seeking to acquire 10% or
greater ownership of our stock in the aggregate would need to first obtain such regulatory approvals and provide such notices to the relevant regulators.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaw Provisions
Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and our Restated Bylaws include a number of provisions that may have the effect of deterring
hostile takeovers, or delaying or preventing changes in control of our management team or changes in our board of directors or our governance or policy,
including the following:
•

Board Vacancies. Our Restated Bylaws and Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorize generally only our board of directors to
fill vacant directorships resulting from any cause or created by the expansion of our board of directors. In addition, the number of directors
constituting our board of directors may be set only by resolution adopted by a majority vote of our entire board of directors. These provisions
prevent a stockholder from increasing the size of our board of directors and gaining control of our board of directors by filling the resulting
vacancies with its own nominees.

•

Classified Board. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws provide that our board of directors is classified
into three classes of directors. The existence of a classified board of directors could delay a successful tender offeror from obtaining majority
control of our board of directors, and the prospect of that delay might deter a potential offeror.

•

Directors Removed Only for Cause. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that stockholders may remove directors
only for cause.

•

Supermajority Requirements for Amendments of Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws. Our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation further provides that the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of our outstanding
common stock is required to amend certain provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, including provisions relating to
the classified board, the size of our board of directors, removal of directors, special meetings, actions by written consent, and designation of our
preferred stock. The affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of our outstanding common stock is required to amend or repeal our Restated
Bylaws, although our Restated Bylaws may be amended by a simple majority vote of our board of directors.

•

Stockholder Action; Special Meetings of Stockholders. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that our stockholders
may not take action by written consent, but may only take action at annual or special meetings of our stockholders. As a result, holders of our
capital stock would not be able to amend our Restated Bylaws or remove directors without holding a meeting of our stockholders called in
accordance with our Restated Bylaws. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and our Restated Bylaws provide that special
meetings of our stockholders may be called only by a majority of our board of directors, the chairman of our board of directors, or our Chief
Executive Officer, thus prohibiting a stockholder from calling a special meeting. These provisions might delay the ability of our stockholders to
force consideration of a proposal or for stockholders to take any action, including the removal of directors.

•

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations. Our Restated Bylaws provides advance notice
procedures for stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors
at our annual meeting of stockholders. Our Restated Bylaws also specify certain requirements regarding the form and content of a stockholder’s
notice. These provisions may preclude our stockholders from bringing matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or from making
nominations for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders. We expect that these provisions might also discourage or deter a potential
acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our
company.

•

No Cumulative Voting. The DGCL provides that stockholders are not entitled to the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless a
corporation’s certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated bylaws do not
provide for cumulative voting.

•

Issuance of Undesignated Preferred Stock. Our board of directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue up to
500,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock with rights and preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to time by our board of
directors. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock enables our board of directors to render more difficult or to
discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest, or otherwise.

•

Choice of Forum. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a
breach of fiduciary duty; any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the DGCL, our Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, or our Restated Bylaws; or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Our Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation also provides that the federal district courts of the United States is the exclusive forum for resolving any
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (such act, the “Securities Act” and such provision, the
“Federal Forum Provision”). While there can be no assurance that federal or state courts will follow the holding of the Delaware Supreme Court
which recently found that such provisions are facially valid under Delaware law or determine that the Federal Forum Provision should be enforced
in a particular case, application of the Federal Forum Provision means that suits brought by our stockholders to enforce any duty or liability
created by the Securities Act must be brought in federal court and cannot be brought in state court. Section 27 of the Securities and Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all claims brought to enforce any duty or liability created by
the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, and the Federal Forum Provision will, to the fullest extent permitted by law, apply to
suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act. Accordingly, actions by our stockholders to enforce any duty or liability
created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder also must be brought in federal court, to the fullest extent permitted by law.
Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and
consented to our exclusive forum provisions, including the Federal Forum Provision. These provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a
claim in a judicial forum of their choosing for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits
against us and our directors, officers, and other employees.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.
Exchange Listing
Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “RELY.”

Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiary of Remitly Global, Inc.
Name of Subsidiary
Remitly, Inc.
Remitly Canada, Inc.
Remitly Europe Limited

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
United States - DE
Canada
Ireland

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-259737 and 333-259738) of Remitly Global, Inc.
of our report dated March 29, 2022 relating to the financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Seattle, Washington
March 29, 2022

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Matthew Oppenheimer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Remitly Global, Inc.;
2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
Date: March 29, 2022
/s/ Matthew Oppenheimer
Matthew Oppenheimer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Susanna Morgan, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Remitly Global, Inc.;
2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
c)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
Date: March 29, 2022
/s/ Susanna Morgan
Susanna Morgan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Matthew Oppenheimer, Chief Executive Officer of Remitly Global, Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
•

the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

•

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company
for the periods presented therein.
Date: March 29, 2022
/s/ Matthew Oppenheimer
Matthew Oppenheimer
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Susanna Morgan, Chief Financial Officer of Remitly Global, Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
•

the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

•

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company
for the periods presented therein.
Date: March 29, 2022
/s/ Susanna Morgan
Susanna Morgan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

